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MEMORANDA RESPECTING APPEALS FROM JUDGMENTS OF

)
-

10.

11.
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13.

THE EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA

A. To the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council:

. Birtwistle Trust, Peter v. Minister of National Revenue. (1938)

Ex. CR. 95. Appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada allowed.
Leave to appeal to the Privy Council granted. Appeal allowed.

. King, The v. Canada Rice Mills Ltd. (1938) Ex. CR. 257.

Appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada dismissed. Leave to
appeal to the Privy Council granted. Appeal dismissed.

. Pioneer Laundry & Dry Cleaners Ltd. v. Minister of National

Revenue. (1938) Ex. C.R. 18. Appeal to the Supreme Court of
Canada dismissed. Leave to appeal to the Privy Council granted.
Appeal allowed.

" B. To the Supreme Court of Canada:

. Air Reduction Co. Inc. v. Commissioner of Patents. (1939) Ex.

C.R. 65. Appeal dismissed.

. Applegate, William E. v. Minister of National Revenue. (1938)

Ex. CR. 235: Appeal allowed.

. Canadian Shredded Wheat Co. Lid. v. Kellogg Co. of Canada

Litd. (1939) Ex. CR. 58. Appeal dismissed.

Coca-Cola Co. of Canada Ltd. v. Pepsi-Cola Co. of Canada Ltd.
(1938) Ex. C.R. 263. Appeal allowed.

. Discount & Loan Corpn. of Canada v. Superintendent of Insurance

for Canada. (1938) Ex. C.R. 194. Appeal dismissed.

. Dominion Bridge Co. Ltd. v. The King. (1939) Ex. C.R. 235.

Appeal pending.

. Dominion Tankers Ltd. v. Shell Petroleum Co. of Canceda Lid.

(1939) Ex. CR. 192. Appeal pending.

. Dr. Brinkley II v. Shanalian et al. (1939) Ex. C.R. 181. Appeal

pending,

. Eastern Canada Steel & Iron Works Ltd. v. The King. (1939)

Ex. CR. 244. Appeal pending.

James B. Eads v. Joseph P. Burke. (1939) Ex. C.R. 289. Appeal
pending.

King, The v. Imperial Tobacco Co. of Canada Ltd. (1938)
Ex. CR. 177. Appeal dismissed; cross-appeal allowed.
Lafayette et al. v. Maple Leaf Milling Co. et al. (1939) Ex. CR.
368, Appeal pending.

Lafayette et al. v. Port Colborne & St. Lawrence Nawvigation Co.
Ltd. (1939) Ex. C.R. 355. Appeal pending.
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Magazine Repeating Razor Co. of Canada Lid. et al. v. Schick
Shaver Ltd. (1939) Ex. C.R. 108. Appeal pending.

Massey’s Executors, Walter E. H. v. Minister of National Revenue.
(1939) Ex. C.R. 4. Appeal dismissed.

Morrison, George Alexander v. The King. (1938) Ex. C.R. 311.
Appeal pendmg

National Elec. Products Corpn v. Industrial Elec. Products. Ltd.

(1939) Ex. C.R. 282. Appeal pending,

Niagara Wire Weaving Co. Ltd. v. Johnson Wire Worlcs Ltd.
(1939) Ex. C.R. 259. Appeal pending. ‘

.Quebec Central Ry. Co. v. The King. (1938) Ex. C.R. 82. Appeal

dismissed.

Riedle Brewery Ltd. v. Minister of National Revenue. (1939)
Ex. C.R. 314. Appeal allowed.

Salmo Imvestments Ltd. v. The King. (1939) Ex. CR. 228.
Appeal allowed.

Samson-United of Canada Ltd. et al. v. Canadian Tzre Corpn.
Lid. (1939) Ex. C.R. 277. Appeal pending.

Shaw, Bessie L. v. Minister of National Revenue. (1939) Ex. C.R.
35. Appeal allowed.

Smit & Sons Inc., J. K. v. McClintock, Richard 8. (1939) Ex. CR.
121. Appeal allowed.

Snyder, Clarence E. v. Minister of National Revenue. (1938)
Ex. C.R. 235. Appeal allowed.

Sykes, William John v. The King. (1939) Ex. CR. 77." Appeal
dismissed.

Underwriters Survey Bureau Ltd. et al. v. Massie & Renwick Ltd.
(1938) Ex. C.R. 103. Appeal allowed in part.
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CASES
DETERMINED BY THE
EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA
AT FIRST INSTANCE

. AND
IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS APPELLATE
JURISDICTION

BETWEEN: 1o37
HIS MAJESTY THE KING, on the) : Sept. 21.
Information of the Attorney-General ) PrAiNTIFF; 1938

of Canada ........ e . Aug. 15,
AND ) —

LEON L. PLOTKINS, ecarrying on
business under the firm name and
style of LION REFINING COM-
PANY and said LION REFINING ( DEFENDANTS.
COMPANY and LION OILS LIM-
ITED .........

Revenue—Sales tax—=Special War Revenue Act, RS.C. 1927, c. 179,
s. 85(a), 8. 86, ss. 1(a & b)—* Manufacturer Independent trad-
ing units—Parinership and limited company—Liability for tax.

Defendant Plotkins is the sole owner of Lion Refining Company, a part-
nership engaged in the business of manufacturing petroleum products.
Lion Oils Limited is engaged in the marketing and distribution of
petroleum products and other articles. Approximately sixty per cent
of the business of Ldon Oils Limited consists of selling petroleum
products manufactured by and purchased ‘from Lion Refining Com-~
pany. Iis business is carried on on premises owned by Lion Refining
Company. The aceounting and clerical work of both concerns are
carried on by the staff of Lion Oils Limited in whose name a banking
account is maintained into which are deposited the receipts of both
concerns from all sources. The business transactions of each are kept
distinet and in separate books. The salaries and wages of officers and
employees of both concerns and all bills payable by Lion Refining
Company are paid through the common banking account. Lion
Refining Company sells to Lion Oils Limited and also to others,
The goods are invoiced in the name of Lion Oils Limited. The two
concerns share profit and loss in the proportion of $5,700, the paid
up capital of Lion Oils Limited, to $20,000, the amount of Plotkins’
original investment in Lion Refining Company.

The action is one to recover sales tax assessed upon the selling price of
Lion Oils Limited. The Crown alleges that both concerns are to
be treated as one business, or, in the alternative, that Lion Refining
Company was the agent of Llon Oils Limited and that the sales to
it by Lion Refining Company were fictitious and illusory and made

with the intent of avoiding payment of the sales tax properly pay-
able.

T1355—1a
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1938 Held: That the Lion Refining Company and Lion Oils Limitéd are
TH‘;‘EING independent trading units, and Lion Refining Company is the manu-
. facturer of the petroleum products disposed of and is Hable for the
Lron L. sales tax.
ProrrIins

BT AL, INFORMATION exhibited by the Attorney-General of
MacleanJ. Canada to recover from defendants sales tax alleged due
" the Crown under the provisions of the Special War Rev-
enue Act, R.S.C, 1927, ¢. 179, and amendments thereto.
The action was tried before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Calgary, Alberta.

H., 8. Patterson, K.C. and A. W. Hobbs for appellant. —
C. J. Ford, K.C. and J. R. Tolmie for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

TEB PresmENT, now (August 15, 1938) dehvered the
following judgment:

This is an Information to recover from Leon L. Plotkins,
who carries on the business of manufacturing gasoline,
kerosene, tractor fuels, and other petroleum products, under
the firm name and style of Lion Refining Company ' (here-
after to be referred to as “ the Refinery ), the sum of
$3,873.33, as sales tax, under the Special War Revenue
Act, or, in the alternative, to recover from the defendant,
Lion Qils Ld. (hereafter to be referred to as “Oils Ld.”),
the business of which is to a considerable extent concerned
with the sale of oil products manufactured by the Refinery,
the sum of $3,284.83, and from the Refinery the sum of
$588.50, as sales tax.

There are two taxation periods covered by the plain-
tiff’s claim; first, that from September 1, 1932, to August
31, 1933. With this period the Refinery is alone concerned
for Oils Ld. had not commenced business operations until |
February, 1934, and the amount claimed for this period
is $588.50. 'The second period runs from August 31, 1933,
to December 31, 1935. In this period the assessment was
made against the Refinery on the basis of the sale prices
of Oils Ld., for goods sold to it by the Refinery, and not
on the sale prices-of the Refinery. It is the contention of
the plaintiff, in respect of the second taxation period, that
both concerns are to be treated as one business and that
the sales made by Oils Ld. were sales of the Refinery and
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that the latter is liable for the sales tax in respect of the
said sales, or, in the alternative, that the Refinery was but
the instrument or agent of Oils Ld.; that the operations of
the former were in fact the operations of the latter, and
that the alleged sales made by the Refinery to Oils Ld.
were fictitious and illusory and made with intent to evade
payment of the amount of the sales tax properly payable,
and that the sales of Oils Ld. to the trade and to con-
sumers are assessable for the sales tax. In the further
alternative it is pleaded that if the defendants were not
associated or related as principal and agent, they were,
nevertheless, interrelated or associated in their said business
as is contemplated by a certain regulation governing the
computation of sales tax, made and issued under the pro-
visions of the Special War Revenue Act, and under which
regulation it is prescribed that in such cases the price at
which the goods are regularly sold to bona fide independent
wholesalers by either of them, in the ordinary course of
business, shall be the value upon which the tax is payable.
The provisions of the Special War Revenue Act of par-
ticular interest here are s. 85 (a), s. 86, subs, 1 (a) and
subs. 1 (b). Sec. 85 (a) defines “sale price” as follows:
85 (a) “sale price” for the purpose of caleulating the amount of
the consumption or sales tax, shall mean the price before any amount
payable in respect of the consumption or sales tax is added thereto,
and shall include the amount of other excise duties when the goods are
sold in bond; and in the case of goods subject to the taxes imposed by
Parts X and XII of this Act, shall include the amount of such taxes;
in the case of imported goods the sale price shall be deemed to be the
duty paid wvalue thereof,
By s. 86, subs. 1 (a) the sales tax is imposed “on the sale
price of all goods, produced or manufactured in Canada,
payable by the producer or manufacturer at the time of the
delivery of such goods to the purchaser thereof.” Subs.
1 (b) also imposes the sales tax “on the sale price of all
goods, imported into Canada, payable by the importer or
transferee who takes the goods out of bond for consump-
tion at the time when the goods are imported or taken out
of warehouse for consumption.” The above provision of
the Act is of importance here because it appears that
several importations of goods were made by the Refinery
either on its own account, or on behalf of Qils Ld., and
upon the duty paid value of such. importations the sales
tax was paid by the Refinery. ' The plaintiff also invokes

71355—14a

1938

[

THE KING

LEON L.
ProrgINs
ET AL.

Maclean J.
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\13?__8 a regulation which states: “In cases where vendor and
Tm:Kme purchager are interrelated, associated, or affiliated con-
Legs I, Cerns, or where one is subsidiary to the other, the price
PLOTKINS at which the goods are regularly sold to bona fide inde-
pendent wholesalers by either of them, in the ordinary
course of business, shall be the value upon which the tax
is payable.” The validity of this regulation is, I think,
subject to grave doubt, but it will not be necessary, upon
the facts disclosed here, to consider it in determining the
issues in dispute.

The facts concerning the business relations of Plotking
and Oils Ld. are of importance in respect of the second
taxation period and it is desirable that they be stated
rather fully. Plotkins, in 1932, commenced the business
of manufacturing petroleum products under the registered
firm name of Lion Refining Company, at or near Calgary,
Alberta, and he has since been the sole owner of that
business. In 1933 Oils Ld. was incorporated, with a capital
of $20,000, the shares being of the par value of $50 each,
and shares aggregating the value of $5,700 have been sold
and issued, the shareholders numbering eighteen. Plot-
kins is the holder of but one share in Oils Ld., a qualify-
ing share issued to him at the time of the incorporation
of Oils Ld. It is estimated that about sixty per cent of
the business of Oils Ld. had its origin in selling to the
trade and consumers, petroleum products manufactured by
and purchased from the Refinery, and about forty per cent
from the sale of such articles as standard gasoline, ethyl
gasoline, kerosene distillates, greases, tires and automobile
accessories, purchased from other refiners and distributors,
and which articles the Refinery did not produce. Oils Ld.
owns and operates five or six filling stations in Calgary
and Edmonton, Alberta, and is the owner of motor trucks,
tanks, pumps and distributing equipment, that is, outside
of any office equipment. The Refinery owns certain equip-
ment and oil lands in the State of Montana, U.S.A., besides
its refining plant, storage tanks, buildings, etec., in Calgary,
the total invested capital now being about $75,000.

Plotkins stated that Oils Ld. was formed originally at
his instance for the purpose of marketing the products of
the Refinery. Later, he subscribed and paid for seventy
shares in that company, in addition, I think, to his qualify-

Maclean J.
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ing share. At some stage, Plotkins entered into negotia-

1938

[

tions with one, Beauchemin, and associates, whereby the TreKme

latter were to undertake to purchase one-half of the author-
ized capital shares of Oils Ld. and Plotkins was to sub-
scribe for and purchase the remaining half of such shares.
However, in the end, Beauchemin and his associates were
able only to purchase shares amounting in par value to
$5,700, which is the paid up capital of Oils Ld. to-day, dis-
tributed among eighteen different shareholders. The orig-
inal proposal was that Beauchemin and his associates were

to invest $10,000 in Oils Ld. and Plotkins an equal amount; -

and Beauchemin and his associates were also to invest
$10,000 in the Refinery. The idea was that each would
have the same amount of capital in the Refinery and in
Oils Ld., but this scheme failed to materialize. Then,
there came a time when Plotkins disposed of his share
holdings in Oils Ld. because, it was stated, Beauchemin
and his associates did not wish the control of Oils Ld. to
be in the hands of Plotkins; the retention of Plotking’
qualifying share in the corporation was owing, it was said,
to an oversight in not selling the same, or in not trans-
ferring back the same to Oils Ld., I do not know which.
Plotkins was, however, appointed manager of Oils Ld.
some time after it commenced business, exactly when is
not clear.

The business of Oils Ld. is carried on upon the premises
of the Refinery, for which, it was said, an allowance by
way of rent is made in calculating the administrative
expenses of Oils Ld. The accounting and clerical work
of both concerns is carried on by the staff of Oils Ld., but
whether or not an allowance is made Oils Ld. for such
services was not, so far as I recall, explained. The only
banking account is in the name of Oils Ld., and into this
account the receipts of both concerns from all sources are
deposited, but the business transactions of each concern
are kept entirely distinet and in separate books. The
salaries and wages of officers and employees of both con-
cerns, including the salaries of Plotkins as manager of both
Oils Ld. and the Refinery, and all bills payable by the
Refinery, upon the proper voucher and order of the Refin-
ery, are paid through this banking account—the Refinery
being credited or debited with receipts and payments in

.
Leox L.
Prorrins
ET AL.

Maclean J.
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1938 the books of Oils Ld., as the case may be. The Refinery .

THE‘,'VEING employs some fifteen or twenty people exclusively for its
Leonl, Own operations. All goods sold and delivered by the
Prorkins Refinery to Oils Ld. are duly invoiced to the latter, and
T it would appear that a settlement is made on annual
MacleanJ. hglances of all debit and credit transactions as between
the two concerns, although that is not quite clear from
the evidence. Where goods are sold by the Refinery to
customers other than Oils Ld., the same are invoiced in
the name of Oils Ld:., and at prices identical with prices
charged Oils Ld. by the Refinery. At times, the Refinery
imported or purchased from producers in the domestic
market, for the account of Oils Ld., certain goods which
it could not supply, and which importations or purchases
were delivered over to Oils Ld. at cost, together with the
cost of freight and handling. The Refinery and Oils Ld.
have a profit and loss sharing arrangement in the propor-
tion of $5,700, the paid up capital of Oils Ld., to $20,000,
the amount of Plotking’ original capital investment in the
Refinery, as I understand it; the division of profits and
losses on this basis is made at the end of each year. It
was upon the book entries of sales made to the trade and
consumers by Oils Ld., and not upon the selling prices
from the Refinery to Oils Ld., that the assessments for the

sales tax here in dispute were made.

In February, 1934, the Refinery (as “the Company’’)
and Oils Ld. (as “ the Purchasers”) entered into an agree-
ment to run for the period of five years, with an option
to Oils Ld. to renew the same upon the same terms for a
further period of five years, and some of the terms of that
agreement perhaps should be mentioned; paragraphs 1, 2,
3,4, 5, 8 9 and 11 of the agreement are as follows:

1. The Company shall sel and deliver to the Purchasers and the
Purchasers shall purchase and receive of and from the Company the

whole of the output of the Company, including gasoline, kerosene, dis-
tillate, Gas Oil, Fuel Oils and all other products of any nature.

2. Notwithstanding anything hereinafter mentiored the Purchaser
shall purchase exclusively from the Company all products that the
Company are ready, willing, and able to supply at price calculated in
accordance with Paragraph 8 hereof and are required by the purchaser.

3. All products supplied by the Company to the purchaser under this
agreement shall be made according to specifications mutually agreed upon.

4, The purchaser covenants and agrees that the minimum quantity
of products to be accepted by it under the terms of this agreement shall
not be less than forty thousand (40,000) gallons during each of the months
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of November, December, January and February in every year during the 1938
. . . v

currency of this agreement and eighty-five t_housand (85,000) gallons in Trm Kina
every month of the year not heretofore mentioned. . ) oy

5. The purchaser covenants and agrees that the minimum quantity TLgow L.
set out in clause four (4) hereof shall be increased in every month of Prorxins
cach successive year by an amount equivalent to twenty-five (25) per ET AL.
centum of the monthly gallonage agreed to be accepted in each preceding Maclean J,

year, . )
8. The prices of various products supplied to the purchasers under this

agreement shall be based on the actual cost to the company plus one cent
(lc) per gallon. The termms of payment shall be cash on receipt of

invoice from the Company.
9. The purchasers shall be the sole representatives of the company

in regard to the products supplied under this agreement and shall use
every endeavour to advertise and push the sale and solicit business for
products so supplied by the Company.

11. Notwithstanding anything hereinbefore set out the Company shall,
if the purchaser does not accept the minimum quantity agreed to be
accepted in any one month, extend for 60 days the time for acceptance
of such quantity, and have the right to dispose of the difference between
the quantity actually accepted and the quantity agreed to be accepted to
any other purchaser. Any number of gallons in excess of the minimum
quantity as hereinbefore set out, actually accepted in any one month
shall be construed as accepted in any succeeding month during which
the minimum quantity has not been accepted.

The terms of the agreement as to the quantities of goods
to be sold and purchased were not fully carried out during
the period in question, owing in some cases to the inability
of the Refinery to supply the precise goods required by
Oils ILd., and in other cases to the non-acceptance by Oils
Ld. of the stipulated quantities, and which the Refinery
was able to furnish. The provision as to price, cost plus
one cent per gallon, was found to be impractical and was
not adhered to. With those exceptions the spirit of the
agreement was observed by both parties; whether the
agreement is presently an enforceable one is perhaps de-
batable, but in any event I do not think that is of vital
importance. We are here concerned with the actual trans-
actions that took place between the two defendants, the
true character of the sales in question; and which of the
two defendants is taxable upon such sales and the proper
basis of assessment. :

I may at once dispose of the issues in respect of the
first period, and which concern the Refinery alone. There
are just two points for decision in respect of that period.
The Refinery imported from the United States, or pur-
chased from domestic producers or wholesalers, a consider-
able quantity of what is known as “gas oil,” which it
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1988 gold under the name of “ tractor fuel” and sometimes as
TeeKma “gas oil,” without further processing or manufacture, and
Leon . Without any change in the structure of such product. Upon
Phggﬁm such sales the Refinery was assessed as a manufacturer or
" _ producer, upon its selling price, or the selling price of Oils
Ld., and not on the import or purchase price, which assess-
ments, in my opinion, cannot be sustained, and this I think
was conceded. This would be applicable also to the second
period, in so far as the same state of facts pertain thereto.
There was one other point in issue, the sale price of fuel
oil, but that is concluded by the plaintiff agreeing that the
price should be reduced from 5 cents to 3 cents per gallon.
The only point therefore to be determined in this period
is the volume of taxable sales, and unless counsel can agree
upon this there will be a reference to determine the amount
of the taxation payable and due, because I see no way of
doing that myself.

Another point might also be disposed of at this stage.
A dispute arose between the Refinery and the Department
of National Revenue as to whether the mixing of raw
naphtha and gas oil, or raw naphtha and kerosene, con-
stituted & “ manufacture,” and the Department ruled that
it did, and in this I concur. If Oils Ld. engaged in the
same practice—my impression is that it did not—it also
would be a “manufacturer ¥ and liable for the tax. It is
not absolutely clear to me that the ruling of the Depart-
ment was accepted by the Refinery and that the sales tax
was paid on such manufactured goods, but if not then I
find that the Refinery is liable for the tax upon the same,
in the proper amount.

Ma._cl;n J.

The principal question for decision is whether it is
against the selling prices of the Refinery, or those of Oils
Ld., that the tax should be levied, or whether the Refinery
should be assessed upon the selling prices of Oils Ld., and
in fact 1t was the latter that was done. Cases of this type
always contain perplexing features, and they are difficult
to resolve with confidence. The statute imposes the tax
upon the producer or manufacturer. The tax must be
levied against the sales of the producer or manufacturer
unless it be that he is but the agent of another for any
of such purposes, and possibly there may be other excep-
tions. Imposing the tax upon other persons or companies,
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outwardly independent of but working in close co-operation 1938
with the manufacturer or producer, particularly in selling TwsKina
the goods of the latter, is bound to present difficulties,— y %y
first, because the former is not in fact the producer or PLETTTLNB
manufacturer, and secondly, because the selling prices of !
the former will usually include some of the profit custom-
arily exacted by wholesalers and retailers. In such cases
very clear evidence should be required to shift the imposi-
tion of the tax from the producer or manufacturer to an-
other. Sec. 98 provides that where goods are sold, in the
judgment of the Minister, at less than the fair price, and
this means the selling price of the producer or manufac-
turer, the Minister may determine the fair price. That
geems a very suitable and just provision, particularly if
the taxpayer has the right of appeal therefrom. This pro-
vision of the statute would seem to contain all the machin-
ery necessary for settling all disputes of the nature in
question here, which usually is but the contention that the
producer or manufacturer has sold his goods at an unfair
price, which he seeks to conceal by some subterfuge or
another; that is always the question at stake in such cases
—largely a question of fact. '

I was referred to the Palmolive case (1), but I do not
think the facts there are similar to the facts of this case. *
There, it was held that the manufacturing company was
merely the agent of the selling company and subject in all
things to the direction and control of the latter, and that
the operations of the former were the operations of the
latter, and there was some evidence to support that finding.

I do not think it is possible to say that in the case under
consideration the Refinery was the manufacturing agent of
Oils Ld., but it might be argued that Oils Ld. was merely
the selling agent of the Refinery, and in fact that is one
of the contentions here made by the plaintiff, It seems to
me that the Refinery and Oils Ld. must be held to be inde-
pendent trading units, and the agreement and the facts
concerning their several activities, I think, support that
conclusion. Their business relations were of course inti-
mate and probably so designed for their mutual advantage,
but that does not of itself constitute them a single business
enterprise for the purposes of the tax, or otherwise. That

Maaje;n J.

(1) (1933) SCR. 131,
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1988 requires a state of facts that indubitably points to a business
TreKine arrangement made to evade the tax, or, that one so dom-
Loow L. inated and controlled the business of the other that one
PL::TLNS is obliged to say that the existence of that other was
—— _apparent only and not real; I do not think that can be
MacleanJ. 5pid here. The division of profits and losses on the basis
of capital employed by each is a suspicious and unusual
circumstance, but that circumstance after all does not go
to the question as to which concern was in fact the manu-
facturer or producer, or to the question of the proper sales
price. The Refinery, it is perfectly clear, was the manu-
facturing concern, and it sold its goods to Oils Ld. which
was to sell the same to the trade and consumers, generally
at an advanced price which would not be improper. Neither
can I see how it can be said that the Refinery was but the
agent of Oils Ld., in manufacturing the goods in question.
I think, however unusual the practice of the defendants
dividing their respective profits and losses, each was an
independent trading unit, and each acted on its own behalf.
The facts disclosed concerning their several business activi-
ties, I think, support such a conclusion. I therefore am of
the opinion that, upon all the facts disclosed, it cannot be
said that the Refinery was not the manufacturer or pro-
ducer of the goods in question, or that it was the mere
agent of Oils Ld., or that Oils Ld. is not an independent

trading unit.

I turn now to the question of the sale prices of the goods
in question, by the Refinery, because that is still a matter
of importance. There was put in evidence by the Refinery
a tabulated statement showing a list of the various named
products which it sold to Oils Ld. and the prices charged
therefore respectively, and the prices at which such sales
were assessed for the tax, which, I understand, in all cases
were the selling prices of Oils Ld. to the public. There
were also put in evidence invoices showing importations,
or purchases from domestic producers, by the Refinery,
mostly in 1935, for its own account or that of Oils Ld., of
such articles as motor fuel, kerosene distillates, tractor fuel,
naphtha and washed naphtha, which the Refinery could
not at the time supply Oils Ld. I do not propose to
mention all the details of these invoices, or review any of
the explanations made concerning them by Plotkins. It
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will suffice to say that these invoices show duty paid im-
portations, or purchases from domestic producers, of oil
products, which, expressed in imperial gallons, cost the
Refinery respectively 9-4, 11-8, 9-8, 7%, 8-9, 8-4, 104, 10,
85, 89, 10, 11-2, 8-4, and 10°3 cents per gallon, and upon
these importations and domestic purchases the assessments
for the sales tax, stated in the same order, were based upon
a selling price of 13, 13%, 123, 134, 124, 13, 124 103, 12-7,
12-7, 124, 18, 134, and 14} cents per gallon respectively.
It would appear that in one case the tax was paid when
the goods were properly free of the tax; and in one other
case the tax paid, inadvertently on the part of both
parties it was said, was much higher than was payable.
I am not required to make any adjustments in respect of
those matters. Upon all these importations and domestic
purchases the Refinery made returns on account of sales
tax on the basis of the purchase prices, and so far as I can
gather the tax thereon was in all cases paid. I have no
reason to doubt that the purchases which I have just
mentioned might have been made by any one else in
wholesale quantities, and upon the same terms as to price.
The tax upon these purchases having once been paid I do
not understand how it can be said that the tax may be
imposed on resales of such purchases; and I was not re-
ferred to any provision of the statute authorizing the tax
on such resales. In such cases it matters not what were
the business relations between the Refinery and Oils Ld.
Plotkins stated that he showed, but ineffectually, the in-
vestigating officer of the Revenue Department certain of
these invoices which would exemplify the principle of
assessment for which he was contending, namely, that the
tax should not be assessed against the Refinery’s importa-
tions of goods, or goods purchased from domestic refiner-
ies, because the tax had already been paid thereon, or that
he was willing to pay the same upon the proper assess-
ment, and that the price of certain goods should not be
varied because they were sold under a name different from
that under which they were manufactured, imported or

purchased, The prices at which the Refinery sold to Oils
Ld. were determined largely by the prices at which the
Refinery could import similar goods from a certain refinery
in the State of Montana, or from domestic manufacturers.

1
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The importations and domestic purchases illustrated by the
invoices referred to seem to have been made in the usual
course of business, and there is nothing to indicate that
the prices therein mentioned were not the bona fide prices
current at the time, and at which prices others might have
made purchases, from the same vendors, of the correspond-
ing goods. '

And there is something further to add. There seems
to have been a disagreement between the Refinery and the
Revenue Auditor regarding the standard or grade of cer-
tain oil products which the Refinery imported or purchased
under one name, and sold under another name, for example,
a product imported as “gas 0il” was sold as “tractor
oil,” and apparently a distinction was made between them
for taxation purposes. Plotkins claimed they were the
same thing and upon the evidence before me I feel obliged
to hold that in this he was correct. Again the Refinery
purchased from the Royalite Qil Co. Ltd. of Turner Valley,
Alberta, the manufacturer or producer, a product called
“absorption plant gasoline,” which the Refinery did not
produce, and which it sold as “ motor fuel ”; any one could
have bought the same article for 74 cents per gallon as did
the Refinery; but for this reason the assessment for the
sales tax seems to have been fixed at the rate of 131 cents
per gallon, as if it were in fact another article that was
sold; this seems to me to be untenable. Again the Refinery
did not produce gasoline of the highest standard; the only
evidence on the point goes to show that the gasoline pro-
duced by the Refinery was of a third grade or standard,
and the Refinery claims that this should always have been
taken into consideration in ascertaining the current price,
and in making the assessment, of its sales of gasoline. I
cannot but think that this contention is & correct one in
estimating the fair market price of gasoline produced and
sold by the Refinery; the Refinery was, I think, obliged
to consider this factor as an element in its price-fixing.
It seems to me that the revenue officers did not properly
approach the matter of the sales tax assessments in ques-
tion, and this of course was inevitable if they had con-
cluded that the proper basis of assessment against the
Refinery was the selling price of Oils Ld. to the trade and
the public. Further, it is to be remembered that the
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Refinery was not bound to sell its products at precisely the ~ 1938

same prices charged by other importers, manufacturers or TH;Ema

producers, in Canada; that was never contemplated by | Y

" the Act, as there might be many very obvious reasons Puorxins

why the prices of the one should be lower or higher than  ***

those of the other. Maclean J.
Upon the evidence before me it is my opinion that the

Refinery is the party liable for the tax, and that gener-

ally it has made returns for the tax in connection with

the sale transactions in question here, upon the proper

basis, and at the proper prices. However, the evidence

perhaps is not complete in respect of every transaction

and in some respects it is somewhat confusing, and I

hesitate to say that the Information should, at once, be

dismissed. If under the-terms of this judgment the plain-

tiff is advised that the prices of some of the sales trans-

actions of the Refinery have not been fully established by

the evidence, or that they should be more definitely deter-

mined, or, if there is any reasonable ground for a difference

of opinion as to the net amount payable by the Refinery

under this judgment, then I grant leave to the plaintiff

to move within thirty days from the date of this judg-

ment, to show cause why an order should be made direct-

ing the appointment of a Referee to take evidence in

respect of any of such matters, and to report thereon.

However I hope this will not be necessary. Failing such

a motion on the part of the plaintiff, within the period

mentioned, this action will stand dismissed with costs, but

otherwise the matter of costs will be reserved.

Judgment accordingly.

BETWEEN: B }—%?f

C. P. FULLERTON ................... APPELLANT; Jan.3L

AND Feb.1.

THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL | R Nov.2.
REVENUE ........c.ccoeennnns [ LESPONDENT.

Revenue—Income taz—Income War Tax Act, R8.C,, 1927, ¢c. 97, s. 83—
Buidence— Income >—Payment made on cessation of office— “ Grat-
tuity ”—No Uability for tac.

Appellant, in December, 1933, was appointed Chairman of the Trustees
of the Canadian National Railways for a term of five years at a
salary of $30,000 per annum. By 1 Edward VIII, Chapter 25 the
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appellant’s office was abolished, and his employment as Chairman
of the Trustees terminated on October 1, 1936. Appellant was
advised by the Minister of Railways that he would be granted
a gratuity of $30,000 and later, on the recommendation of the
Minister of Railways, an Order in Council was passed approv-
ing of the payment of such sum by the Canadian National Railways
to appellant “in relation to his services as Chairman, to be paid
to and accepted by him as a remunerative payment subject to income
tax.” The Board of Directors of the Canadian National Railways
passed a resolution in substantially the same terms as the Order in
Council and a cheque for $30,000 was delivered to appellant accom-
panied by a voucher, embodying the language of the resolution, for
his signature, the latter portion of which stated that the money was
being paid to and accepted by the appellant “as a remunerative
payment subject to income tax”” The voucher was signed by the
appellant concurrently with the receipt of the cheque. Immediately
after receipt of the cheque the appellant wrote to the President of
the Canadian, National Railways and also to the Minister of Rail-
ways in protest against the form of the voucher and the manner
in which the payment was therein described.

Appellant was assessed for income tax purposes on this sum of $30,000.
The assessment was affirmed by the Minister of National Revenue
from whose decision the appellant appealed.

Held: That the payment was personal to appellant, made because of the
cessation of his office, and not for past services rendered in office
and therefore not subjeet to income tax. i

APPEAL under the provisions of the Income War Tax
Act from the decision of the Minister of National Revenue.

The appeal was heard before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

G. Monette, K.C. for appellant.
F. P. Varcoe, K.C. and W. 8. Fisher for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated .in the
reasons for judgment.

Tare PresmENT, now (November 2, 1938) delivered the
following judgment:

This is an appeal from the decision of the Minister of
National Revenue affirming an assessment for income tax
levied under the Income War Tax Act, for the 1936 taxa-
tion period, against the appellant, formerly Chairman of
the Trustees in whom was vested the direction and control
of the Canadian National Railways. The assessment here
in dispute had its origin in a payment of $30,000 made to
the appellant, by the Canadian National Railways, in
October, 1936, in the circumstances which I shall relate
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presently The result of the inclusion of the said sum in
the income of the appellant for the taxation period in
question was the levy of an additional tax against the
appellant, in the sum of $9,711.92. The appellant con-
tends that the said payment does not constitute “income”
within the meaning of the Income War Tax Act. Before
stating the facts immediately material to the issue it will
be desirable first to refer to certain legislation respecting
the Canadian National Railways, its management and
direction.

The Canadian National Railways Act, Chap. 172, R.S.C.,
1927, provided for the nomination, by the Governor in
Council, of a Board of Directors, and their incorporation
as a company under the name of “Canadian National
Railway Company,” to whom was to be entrusted the
management and operation of the several lines of railway,
and other works and properties, owned or controlled by
the Government of Canada, and now collectively desig-
nated and known as the Canadian National Railways, here-
after to be referred to as “ the Company.” All the capital
gtock of the Company, amounting now, I understand, to
180 million dollars, is vested in the Minister of Finance on
behalf of the Crown. In pursuance of this statutory
authorization a Board of Directors was named and appoint-
ed by the Governor in Council and in due course the said
Directors entered upon their duties.

In 1933 there was enacted The Canadian National-
Canadian Pacific Act, 1933, Chap. 33 of the Statutes of
Canada, 1932-33, which empowered the Governor in Coun-
cil to vacate all nominations made to the Board of
Directors of the Company, pursuant to the Canadian
National Railways Act, and to appoint in their place and
stead three Trustees, one of whom was to be Chairman
of the Trustees, and who was required to devote his
whole time to the performance of the duties of his office.
The other Trustees were to devote to the performance of
the duties of their office their whole or part time as might
be determined from time to time by the Governor in Coun-
cil. The tenure of office of the Chairman was to be for the
term of five years from the date of his appointment, and
his salary, and that of the other Trustees as well, was
to be fixed by the Governor in ‘Council. The Chairman
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1938 of the Trustees apparently was prohibited from becoming

C.p. a director of any company, other than a company com-
FULL?,’_MN prised in the Canadian National Railways. In December,
MII“‘)IFSTEB 1933, three Trustees were appointed by the Governor in
Namonar, Couneil in succession to the Board of Directors, the appel-

REVENUE. 150t being appointed as Chairman for the period of five
MacleanJ. years from the date of his appointment, at an annual
~ salary of $30,000. The salary of one of the other Trustees
was fixed at $6,000 per annum, the third Trustee agreeing

to serve without salary. The Act provided that no Trustee

should be entitled upon any ground to any “recompense

or emolument,” that is, in addition to his salary.

In June, 1936, there was enacted The Canadian National-

Canadian Pacific Act, 1936, which repealed that part of

the Act of 1933 which provided for the appointment of

three Trustees in succession to the Board of Directors and
empowered the Governor in Council to appoint a Board

of Directors in the place and stead of the Trustees. This
power was in due course exercised by the Governor in

Council with the consequence that the Trustees were suc-

ceeded by a Board of Directors, on October 1, 1936. The

Chairman was therefore deprived of serving the full tenure
of his office by more than two years. It was later agreed
by the Company that the Chairman of the Trustees, the
appellant, should be paid, and he was paid, the sum of
$30,000, in the circumstances I am about to relate.

It will be necessary now to review at some length certain
of the evidence given at the trial practically all of which
was directed to showing the character or quality of the
payment made to the appellant; that is, whether the pay-
ment was received by the appellant as an annual net profit
or gain or gratuity from his office or employment as Chair-
man of the Trustees, or whether it was paid to and re-
ceived by the appellant by way of compensation for the
cessation of his office. My review of the evidence will
embrace a great deal that was received subject to objec-
tion but I propose to refer to the same, leaving to a later
stage a discussion of the admissibility of that evidence
received subject to objection. I think this may be done
without prejudice to either party, and at the same time
it will clearly reveal the issue as to the admissibility of
that evidence. When the Act of 1936, authorizing the
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termination of the services of the Trustees and replacing
them by a Board of Directors was being enacted by Parlia-
ment, questions were asked certain Ministers of the Crown
as to whether some allowance would be made to the Chair-
man of the Trustees. What was there stated in answer
to such questions was in substance restated by such Min-
isters at the trial, but as the substance of that oral evidence
is to be found in certain documentary evidence, to which
I am about to refer, I need not pause to discuss it.

The Minister of Railways, on June 16, 1936, wrote a
letter to one of his colleagues, the Honourable Mr. Dan-
durand, which letter was, through another, transmitted to
the appellant. The letter is as follows:

With reference to our conversation about a retiring allowance for
Judge Fullerton, I feel disposed to recommend that he be given one
year’s salary in compensation for the repeal of the Aet under which he is
employed. This can be paid to him in cash on his retirement, over a
period of one year, over a period of two and a half years, which is the
balance of his term as Chairman, or at the rate of $6,000 per annum for
five years. In this connection I may point out that upon the date of
his retirement he becomes eligible for his retiring allowance as judge,
which amounts to $6,000 per annum.

Any moneys that become payable to him will be payable by the
Canadian National Railways and he must be satisfied with my letter to
the effect that I will ask the new Board of Directors of the Canadian
National Railways to grant him the allowance along the lines for which
he may express preference,

On June 20 following Mr. Fullerton wrote the Minister of

Railways as follows:

In view of your letter of June 16th addressed to Senator Dandurand
and the coming into effect of the Canadian National-Canadian Pacific
Act, 1936, you will doubtless wish to have an expression of my desires
as to how the compensation of $30,000 agreed to be paid me should
be made.

It would be a great convenience to me if this were paid in cash,
and, as I am contemplating taking a trip abroad around the 7th of
October, I shall be obliged if you will kindly facilitate the payment by
the Canadian National Railways as soon as possible after the directors
take office.

The receipt of this letter was acknowledged by the Min-
ister of Railways on September 14, the relevant portion
being as follows:

I have your letter of September 12th, and note that you prefer to
receive your retiring allowance in one lump sum. I shall endeavour to
arrange accordingly.

On September 21, the Minister of Railways wrote Mr.

Fullerton in the terms following:

Referring to the question of a gratuity of $30,000, this is to assure
you that upon the Directors assuming office I shall duly bring the matter
to their attention.

713552

17

1938

C.P.
FuLierrox

v,

MiNIsTER
NaTionaL
Revexus.

M&cEn J.



18

1938

C.P.
FuLLERTON

MINISTER

NaroNaL
Revexue.

Maclean J.

EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA [1939 -

The next letter of importance is one from the Minister
of Railways, dated September 28, written to the appellant, -
and it is as follows: E

Referring to our conversation at your office last week, our legal
officers state that it is very necessary that the wording of the resolution :
shall be definite in its description of the purpose for which any money
is paid to you.

Our Legal Department also states that there can be no doubt that
any money paid to you is in fact a gratuity, as no contractual relation -
exigts beyond October 1st. when amendments to the Canadian National-
Canadian Pacific Act become effective,

I therefore see Do alternative but to follow the advice of my Legal
Department and ask the new Board of Directors to pass a resolution in
the following form:

“Moved by

Seconded by

That a gratuity of Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000) be paid
to the Honourable C. P. Fullerton, formerly Chairman of the Trustees
of the Canadian National Railway Company.”

In view of the above, you may wish to vary the manner jn which pay- -
ments shall be effected. If so, please advise me.

The form of the resolution, suggested in the above letter,
it seems required further consideration and the appellant
was so advised by the Minister of Railways, on: October 3.
The next step taken in the matter was the passage of an
Order in Council on October 7, the important terms of
which are as follows:

The Commitiee of the Privy Council have had before them a
report, dated October 5th, 1936, from the Minister of Railways and
Canals, recommending approval of a sum of $30,000 being paid by the
Canadian National Railway Company to the Honourable C. P. Fullerton,
formerly Chairman of the Trustees of the said Company, in relation to
his services as Chairman, to be paid to and accepted by him as a
remunerative payment subject to income tax.

The Committee concur in the foregoing recommendation and submit
the same for approval accordingly,

It will be observed that the Order in Couneil is an approval
of the recommendation of the Minister of Railways that
the sum of $30,000 be paid Mr. Fullerton by the Canadian
National Railways. On the following day, October 8, the
new Board of Directors-passed a resolution in substantially
the same terms as the Order in Council, and on October
14, a cheque for $30,000 was forwarded to the appellant
accompanied by a voucher for his signature. The voucher,
as signed by the appellant, contained the following matter:

In payment of an amount authorized to be paid by the Board of

Directors at meeting held October 8th, 1938, in the following terms:

“That a sum of $30,000 be paid to the Honourable C. P. Fullerton,
formerly Chairman of the Trustees of the Canadian National Railway
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Company, in relation to his services as Chairman, to be paid to and
accepted by him as a remunerative payment subject to income tax.”
and as per Order in Council P.C. 2589, copy of which is attached hereto.
Received THIRTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($30,000) under the
above terms which I hereby accept.
C. P. Fullerton. ‘
On receipt of the cheque Mr. Fullerton immediately
wrote Mr. Hungerford of the Canadian National Railways

as follows:

With reference to the cheque for $30,000 which was handed to me

this morning by Mr, Hobbs, I feel that I should point out that, while I
have signed the voucher in the form in which it was presented, it does
not set out in clear terms the arrangement which was made by the
Minister of Railways regarding this payment. I recognize that your
Directors are not likely to alter the wording of the voucher without the
approval of the Minister and I am, therefore, taking the matter up
with him,
Mr. Fullerton on the same day wrote the Minister of Rail-
ways and though this letter is quite lengthy it should
perhaps be fully quoted. After a reference to the receipt
of the cheque for $30,000, and the terms of the voucher,
the letter proceeds to say:

As I am satisfied the Railway Board of Directors would not vary
the terms of the voucher without prior approval from you, and as you will
not be back in Ottawa until after I have left Montreal, I have signed the
voucher, rather than have my refusal to do so cause delay and perhaps
subject my attitude to misunderstanding while I am no longer present
in Canada. I have, however, to point out that the wording of the
voucher while correct as to amount, and because of that enabling me
to accept the cheque, does not clearly state the arrangement made with
me when the matter of compensation was under consideration by both of
us. This arrangement, in my view, is solely one of fact and should
present no difficulty in stating.

There seems, however, to be some concern lest the payment made
to me should be free from income tax, but personally I do not share this
concern. I have always paid income tax to the full extent of my obliga-
tions, and I hope to continue to do so. I am not interested in any device
to avoid tax where it is due, and if the circumstances of this payment o
me are such that the payment is subject to tax, the tax will be promptly
and cheerfully paid. It seems to me completely unnecessary to invoke
the machinery of the Privy Council to declare this, or any other payment
by Canadian National Railways to be subject to tax. Settlement of
liability to taxation by this method would very quickly render our courts
of law unnecessary and leave the construction of our taxing statutes
entirely a matter for the Governor General in Council.

I think, therefore, that questions of law should be omitted from the
resolution, the voucher, and the Order in Council, and that if it is con-
sidered necessary to detail the circumstances giving rise to the payment
this should be done simply and in clear language setting out the facts. If
no agreement can be reached as to these—and I am unable 10 understand
why—then nothing should be said, my view being that no information is
better than indefinite information which might easily give rise to mis-
understanding,
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What then are the facts? I think it will be conceded that but for the
passing of the Canadian National-Canadian Pacific Act of this year, no
payment of this nature would have been made. If this is so, then the
payment is made because of the effect this Act has had on me and my
livelihood. The payment obviously is not made by virtue of the old Act
which expressly prohibits interference with the terms on which Trustees
were appointed, and so it cannot be considered as a bonus made in the
ordinary course of the Company’s business. Further, it is difficult to see
its relationship to my services as Chairman when the fixed emoluments

had already been paid 4o me for such services, and at the time of this °

payment I was no longer in the service of the Railway Company. The
best definition of the reason for making the payment is to be found in a

letter by yourself to Senator Dandurand and afterwards relayed to me.

In this letter you say that it is “in compensation for the repeal of the
Act under which he is employed.” That this was no inadvertent remark
is clear from the letter and also Senator Dandurand’s letter fransmitting
your intention and letter to Senator Meighen in which he uses the words
“touching the compensation which the Minister of Railways expressed
himself as disposed to allow Judge Fullerton.” Senator Meighen under-
stood the payment to be a compensatory one for in a letter to me dated
June 17, he refers to “the compensation to be allowed by reason of the
passage of a measure sbolishing the Board of Trustees” I submit wery
respectfully that where you yourself, Senator Dandurand, Senator Meighen
and myself find ourselves in such complete unanimity as to the reasom
for paying me $30,000, there should be no hesitancy in disclosing it and
certainly no resort should be had to words whose apparent meaning indi-
cates something different.

As you were in the West at the time the Order in Council was
passed, I am strongly of the view that your instructions have not been
strictly complied with, but I have formally to request that the Order in
Council be amended to show clearly the compensatory nature of the
payment because of the passage of the Canadian National-Canadian Pacific

Act, 1936, or, if for any reason you do not wish to do this, then, that "

the payment be described simply as a gratuity to me as ex~-Chaijrman of
the Board of Directors.

It is presently unnecessary to comment on the foregoing
documentary evidence, which is fairly plain, but I might
point out that the proposed payment is therein variously
described. It was designated as “compensation for the
repeal of the Act under which he is employed,” as “an
allowance,” as “ compensation,” as “ a retiring allowance,”
as a ‘“gratuity,” and finally, at the time of payment, as
“a remunerative payment subject to income tax.”

It was contended on behalf of the respondent that it is
the terms of the resolution passed by the Board of Directors
and embodied in the voucher signed by Mr. Fullerton, on
the day of payment, that alone may be looked at in order
to ascertain the nature of the payment, because, it was
said, it expressed the understanding of the payer and the
recipient at the time of payment; and objection was taken

¢
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to the reception of any other evidence, particularly that 1038
portion of the documentary evidence to which I have just C.P.
referred and which is anterior in point of date to the F“Lgf“w
voucher and the payment. At the trial I received this evi- M.n:;;sm
dence subject to objection, reserving the right to rule later Narona
as to its admissibility. Now, in my opinion, this is hardly Revenve.
a case where it is sought to vary the terms of a contract MacleanJ.
expressed in writing. It was agreed by counsel that there ~—
was not at any stage a contract to make the payment in
question, but a payment was made, and now the only issue

is as to the true nature of the payment, in order to deter-

mine whether or not the same was received as “income”

under the Income War Tax Act. 'The issue is whether the

payment was a personal one, or whether it came to the
recipient by virtue of his office or employment. The evi-

dence received subject to objection was introduced on the

ground that the true nature of the payment was not

clearly or accurately expressed in the resolution of the

Board of Directors and so it was sought, on behalf of the
appellant, to show the reason for making the payment at

all, the circumstances leading up to the decision to make

the payment, and what quality or nature the parties con-

cerned were attributing to the proposed payment, up to the

time of the actual payment. It seems to me that in all the
circumstances of the situation here such evidence is admis-

sible. In reported cases of the very kind now under con-
sideration I find that it is usual to have before the court
evidence of all the circumstances attending such payments

for the purpose of ascertaining their true character, in order

to determine whether the same was received as “income,”

or otherwise. I do not think therefore that the evidence

in question should be excluded.

It has been frequently remarked by the courts that cases
of this kind are in their nature difficult because they all
turn upon nice questions of fact, because it is difficult to
draw a line between questions of fact and questions of law,
and because it is frequently difficult to fix upon any clearly
defined line of division between payments which fall with-

- in the scope of the taxing statute, and those which do not.
The leading authorities upon the point in debate here are
to be found mentioned at one stage or another in the cage
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188  of The Commissioners v. Foster, Foster and Dewhurst (1).
C.P. Sec. 3 of the Income War Tax Act defines “income”
Fmﬁ_mN as meaning ‘““the annual net profit or gain or gratuity,
MH:T);BTEB whether ascertained and capable of computation as being
Narona Wages, salary, or other fixed amount, or unascertained as
R“T' being fees or emoluments, . . . directly or indirectly
MacleanJ. received by a person from any office or employment, or,
T .”  The English authorities to which I was referred
seem to decide that if the sum in question is received by"
the taxpayer in virtue of his office, even if the payment is
made voluntarily, the same is taxable, but if it is a gift, a
gratuity, a payment personal to the taxpayer and not his
office, a payment in respect of the cessation of his office,
a payment in the nature of capital and non-recurring, it
-is not taxable as a profit or gain of the office, because it is
not- “ income ” received from the office. On reflection, the
reason for such a distinction will, I think, appear quite
obvious. The test as to whether payments of the nature
in question here are taxable is frequently put in this way:
Was the payment made to the subject in virtue of his
office? If it were it is taxable, but otherwise it is not. tax-
able as “income.” I do not think there is any substantial
distinction between the English Income Tax Act, and the
corresponding ‘Canadian Act, in respect of the point falling

for determination here.

In such a case as this, it will be agreed, I think, that it
is to the substance and not the form of matters pertaining
to the payment that we must look, in order to ascertain
the true facts of the case, or the real character of the pay-
ment, before applying the law. It is also, I think, imma-~
terial how the payment was designated or described by any
or all of the parties concerned therewith; it is the true
nature of the payment that is to be ascertained; and that
is but to inquire in this case whether the payment was
made in respect of services rendered by the Chairman of
the Trustees while in office, or whether in fact it was made
because of the cessation of his office. In the case of The
Commissioners v. Dewhurst (2), Lord Dunedin said that
the mention of the words ‘“in consideration of loss of
office ” could not be allowed to make a change in the true
nature of the payment which was there in question, and

(1) (1932) 16 Tax Cas. 605. (2) (1932) 16 Tax Cas. 640.
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in the same case Lord Macmillan said that the circum-
stance that a payment was described as “ compensation for
the loss of office ” was immaterial, and did not relieve the
taxpayer, if the payment were in truth made as part of
the bargain for remuneration on which the services in the
office had been rendered. In the case of Cooper v. Blakiston
(1), the payments in question were described as “ personal
pon-official free will gift,” and in his discussion of that
case Buckley L.J. said: “I suppose that the object of those
words was to suggest that the gift was not to the vicar as
viear, but to him personally; but I do not think that those
words represent the scheme which was presented to those
who were asked to contribute.” In the end, in cases of
this kind, it is always the real nature of the payment
that is to be ascertained. Furthermore, the character which
the payer attributes to the payment is not to be accepted,
and the viewpoint of the recipient ignored. It was stated
by Collins ML.R., in Herbert v. McQuade (2) that the test
was whether, from the standpoint of the person who re-
ceived the payment, the payment accrued to him in virtue
of his office, and Buckley L.J., in Cooper v. Blakiston,
supra, stated that the question is not what was the motive
of the payment but what was the character in which
the recipient received it? Was it received by him by
reason of his office? I should think that in principle it
is safe to say that, in cases of this kind, the viewpoint of
him who makes the payment is not conclusive, and he can-
not determine the true character of the payment merely by
his understanding of the reason or ground for making the
payment. 5

This case would occasion no serious difficulty were it not
that the payment proposed to be made to Mr. Fullerton
was described in the resolution of the Board of Directors
of the Company as “a remunerative payment subject to
income tax,” and to be paid “in relation to his services,”
as the former Chairman of the Trustees; even that per-
haps would raise no serious difficulty were it not for the
fact that Mr. Fullerton signed a voucher, concurrently with
the receipt of the payment, which in effect states that he
accepted the payment under the terms of that resolution.

(1) (1907) 2 K.B. 688. (2) (1902) 4 Tax Cas. 489 at 500.
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1038 'The Minister of Railways in his letter of September 28,
C¢.P.  to Mr. Fullerton, places emphasis on the fact that the pro-
Foumeon 1,05ed payment must be treated as a gratuity, because no

V.
Mmvsmee  contractual relation would exist between the Company and

N,,T‘I’cfm Mr. Fullerton after October 1, and in that letter is con-
REVENUE. tained a form of resolution which the Minister proposed
MacleanJ. agking the Directors of the Company, the successors to the
T Trustees, to pass, and therein the proposed payment to
Mr. Fullerton is deseribed as a “ gratuity.” Then the
Minister of Railways in his letter of October 21, to Mr.
Fullerton, after the payment was made, explaining why a
change had been made in the proposed resolution, states

that some objection had been raised to the “form” of

that draft of the resolution, and one might fairly infer
therefrom that the Minister considered that the departure

from the resolution originally proposed was one of “form,”

and not one of substance. I am disposed to think that the

view of the Minister of Railways always was that the pay-

ment was being made to Mr. Fullerton because of the
cessation of his office. But the resolution is so drafted

as to make it appear that the payment was to be made

on account of the former services of Mr. Fullerton as
Chairman of the Trustees. It seems to say: “We are
paying you $30,000 but this payment is to be accepted

by you as having been made on account of your former
services as Chairman of the Trustees.” I think it is prob-

able that the words “subject to income tax” were used

from an abundance of caution in order to amplify or
clarify the words “a remunerative payment,” that is to

say, the words “subject to income tax” were used with

the intention of making it indisputably clear that the pay-

ment was to be made as remuneration for services rendered

while in office. In fact, the words “remunerative pay-
ment,” by themselves, would carry no particular meaning.

The resolution must mean that the payment was being

made for services rendered while in office, and if this were

in fact true the payment would, I apprehend, be treated

as “income” under the taxing statute. It is difficult to
believe that the Directors of the Company, in the use of

the words “subject to income tax,” would be deliberately
concerning themselves about the imposition of the income

tax. Whatever construction be placed upon the resolution

the question for decision is whether the payment received
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by Mr. Fullerton was “income” within the meaning of
the Income War Tax Act. The taxing authorities are
bound by the provisions of that Act in determining what
is assessable income.

The office of ‘Chairman of the Trustees was abolished by
statute and it became illegal for the Company to continue
Mr. Fullerton in that office, or to pay him any salary, and
it became impossible for Mr. Fullerton: to exercise his office,
or to demand any compensation for the loss of his office.
Consequently, on September 30, 1936, he was no longer
entitled to be paid a salary or remuneration, on account
of his former office. And s. 5 (2) of the Act of 1933 setting
up the Board of Trustees provided that no Trustee was
entitled, upon any ground, “ to any recompense or emolu-
ment,” in addition to his salary. If a sum of money is
paid to an incumbent of an office, substantially in respect
of his services as incumbent, it is received by him by
reason of his office, and that probably would be also true
if the payment were made after he ceased to occupy his
office but in pursuance of a contract or bargain made while
he was still in office, in respect of remuneration for services
to be performed. Now, it cannot be said, in my opinion,
that in point of fact the payment was made to Mr. Fuller-
ton for services rendered in his office, because for such
services he had been paid already the salary attaching to
his office, up to the time when the office ceased to exist.
And there is nothing to suggest that the payment was
made in pursuance of any contract or bargain made while
he was in office. Neither do I think it can be said that
the payment was made in respect of the office, because,
just as was said by Lord Dunedin in Duncan v. Farmer (1),
the only possible ground or justification for the payment
made to Mr. Fullerton was that he was no longer in office,
and because his office had ceased to exist. What then is
the true nature of the payment? To that question I have
given anxious thought and I find myself utterly unable
to see how it can be said that the payment was anything
but a gratuity, personal to Mr. Fullerton, paid him because
he was no longer in office, and because of the cessation of
his office more than two years before the end of the period
for which he was appointed. The fact that the office was

(1) (1909) S.C. 1212; 46 Sc. CL.R. 857; 5 Tax. Cas. 417.
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one of importance and responsibility, that the payment
was made on the termination of the office, and that the
amount of the payment to the former Chairman of the
Trustees was very substantial, are strong indications that
the payment was personal to Mr. Fullerton and not on
account of past services rendered by him while in office;
another indication of this might be mentioned and that is
the fact that s. 7 of the Act of 1933 provided that “no
Trustee shall be removed from office, nor suffer any reduc-
tion in salary, during the term for which he is appointed,
unless for assigned cause and on address of the Senate and
House of Commons of Canada.” Notwithstanding the
terms of the resolution and voucher, it is not, in my opin-
ion, in accord with the facts to say that the payment was
made to Mr. Fullerton on account of past services rendered
by him in his office.

I do not think that the taxing authorities can construe
a8 “income ” that which is erroneously described as such,
even by the parties concerned, if in fact it is not “income”
under the terms of the taxing Act. The words “subject
to income tax” cannot be construed as giving a quality
to a payment or receipt of money, which in point of fact
cannot be attributed to it. The appropriate statute defines
what is “income,” for income tax purposes, and one cannot
give to “income” a meaning contrary to that given by the
statute. It is to the real nature of the payment that the
taxing authorities, and the courts, in cases of this kind, must
look. I have earlier referred to highly regarded authority
for the proposition that it is always the true nature of
the payment to which the courts must look in determining
whether or not a receipt of money is “income” derived
from “any office or employment.” The resolution of the
Directors of the Company, and the voucher, not being
truly descriptive of the nature of the payment, they fall
and have no meaning or place in the controversy between
the revenue authorities and Mr. Fullerton, and they do not
afford any basis for the claim that the receipt of the pay-
ment was “income” in the sense of the statute. If the
voucher is to be construed as an agreement to pay the
income tax on the amount received, whether or not it was
exigible under the Income War Tax Act, then, it seems to
me that any claim to the amount of the tax is one to be
enforced like any other contractual obligation.
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My conclusion is that the payment in question was 198
personal to Mr. Fullerton, and was made because of the c.Pp.
cessation of his office, and is not therefore taxable income. F“LﬁBT°N

The appellant must therefore succeed and costs will follow Minisree
the event. el
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Revenue—Customs Act, R.8.C., 1927, c. 42, as amended by 21 Geo. V,
c. 2, 8. 4—Value of goods imported into Canada as fired by the
Governor in Council is not to be determined in terms of currency
of the couniry of export.

Held: That s. 43 of the Customs Act, RS.C,, 1927, ¢. 42, as enacted by
21 Geo. V, ¢. 2, 8. 4, granting the Governor in Council the right fo
fix the value for duty purposes of certain goods imported into Canada
does not authorize the fixing of such value in the terms of the
currency of the country of export.

PETITION OF RIGHT by the suppliant claiming a
declaration that certain duties collected by the Minister
of National Revenue were collected without authority and
that the same be returned to suppliant.

The action was tried before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Toronto.

G. G. Plaxton, K.C. and J. S. Wright for suppliant.

R. 8. Robertson, K.C. and C. W. Livingston, K.C. for
respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in :the
reasons for judgment.

TeE PresmeNT, now (November 12, 1938) delivered
the following judgment:

The suppliant here is a wholesale deal in fruits and
vegetables, carrying on business at Toronto, Ontario, and
was an importer of such products from the United States
at the time material here. It seeks by this petition of
right to recover from the Crown certain sums of money
which it paid as customs duties upon certain importations
of such classes of goods from the United States, and which

payments it alleges were in excess of any properly author-
ized duties.
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Joss In 1930, s. 43 of the Customs Act was so amended as
Ww.J. to read as follows:
&Bé%?f;‘]; (1) If at any time it appears to the satisfaction of the Governor

V. in Council on a report from the Minister that goods of any kind not
Tae King, entitled to entry under the British Preferential tariff or any lower tariff
~——— _ are being imported into Canada either on sale or on consignment, under
Ma@nl such conditions as prejudicially or injuriously to affect the interests of
Canadian producers or manufacturers, the Governor in Council may -
authorize the Minister to fix the value for duty of any class or kind
of such goods, and notwithstanding any other provision of this Aet, the
value so fixed shall be deemed to be the fair market value of such goods.
(2) Every order of the Governor in Council guthorizing the Minister
to fix the value for duty of any class or kind of such goods, and the
value thereof so fixed by the Minister by virtue of such authority, shall
be published in the next following issue of the Canada Gazette.

In September of 1930, and in February and April of
1931, the Governor in Council, by three different Orders
in Council, made under the authority of the said section
43 of the Customs Act, authorized the Minister of National
Revenue to fix the value for duty of certain mentioned
goods, fruits and vegetables. The three Orders in Council
were similar in form and one, which I quote for the pur-

pose of illustration, was as follows:

Whereas the Minigter of National Revenue reports -that carrots are
being imported .into Canada under such conditions as prejudicially or
injuriously to affect the interests of Canadian producers thereof;

Therefore His Excellency the Administrator in Council, on the
recommendation of the Minister of National Revenue, and under the
authority of section 43 of the Customs Act, chap. 42, RSC,, 1927, and
amendments thereof, is hereby pleased to authorize the Minister of
National Revenue to fix the wvalue for duty of the above mentioned
product, notwithstanding any other provisions of the Customs Act; the
value so fixed to be deemed o be the fair market value thereof.

In pursuance of the authority conferred upon the Min-
ister of National Revenue by such Orders in Council, the
Minister proceeded from time to time to fix, in writing,
the value for duty of certain named goods, in thé case of
fruits and vegetables at so many cents per pound, and
this would be communicated to customs and excise officers
throughout Canada, by what are called “ Appraisers’ Bul-
letins ” signed by the Commissioner of Customs, or the
Assistant Commissioner of Customs. From time to time
the Minister would order, in writing, that a value fixed for
duty by him on certain named goods would be cancelled
on a future date named; this would be done without any
authorization of the Governor in Council. Later, and with-
out any renewed authorization of the Governor in Couneil,
the Minister would again fix the value for duty of the
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same goods, presuming to act under the authority of one
or other of the Orders in Council which I have mentioned.

On November 3, 1931, there was issued to customs and
excise officers, at the instance of the Commissioner of
Customs, an Appraisers’ Bulletin, advising them “ that in
computing the value for duty of articles upon which the
value has been fixed by the Minister, under section 43 of
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the Customs Act, such values are to be considered as .

fixed in terms of the currency of the country of export,
to be advanced by the amount of the premium at the
rate of exchange current at the date of shipment. If the
gelling price to the purchaser in Canada in the currency
of the country of export, or its equivalent in Canadian
currency at the rate of exchange current at the date of
shipment, is. less than the value for duty as computed
above, special or dumping duty, is applicable.” This Bul-
letin was not expressed to be issued under the authority
of any Order in Council passed under s. 43 of the Customs
Act, and it does not appear that the same was authorized
by the Minister, at least there is no evidence of any such
authorization. The obvious effect of this ruling, when
American funds were at a premium, was to add to the
duty value of importations from the United States, as
fixed by the Minister under s. 43 of the Customs Act.
This is illustrated in the Bulletin where it is pointed out
that if the fair market value and the selling price in the
country of export were $100, and the value fixed by the
Minister were $150, and the premium on American funds
were 10 per cent, the value for duty would be $150 plus
$10 per cent., $165. In the calculation of what is known
as the “ dumping duty ” the matter of the rate of exchange
between the importing and the exporting country would
be of importance to importers but I do not think any

useful purpose would be served by any reference to that

phase of the case. .

It was the submission of the suppliant that the values
for duty fixed by the Minister in his several orders were
values fixed in pursuance of s. 43 of the Customs Act, and

that the Departmental ruling to the effect that such values
were to be considered as fixed in terms of the currency
of the country of export, and that the values fixed by the
Minister were “to be advanced by the amount of the
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premium at the rate of exchange current at the date of

shipment,” was in effect the imposition of an additional

tax -upon importations, unauthorized by the Customs Act

or any other Act, or by the Minister of National Revenue,

and was an unauthorized ruling of the Commissioner of

Customs. The suppliant, being obliged to receive prompt

possession of its importations of fruits and vegetables from
the United States paid the additional duties exacted by

reason of the issue of the Departmental Bulletin in ques-

tion, now claims that it paid duties in excess of those

properly exigible and by its petition seeks to recover back

such excess payments on the ground that such Bulletin

issued without lawful authority. It was agreed by counsel

that if T decided that the addition of the premium in the

exchange rate referable here, to the value for duty fixed |
by the Minister, were unauthorized, then the suppliant
would be entitled to recover the sum of $1,449.49, which
amount is to be found in an exhibit put in evidence.

More than one point was raised by Mr: Plaxton in his
attack against the validity of the imposition of the addi-
tional or excess duties paid by his client by virtue of the
ruling of the Department of National Revenue that the
value for duty fixed by the Minister was to be treated as
fixed in the terms of the currency of the country of export
and that the values for duty fixed by the Minister in
respect of the suppliant’s importations were to be advanced
by the amount of the premium on United States funds
current at the date of shipment. A very formidable point -
of attack made at the outset of the case was that, in some
instances, the values for duty fixed by the Minister, and
cancellations of the same, were not published in the Canada
Gazette. However, this point was not in the end pressed,
because, I assume, Mr. Plaxton was of the view that his
legal position was otherwise so strong that he thought it
unnecessary to rely upon that ground. I need not there-
fore pause to discuss that point.”

Another point raised by Mr. Plaxton was that once the
Minister fixed the value for duty upon the articles or goods
specifically mentioned in each Order in Council he was
without authority to fix again, at a subsequent date, the
duty value of the same articles or goods, after a cancella-
tion of the valugs fixed by him in the first instance, that
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is to say, that if the Minister once fixed the value for duty
of specific articles or goods under the suthority of an
Order of the Governor in Council, and later cancelled the
same—which was frequently done—it would require the
authority of another Order in Council to clothe the Min-
ister with the authority to fix again the value for duty
of the same goods. There is much force in such a con-
tention. It is conceivable that at the date when the
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Minister assumed to fix, for the second or third time, the

value for duty of specific goods, the Governor in Council
might entertain a different view about the subject-matter
from what he did when an Order in Council was passed in
respect of the same goods. This ground of attack was met
by Mr. Robertson by saying that the Minister once having
been given the authority to fix the value for duty of eer-
tain named goods that authority stood until the same was
appropriately repealed, and that the Minister was free to
cancel from time to time any values fixed by him, and to
restore the same either modified or unmodified. It will be
remembered that the authorization of the Governor in
Council to the Minister was not expressed as being appli-
cable to “a class or kind of goods,” but to specifically
named goods of “a class or kind,” that is, certain named
vegetables or fruits, not all fruits or vegetables. I am in-
clined to think that from the practical viewpoint much
is to be said for Mr. Robertson’s contention, and perhaps
it would have been unanswerable if the Orders in Council
had been expressed in more general terms. When power is
granted to the Governor in Council to authorize a Min-
ister of the Crown to fix the value of imported goods for
duty purposes, which in the result is in the nature of a
tax, it is imperative that such authorization be very strictly
construed. There can be no taxation by the Government
of Canada except under the authority of an Act of the
Parliament of Canada, but if the Parliament of Canada
vests in the Governor in Council the power to authorize
a Minister of the Crown to impose a tax in the form of a
duty, upon an importer, that authority must be exercised
strictly within the limits of the power granted. While I
am rather inclined to accept the view advanced by Mr.
Plaxton, that the Minister having once exercised his author-
ity to fix the value of specific articles for duty purposes it
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‘would require fresh authorization from the Governor in

Couneil to fix another value at another period, if the value
earlier fixed had been cancelled, yet, I do not propose to -
express any definite opinion upon the point. I.find it
difficult to believe that it was ever intended by the legis-
lature to grant to the Governor in Council the power to
confer authority upon the Minister to fix the value for
duty, to cancel the same, and later to fix another value,
without fresh authorization. The point is an extremely
difficult one, and it is because it is my view that the case
may be disposed of upon another ground that I refrain
from expressing any definite opinion upon it.

I turn therefore to what is the most important aspect
of the case, that is, whether s. 43 of the Customs Act, or

the Orders in Council, clothed the Minister with power :

to make any order or direction to the effect that the
values for duty fixed by him were to be considered as -
fixed in terms of the currency of the country of export.
Sec. 43 of the Customs Act, and the Orders in Council,
are silent altogether upon the question of the appreciation
of the currency of the country of export, or, of the event
that the rate of exchange between the exporting country
and Canada, was adverse to the latter. The Customs Act,
and I think the Customs Tariff Act, had already provided
for the case where the currency of the country of export
was substantially depreciated, and one can readily under-
stand the reason for such a provision. At the time of the
enactment of s. 43 the American dollar and the Canadian
dollar were substantially on a parity, and it was only after
England went off the gold standard that the American
dollar became appreciated in terms of the Canadian dollar,
the premium, if I remember correctly, sometimes reaching
over 20 per cent, which of itself would substantially add
to the cost of any dutiable goods purchaged in the United
States for export to Canada. That situation or state of
facts could hardly “ prejudicially or injuriously ” affect the
interests of Canadian producers, in the sense contemplated
by s. 43 of the Customs Act. Sec. 43 being silent about
the question of appreciated currency in the country of
export, the Orders in Council being equally silent, the
Customs Act having provided for the event of depreciated
currency in the country of export, I have no difficulty in
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reaching the conclusion that it was never intended by s. 43
to empower the Governor in Council to authorize the Min-
ister to direct that in fixing the duty value of certain
imported goods, such values were to be treated as being
fixed in terms of the currency of the country of export.

It is plain, I think, that s. 43 was designed to meet
the contingency of unfavourable marketing conditions in
Canada for certain domestic products, a situation that was
calculated “ prejudicially or injuriously to affect the in-
terest of Canadian producers or manufacturers,” and that
section was intended to give to the Minister, if and when
authorized by the Governor in Council, the arbitrary power
of fixing the value for duty of imported: goods of the same
class, if the contingency feared, occurred or was likely to
occur. If he exercised that authority by fixing a value or
values that would be the end of his authorization, and to
that he could not add. The values fixed by the Minister,
were, I think, expressed in terms of Canadian currency, and
nothing else, in my opinion, was ever contemplated. It is
utterly untenable, I think, to say that the values fixed by
the Minister were to be considered as fixed in terms of
the currency of the country of export. I see mo ground
for thinking that the legislature ever intended to give
power to the Governor in Council, or to the Minister, or
to any one, to expand the authority expressed in s. 43,
contemplated by the legislature. There does not seem to
be any authority for saying that the value fixed for duty,
by the Minister, was to be treated as fixed in the terms
of the currency of the country of export, when the rate of
exchange was adverse to Canada. It is very significant
that there is no mention whatever of the appreciation or
depreciation of any currency, in any of the Orders in
Council, and one may assume that this was not accidental,
but rather due to a strict observance of the language of
8. 43 of the Customs Act.

There is nothing in the record of this case to indicate,
so far as I can find, that the Minister ever directed or
approved of any Appraisers’ Bulletin instructing customs
and excise officers that the value of any goods fixed by
the Minister under s. 43 was “to be advanced by the
amount of the premium at the rate of exchange current
at the date of shipment.” I am bound to assume upon the

71355—3a
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evidence before me that the Minister never made such a
direction, or ever approved of the Appraisers’ Bulletin
issued in this connection, to customs and excise officers.
That the Commissioner of Customs could not impose taxa-~
tion, or advance the value of goods fixed by the Minister
under s. 43, or deal in any way with the subject of appre-
ciated currency in exporting countries, without legislative
authority, is too elementary for serious discussion. And
my attention has not been called to any authority bestow-
ing such a power upon the Commissioner of Customs.

The remaining question for decision is whether or not
the suppliant complied with the requirements of s. 125 of
the Customs Act. That section provides that “ although
any duty of customs has been overpaid, or although, after
any duty of customs has been charged and paid, it appears .
or is judicially established that the same was charged under
an erroneous construction of the law, no such overcharge
shall be returned after the expiration of three years from
the date of such payment, unless application for pay-
ment has been previously made.” The suppliant, I think,
through its authorized customs broker, made claims, orally
and in writing, for a refund of the alleged excess of duties
paid upon the goods in question. Andin fact some refunds
were made to the suppliant, and to others, I understand.”
There came a time, however, when the National Revenue
Department definitely decided to make no further refunds

in respect of such cases as this, and accordingly the cus-

toms authorities at Toronto declined even to receive any
formal application for a refund. The suppliant’s customs
broker, I am quite satisfied, promptly made oral claims in
respect of every. importation in which the alleged excess
duty was paid, and he attempted to lodge with the customs
authorities at Toronto a written claim in respect of each
importation and payment, in the form usual in such cases,
but their reception was declined, which one can quite

- understand the customs authorities at Toronto doing, in

view of the decision of the Department of National Rev-
enue not to entertain any further claims of such a char-
acter. The written and formal claims to refunds, were,
physically offered to the customs authorities at Toronto,
perhaps not wholly complete, but they would at the
moment have been made complete, if it had not been
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.» intimated that they would not in any event be received or
entertained. I do mnot think there is any substance in
the contention of the Crown to the contrary upon this

pomt

There will therefore be judgment for the suppliant in
the sum of $1,449.49, and costs will follow the event.

Judgment accordingly.

BETWEEN:

BESSIE L. SHAW ....................... APPELLANT;
AND

MINISTER OF NATIONAL REVENUE. .RESPONDENT.

Revenue—Income tax—Income War Tax Act, s. 8(b), s. § (k)—“Income
from but not the proceeds of life insurance policies”—"*Income”—
Liability for tax.

The Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada issued a policy of insurance
upon the life of appellant’s husband, appellant being named the owner
and beneficiary therein. The policy was described as “ Guaranteed
Income Life—Monthly Instalmenis—Annual Dividend Plan” and pro-
vided that on the death of the assured the company would pay to
the beneficiary mentioned therein “the sum of Seven Hundred Dollars
and a like monthly instalment on the same day in each succeeding
month until one huhdred and twenty monthly instalments in all shalt
have been paid . . . The company further agrees that if the bene-
ficiary . . . shall still survive affer the payment in full of the
one hundred and twenty monthly instalments . . . the company
shall continue to pay to the said beneficiary the sum of Seven

Hundred Dollars monthly on the same day in each month . . . so

long as she may survive thereafter; . . . It is further agreed that
when the first instalment under this policy becomes due, as sbove,
the person: or persons legally entitled to receive said first instalment
shall have the option of commuting all instalments into a single cash
payment of Seventy-One Thousand Four Hundred Dollars and the
payment of this amount shall completely discharge the company from
all liability in connection with this contract.”

Appellant, upon the death of the assured, did not elect to accept the
cash payment of $71,400, and the monthly instalments stipulated in
the contract have been paid to and received by her since that time.
In the year 1934 she received the sum of $8,400 which was assessed
for income tax. The assessment was affirmed by the Minister of
National Revenue from whose decision appellant appealed,

Held: That such monthly payments constitute “income” and appellant
is liable for tax thereon.

2. That the contract herein is not like the annuity contracts mentioned
in 8, 5(k) of the Act and the appellant is mot entitled to any
exemption or deduction.
71355—83a
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APPEAL under the provisions of the Income War Tax
Act from the decision of the Minister of National Revenue. .

The appeal was heard before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

I. F. Hellmuth, K.C. and H. C. F. Mackridge for appel—
lant.

F. P. Varcoe, K.C. and J. R. Tolmie for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

TeE PresipEnT, now (November 23, 1938) delivered the
following judgment:

This is an appeal from the decision of the Minister of
National Revenue affirming an assessment for income tax
levied against the appellant under the Income War Tax
Act, for the 1934 taxation period. The pleadings and a
Statement of Admitted Facts disclose that the appellant
is the widow of the late Mr. G. B. Shaw, of Toronto, who
died on or about November 23, 1933; and that before the
decease of Mr. Shaw a policy of insurance was taken
out on his life, with the Sun Life Assurance Company of
Canada, upon the application of his wife, the appellant,
who paid the annual premiums thereon, amounting to
$6,265, except that all dividends earned by the policy dur-
ing the lifetime of the husband were from time to time,
on the election of the appellant, applied in reduction of
the annual premium. The contract of insurance provided
that the appellant should be paid, on the death of her
husband, the sum of $700 per month for a guaranteed
term of one hundred and twenty consecutive months, and
should she survive that term she was to be paid the same °
monthly instalment so long as she lived, but she had the
option of commuting all such monthly ingtalments into
a single cash payment of $71,400.

The principal provisions of the contract are brief and
had better be recited. They are as follows:

Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada hereby agrees that on receipt
and approval at its Head Office in Montreal of the proofs of the fact and
cause of the death of GEORGE BALDWIN SHAW of Toronto, Ontario
(berein called the assured) and of the title of the claimant, it will pay
to BESSIE LOUISE SHAW (herein called the owner) (herein called the
beneficiary) the sum of SEVEN HUNDRED DOLLARS and a like
monthly instalment on the same day in each succeeding month until
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one hundred and twenty monthly instalments in all shall have been paid.
Each instalment payable by the Company under this policy shall be
paid to the said BESSIE LOUISE SHAW.

The Company further agrees that if the beneficiary above described
by name shall still survive after the payment in full of the one hundred
and twenty monthly instalments mentioned above, the Company shall
continue to pay to the said beneficiary the sum of 'SEVEN HUNDRED
DOLLARS monthly on the same day in each month as that on which
the preceding instalments became due, so long as she may survive there-
after; provided always that satisfactory proof in writing be furnished to
the Company that the eaid beneficiary be still living at the time each
such subsequent payment becomes due, and in default of such proof, no
further payment (fractional or otherwise) shall be made.

It is further agreed that when the first instalment under this policy
becomes due, a3 above, the person or persons legally entitled to receive
sajd first instalment shall have the option of commuting all instalments
into a single cash payment of SEVENTY-ONE THOUSAND FOUR
HUNDRED DOLLARS and the payment of this amount shall completely
discharge the Company from all lability in connection with this con-
tract; provided elways that this option cannot be exercised by the bene-
ficlary or payee unless the owner shall have filed with the Company a
written request to that effect, or shall have so expressed his desire by
will,

The insurance policy is described at the foot of the first

page, and in the endorsement on the back, as “ Guaran- -

teed Income Life—Monthly Instalments—Annual Divi-
dend Plan.” The policy was to participate in profits at
the expiration of each year from the date on which the
first premium fell due, and such profits were to be allotted
to the policy in one of four forms, one of which was
“as a reduction of the premium for the ensuing year.”
Dividends accrued under the policy in the aggregate sum of
$6,815.15 and were applied in reduction of the annual
premiums from time to time, from the date of the con-
tract until the death of Shaw, some six or seven years
thereafter. The appellant did not, upon the death of her
husband, elect to exercise the option of commuting the
monthly instalments into a single cash payment of
$71,400, and consequently the monthly instalments stipu-
lated in the contract have been paid to and received by
the appellant since the death of her husband. In the year
1934 she received the sum of $8400, which was assessed
for the income tax, and the appeal herein is in respect of
such assessment.

There are two points for decision in the case. First, is
the sum of $8,400, the annual amount of the monthly
instalments, subject to the income tax, in addition to the
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other income of the appellant from other sources, and
secondly, if this amount is to be treated as taxable income
is it subject to a deduction of $5,000, or $1,200, or any sum?
The relevant section of the Income War Tax Act in this
dispute is s. 8 and ss. (b). Together they read as follows:

For the purposes of this Act income mesans the annual net profit or
gain or gratuity . . . . , and also the annual profit or gain from
any other source including (b) the income from but not the proceeds
of life insurance policies paid upon the death of the person insured, or
payments made or credited to the insured on life insurance endowment
or annuity contracts upon the maturity of the term mentioned in the
contract or upon the surrender of the contract.

It is evident that s. 3 (b) contemplates the taxation of
“income ”’ derived from life insurance policies or annuity
contracts. In this case we are concerned with a life insur-
ance policy or contract, the main provision of which pro-
vided that if the appellant survived her husband she would
be entitled to a monthly payment of $700, for one hundred
and twenty consecutive months, and similarly so long there-
after as she continued to live. The payment of one hundred
and twenty instalments was guaranteed and in respect of
those instalments the appellant is described in the policy
as the “owner,” and therefore she could dispose of the
same as she might any other property which she owned.
The policy itself, as I have already pointed out, is described
by the company issuing the same as “ Guaranteed Income
Life,” payable in monthly instalments, and the policy was
entitled to participate in profits after the end of the first
policy year and during the lifetime of the assured, all of
which means that if the appellant survived her husband
she was to be paid, as owner, a monthly sum of $700, for
one hundred and twenty months, and if she survived that
period the insuring company agreed to pay her the same
monthly instalment so long as she lived.

The taxable “income ” referred to in s. 83 (b) whatever
it may comprise, provides for no exemption or deduction,
but the section, for the purposes of clarity and greater
certainty states that certain payments or receipts, flowing
from life insurance policies or annuity contracts, are not
to be included as “ income ” within the meaning of s. 3 (b).
In the first place the proceeds of a life insurance policy
paid upon the death of the person insured are not to be
construed as income; such proceeds are to be regarded as
capital and not income, in the hands of the recipient. ' In
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the next place payments made or credited to the insured 1038
on “life insurance endowment or annuity contracts” upon Bessm
the maturity of a term or terms mentioned in the contract L. sif“w
gre not to be treated as “ income.” This may be illustrated Muovsres
by reference to a life insurance endowment contract where, Narronaw
for example, the face of the policy was $5,000, but at the Revaxos.
end of a stated term the payments to be made or credited MacleanJ
to the insured under the policy, or to a beneficiary, might,
by reason of the accumulation of profits, reach the sum of
say $7,000; in that case the payment or credit of the
accumulation of profits, $2,000, is not to be treated as
“income,” at least that is my view in such a case. That
illustration would be applicable to life insurance annuity
contracts if similar payments or credits were made, or
earned, and the words of the section read “life insurance
endowment or annuity contracts.” That is the kind of
payment or credit to which, I think, the section refers.
Payments made or credited to the insured here mean, I
think, a distribution of profits at the end of a term or
terms, or a payment made on the surrender of a policy,
neither of which would be income within the meaning of
s. 3 (b). :

Now, was the $8,400 received by the appellant in the
1034 taxation period “income” from the insurance policy
in question here? It was not, I think, the proceeds, or a
part of the proceeds, of the policy. The appellant might
have commuted the monthly instalments or income, sur-
rendered the contract, and received a single cash payment
of $71,400, which, I think, would be the “proceeds” of
the life insurance policy. But the appellant did not exer-
cise her option to do this and therefore the insuring com-
pany at once commenced to pay to her, on the death of
her husband, the monthly sum of $700, as it was obligated
to do. Some $43,000 had been paid in the way of premiums
to ensure the payment of this monthly income to the
appellant, upon the death of her husband. It matters not
whether the obligation of the insuring company be called
a life insurance annuity contract or a plain annuity con-
tract.  We are here concerned only with the true nature
of the insurance contract in question and particularly the
nature of the payments made thereunder to the appellant;
the contract required the insuring company to pay to the
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appellant a fixed monthly sum if she survived her hus-
band, virtually for the balance of her life, and the question
is whether or not that is “income” from a life insurance
annuity contract. We need not really be concerned about
the words “ payments made or credited to the insured,”
because in point of fact no payments were ever made or
credited to the insured, and therefore no difficulty arises
on that account. In this case any dividends or profits paid
or credited on the maturity of any term, went in reduction
of the annual premium payable by the appellant.

The words “payments made or credited to the insured”
do not therefore, in my opinion, occasion any real diffi-
culty here, and do not seriously enter into the debate.
Further, this is not a case of the surrender of a life insur-
ance contract. It seems to me that this insurance contract
was entered into expressly for the purpose of giving the
appellant-a monthly income during her life, in the event
of her surviving her husband, and really that is what the
contract states. That is the sense and real purpose of the
contract. The appellant did not elect to take the proceeds
of the pohcy, the capital worth of the policy, she preferred
to take the income. I think therefore that such monthly
receipts constitute “income,” and that the appellant is
subject to the income tax upon the monthly instalments
received by her in 1934.

There remains the further question as to whether the
appellant is entitled to any exemption or deduction under
the provisions of ss. (k) of s. 5 of the Aect, or any corre-
sponding section earlier enacted and repealed. An annuity
contract with the Dominion Government cannot be issued
on the life of any one other than the actual annuitant,
and therefore such a contract is not “like” the policy or
contract of life insurance under which an annuity, or
income, is now being paid to and received by the appel-
lant, and therefore I do not think that the appellant is
entitled to any exemption or deduction. The reason for
the distinction between a Dominion Government Annuity
Contract and the contract in question here, in respect of
exemptions and deductions, is not for the court to explain.

This is a case of first impression, and one in which I
think I would be fully justified in refraining from making

any order as to costs. Judgment accordingly.
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B LT EY’S EXECU
W%gﬁgR E. H. MASSEY’S -} APPELLANTS;
AND
THE MINISTER OF NATIONAL '
REVENUE «..oovoveennnnn.. .... [ RpsPONDENT.

Revenue—Income—Income War Taex Act, RS8.C., 1927, c. 97, s. 17—
“ Corporation having undistributed income on hand "—Redemption
of company’s shares at a premium—Premium paid out of and charged
against surplus account of company—Liability for tez.

8. 17 of the Income War Tax Act, R.S.C., 1927, ¢. 97, at the material
time herein, read as follows:—

“Where a corporation, having undistributed income on hand,
redeems its shares at a premium paid out of such income, the premium

shall be deemed to be & dividend and to be income received by the
shareholder.”

Massey-Harris Co. Ltd. in 1929 redeemed its outstanding 7 per cent
eumulative preference shares at 110 per cent of their par value.

The premium of 10 per cent was paid out of and charged against the
Surplus Account of the company as shown in its Annual Report for
the year 1929,

Appellants received the sum of $91,220 as a premium on the redemption
of shares owned by the estate of W, E. H. Massey. This sum was
assessed for income tax, which assessment was affirmed by the Min-
ister of National Revenue

Held: That the premium was paid out of “ undlstnbu¢ed income on
hand,” and therefore taxable.

APPEAL under the provisions of the Income War Tax
Act from the decision of the Minister of National Revenue.

The appeal was heard before the Honourable Mr. Jus-
tice Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

C. H. A. Armstrong, K.C. for appellants.

F. P. Varcoe, K.C. and A. A. McGrory for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Tuzr PresienT, now (December 6, 1938) delivered the
following judgment:—

This is an appeal taken by the Executors of the Will
of the late W. E. H. Massey, of Toronto, from the decision
of the Minister of National Revenue affirming an assess-
ment for income tax, for the taxation period of 1929. The
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1088 point in issue here is precisely the same as that decided
W.E.H. In the case of National Trust Company Ld., Executor of
PIASSEY'S the will of Sir Lyman Jones v. The Minister of National
Mirsmms Revenue (1), from which decision there was no appeal. In
or  that case no oral evidence was adduced by either party
gﬁ%ﬁ upon the issue of fact there involved, that is, whether or
Mgt I not a premium paid on the redemption of an issue of 7 per
—_ “cent. preference shares of Massey-Harris Company Ld.,
manufacturers of agricultural implements, was paid from
“ undistributed income on hand”; in the case now before
me there was tendered evidence on behalf of the appellant
and respondent, directed to that issue of fact, and it was
the submission of Mr. Armstrong for the appellant, that
the facts here disclosed materially distinguished the two
cagses, and that this appeal was put before the court on
a different footing from that in the case of the Estate of

Sir Lyman Jones. .
I might at once refer to the provision of the Income War
Tax Act relevant to the assessment for income tax here
appealed from. It was sec. 17 of Chap. 97, R.S.C., 1927,

and it read as follows:—

Where a corporation, having undistributed income on hand, redeems
its shares at a premium paid out of such income, the premium shall be .
deemed to be a dividend and to be income received by the shareholder.

This section was superseded by a new section 17 which
reads:—
Where a corporation redeems its shares at a premium, the premium

shall be deemed to be a dividend and to be income received by the
shareholder.

The distinetion between the former and the present sec-
tion is that in the latter case all reference to “undis-
tributed income on hand” is omitted, and the source of
the funds from which a premium is paid on redeemed
corporate shares is immaterial. Now, whatever the source,
the premium paid on the par valie of corporate shares
redeemed shall be deemed to be a dividend and to be
income received by the shareholder. 7

The late Mr. Massey was the owner of 9,122 ghares of .
the 7 per cent. cumulative preference stock issued by
Massey-Harris Company Ld., hereafter referred to as “the
Company,” which shares were redeemable by the Com-
pany, after due notice, at one hundred and ten (110%)

(1) (1935) Ex. CR. 167.
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per cent. of their par value. In the month of May, 1929,
the Company did give notice of redemption and did redeem
all its outstanding 7 per cent. cumulative preference shares
at one hundred and ten per cent. of their par value, and
the Executors of the will of Massey received the sum of
$91,220 as a “premium” on the redemption of the said
9,122 shares, and that amount of premium is now claimed
by the Minister of National Revenue to be assessable in-
come..

By Supplementary Letters Patent, dated March 19,
1929, the Company was authorized to vary its capital
gtock structure by creating 150,000 five per cent. cumula-
tive convertible preference shares, of the par value of $100
each, and to increase its authorized common shares from
500,000 shares to 1,000,000 shares, without nominal or par
value. Later, during the Company’s fiscal year of 1929,
the Company redeemed all of its outstanding 7 per cent.
cumulative preference shares at the price of $110 per share,
with accrued dividend up to the date of redemption, and
in substitution a new issue of 5 per cent. cumulative con-
vertible preference shares was made, for the same amount,
namely, $12,089,900, thus reducing the annual charge for
dividends on preference shares.by $241,798. And 241,798
new common shares were taken up by the shareholders, or
the public, at $60 per share, which yielded something over
14 million dollars. As already stated, the appellants sur-
rendered the certificates for the 9,122 shares of the 7 per
cent. cumulative preference shares, and on May 15, 1929,
- the redemption date, they were paid $110 per share together
with accumulated dividends to the date of surrender, the
premium itself amounting to $91,220.

It is the contention of the appellants that the said
premium was not paid out of “undistributed income on
hand ”; that the Company at the date of the payment
of such premium had not any “undistributed income on
hand ”; that if the premium were paid out of “undis-
tributed income on hand” it was out of accumulated profits
on hand prior to January 1 1917, which, it is claimed,
would not be taxable; that the obligation to pay the
premium was a capital one, and that the premium was
paid out of the new capital received from the sale of

the new common shares; and that therefore the premium ’
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received by the appellants was not subject to the income
tax. I understood it to be argued that the words “on
hand” have, for income tax purposes, a definite mean-
ing and contemplate a realized fund on hand from which
the premium might be paid. In point of fact the pay-
ment of the premium was charged against the ‘ Surplus
Account ” of the Company, as will appear from the Sur-
plus Account of the Company appearing in its Annual
Report for the year 1929. The issue therefore narrows
down to this: Does the Surplus Account reflect undis-
tributed income on hand? This requires a brief examina-
tion of the Company’s Surplus Account, and the state of
that Account at the time material here.

We may first turn to the Company’s Income Account for
the year 1929. The Surplus Account of any Company is
built up from annual net profits or income and in practice
the net profit or income, less any sums distributed, is trans-
ferred to the Surplus Account. The Company’s Income
Account for 1929, as appearing in its Annual Report for
that year, is as follows:—

IncoME AcCCOUNT

The Income from the year’s operstions be-
fore deducting interest and appropria-

BIONE WaS .. ivviviiierrnernernnannennnss $4,740,915 58
Add Profit from sale of Assets.............. 127,990 75 $4,868,906 33
Frbm this there has been deducted for:
Interest on borrowings ................. $ 448,542 39
Bond Interest and Expense ............ 609,835 00
Appropriation for depreciation ......... 745,035 92
“ for taxes ........c.vvnnn.. 210,000 00
«“ for Pension Fund ........ 54,679 67 2,068,092 98
Leaving a net profit of ..........coovuuene. $2,800,813 35

The Company would be assessed for the corporation tax
on $2,800,813.35, subject perhaps to some adjustments.
The net profit above stated for 1929 was transferred to
the Surplus Account, and that Account is to be found
in the same Annual Report and is as follows:—
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<«
SureLUs AccouNT

The Surplus at 30th Novem-

ber, 1928, was ............ $6,982,098 02
Less Bond Discount and Ex-
PEISE .evnvenir tennienanns $ 900,970 20
Less Premium on 7% Prefer- .
ence Shares redeemed..... $1,100,770 00 2,001,740 20
$4.980,357 82
Adding Net Profit for 1929.... 2,800,813 35

$7,781,171 17
Deducting dividends paid in

1929:.—
On 7% Preferred Shares—
15th February and April.. $ 423,146 50
On 5% Preferred Shares—
15th July and October .... 302,247 50

On No Par Common Shares
—75¢, 15th April, July and

OCtODEE o vnerenesnenns 1,260,439 50
1,994,833 50
The Surplus at 30th Novem- —_—
ber, 1929, was ............ $5,786,3387 67

From this Account it will be seen that the surplus, on
November 30, 1929, was $5,786,337.67. Against the Sur-
plus Account, in 1929, was charged the premium paid on
the redeemed 7% preference shares, and certain dividends
on the old and new preference shares, and on the common
shares.

It will be convenient now to turn to the Consolidated
Balance Sheet, also appearing in the Company’s Annual
Report for 1929, and there we find what the Current Assets
(not the Capital Assets) consisted of. That is as follows:—

" CurrENT AsSETS

Inventories—Raw materials, goods in process
and finished goods (valued at cost, not

exceeding replacement value) .......... $31,814,545 10
Prepaid freight and expenditures on account
of next year’s operations ............... 304,393 88

Bills and accounts receivable (acerued inter-
est of approximately $925000 not taken
into maecount) .......ieeiiiiiieneienan., 22,810,950 39
Cash ........ et eneeteiarene e aanaes 76,648 74
$55,006,538 11

It will be observed that the Current Assets amounted to
$55,006,538.11, a very substantial amount.

I now turn to the state of the Company’s cash position
on the last day of April, 1929, and down to May 15 of
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the same year, the redemption date of the 7 per cent.
preference shares, and to this the appellant seems to attach
some importance. I do not think it necessary to go into -
this at any great length. It will suffice to say that on
April 30th, the Company’s current bank account was over-
drawn and altogether it was indebted to its bankers in a
sum exceeding 6 million dollars. From May 1 to May 15,
it received $3,737,000 from the new common stock sub-
scriptions, 11 million dollars from the sale of the new
preference shares, and $398,693 from its business opera-
tions. In the same period it paid off its indebtedness to
the bank, it disbursed on account of ordinary business
operations nearly 1 million dollars (the Company’s ex-
penditures on ordinary business operations usually exceed-
ed receipts at that time of the year), and it transferred
from time to time from its current bank account to what
was called the Preference Dividend Account such sums as
were necessary to meet any cheques drawn against that
account in redemption of the old preference shares. The
Preference Dividend Account was utilized for the redemp-
tion of the 7 per cent. preference shares. It was from the
Preference Dividend Account that the Executors of the
Massey will were, on May 15, 1929, by -cheque, paid the
amount necessary to redeem the preference shares owned
by the late Mr. Massey. What transpired after that date,
down to the end of the Company’s financial year, would
not seem to me to be of any assistance in determining
the issue here. It required $1,100,000 to pay the premium
on all the preference shares redeemed, and this was later
charged against the Surplus Account.

It may at once be conceded that the Company, on April
30, 1929, had no cash on hand, and that its position in
that respect thereafter improved by revenue derived from
the sale of the new preference and common shares. Now,
the question for decision is whether the Surplus Account
constituted “ undistributed income on hand,” and whether
the premium in question was, in fact, paid from that
Account. The amount of the Surplus Account was doubt-
less represented largely, if not altogether, by the Current
Asgssets on hand. Mr. Edwards, a chartered accountant,
called by the appellants, stated that there was a time
when profits or surplus were regarded “as money in a
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pank ” but that in modern business practice thi§ is no
longer so, and that profits are now ascertained by apprais-
ing assets and liabilities, and that “the best way to handle
a surplus is to re-employ it as working capital in the
business.” Accountants would seem to be in agreement
that when & man is in business his profits for the year
are the excess of his receipts from his business during the
year over his outlay for his business; the difference be-
tween the value of his stock and plant at the end and at
the beginning of the year being taken as part of his
receipts or as part of his outlay, according as there has
been an increase or decrease of value. It is the practice
to transfer undistributed annual net profits to Surplus
Account, to be employed as capital if necessary. - Sec. 13
of the Income War Tax Act recognizes this practice and
it provides that if undistributed profits are, in the opinion
of the Minister, in excess of what is reasonably required
for the purposes of the business, then the amount of the
undistributed profits which the Minister regards as exces-
sive, shall be deemed to have beén received by the share-
holders as a dividend, and taxable. The undistributed
profits there referred to would be shown in the Surplus
Account. The business operations of the Massey-Harris
Company in 1929, and for several years prior thereto.
realized net profits and such as were not distributed were
yearly transferred to Surplus Account.

The amount standing to the credit of the Surplus
Account was always dealt with by the Company as undis-
tributed profits or income on hand and I do not see how
the same could be otherwise classified. Out of such Sur-
plus Account the Company paid the premium in question.
It was not an illusory account but one capable, within
limits, of responding to actual demands made upon it. If
the Surplus Account here were made up of realized profits,
and dealt with in that way by the Company, then I think
the surplus must be treated as “ undistributed income on
hand.” In paying the premium out of Surplus Account
the Company affirmed that to that extent there was un-
distributed income on hand. The courts and accountants
seem, generally, to agree that if accumulated profits shown
in the Surplus Account have really been earned and used
in the business, the replenishment of the cash position of
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the Surplus Account through borrowing for the purpose of
paying a dividend is not objectionable, and that principle
would be equally applicable in the case of the payment of
a premium on corporate shares redeemed. The Company
here may have temporarily used funds in its current bank-
ing account, which were derived from capital sources, to
pay the premium in question, but that is merely a matter
of form and not of substance. The Company’s receipts .
from capital and trading sources, and from borrowings,
would be commingled in the Company’s current banking
account and the source or sources of such receipts could
not be ascertained from that banking account. It is the
accounting, the books of account, which allocate or dis-
tribute all receipts and expenditures, debits and credits,
profits and losses, arising in the affairs of a business con-
cern, to their proper destination, and that is determined
by established business and accounting practices.

This is a case where the amount of the Surplus Account
was actually realized as income, and was not distributed.
It was treated by the Company, and the shareholders’
auditors, as undistributed profits, and that was the view
of Mr. Vardon, a chartered accountant and Assistant to
the Finanecial Comptroller of the Company. I am unable
to see how it can be said that the amount standing to the
credit of that Account was not “ undistributed income on
hand,” available for any purpose to which the Company
might apply the same. I do not see how else it could be
deseribed or treated. The fact is that the Company paid
the premium in question out of Surplus Account, that is to
say, it was charged against that Account. The premium
payable on the preference shares if redeemed does not
seem to have been charged as a contingent capital liability
in the Balance Sheet, and possibly some accountants would
suggest that this should have been done, but it would seem
to have been the policy of the Company to pay the same
from surplus, if and when it should be decided to redeem
such shares. The premium in question was not treated,
and apparently was never intended to be treated, as a
capital liability. I have carefully considered the grounds
advanced in support of the appeal so ably presented by
Mr. Armstrong, but I have reached the conclusion that
the premium in question was paid out of the Company’s
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undistributed profits, which means, in my opinion, “undis-
tributed income on hand,” and therefore taxable.

It appears that a portion of the Surplus Account, about
$1,800,000, was earned prior to the coming into force of
the Income War Tax Act, 1917, when the Company’s sur-
plus was about 10 million dollars, and it was contended
that if the premium had to be pald out of surplus it should-
be out of that portion of undistributed surplus earned prior
to 1917. Subsection five of section three of Chapter 55 of
the Statutes of Canada, 1919, provided that dividends or
bonuses, paid to shareholders exclusively out of a surplus
or accumulated profits on hand prior to the first day of
January, 1917, would not be taxable as income; that pro-
vision remained in force until the first day of January,
1921, when section 3 of Chapter 49 of the Statutes of
Canada, 1920, came into effect. After January 1, 1921,
any distribution made out of accumulated surplus by way
of dividend, regardless of when such surplus was accumu-
lated, became taxable as income. Therefore, in 1929, the
taxation period in question here, it was not open to the
appellants to say that the premium should be paid out of
any balance of undistributed profits on hand and accumu-
lated prior to January 1, 1917; now, any undistributed
surplus accumulated prior to that date, if distributed as a
dividend after January 1, 1921, is subject to the tax, just
as would any surplus accumulated subsequent to that date,
if distributed as a dividend. And the premium in ques-
tion here is deemed to be a dividend.

I am of the opinion that the appeal must be dismissed
and with costs.

Judgment accordingly.
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Nova Scotia ADMIRALTY DISTRICT

BeETwEEN:
CALEB W. HIRTLE, Owner, NORMAN
HIRTLE and WALTER BUSH, Mem-

bers of the Crew of the FISHING BOAT { TTAINTIFFS;

NUMBER 64 ...ooovvviviin ..
AND
THE. SHIP SHANALIAN, her cargo and DEFENDANTS.
freight ...

Shipping—Collision—Duty of steamship in fog. ’

Held: That it is the duty of a steamship at anchor in a dense fog to
remain at anchor and not attempt to make port, especially by a
route known to the master of the ship to be frequented by many
small fishing boats.

ACTION by the owner and members of the crew of
the Fishing Boat Number 64 to recover damages occa-

-sioned by collision between it and the defendant ship.

The action was tried before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Carroll D.J.A., Nova Scotia Admiralty District, at Hallfax
N.S.

W. P. Potter, K.C. for plaintiffs.

G. McL. Daley, K.C. for defendants.

The facts are stated in the reasons for judgment.

Carrorr D.J.A., now (July 13, 1938) delivered the fol-
lowing judgment:

On the morning of August 9th, 1937, about 5.30 o’clock,
a small fishing boat Number 64 was run down and sunk by
the Steamship Shanalian. This action is brought against
the defendant ship for damages by the owner of the sunken
boat—the boat and tackle being a total loss—and by two
members of the boat’s crew for loss of personal effects,
nets and gear.

It is rather difficult for me in my pos1t10n without the
assistance of experts, to say exactly where this collision
took place. One thing I am convinced of and find as a
fact, namely, that the defendant ship was well off from the
“fairway ” leading up and into the La Have river. Had
she been there she would have been on her proper course.
I think that the accident occurred at a point about one
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and one-quarter miles south southeast of the Western Head 1938
of Mosher’s Island and about the same distance north north- OuE;W.
west of the La Have automatic light and whistle buoy. Hm“g BT AL
These distances are purely approximate. The automatic STHE Smm
light and whistle buoy is located south by east from FATTALIAN:
Mosher’s Head light and this light works the western side %‘?ﬂl
of the mouth of the La Have river. It was to and up this —
river the Shanalian was proceeding.
The Number 54 was at the time of the accident not
equipped with a fog horn or other sound making device
as provided for by Article 9 (h) of the International Rules
of the Road, but being, I think, under twenty tons gross
tonnage, there was no obligation for such equipment. I
am not prepared to say that there was any other efficient
sound signal being. made by those aboard “at intervals
of not more than one minute ” for the purposes of comply-
ing with the rule, but there were sound signals made at
such intervals, first by the engine and then by other
“poundings” which, I think, were as sufficiently “efficient”
as the circumstances required. I am, however, of the opin-
ion that the absolute absence of such sound signals under
the circumstances was not such negligence as would in any
way have contributed to the collision. In other words, if
the boat were equipped as required of larger boats and
giving the required signals, I do not think the collision
would have been avoided.
The Shanalian was proceeding at about three nautical
miles per hour, which was about half speed. The siren
was kept in action I think at the required intervals. She
had been lying by the La Have automatic buoy above men-
tioned from eleven o’clock Sunday night until nearly five
o’clock Monday morning, August 9th, light laden, bound
for Bridgewater up the La Have river. The weather at
the hour of departure was very thick and foggy with visi-
bility on board of only fifty or sixty feet and so continued
up until the accident.

I have already mentioned that the Shanalion at the
time of the collision was not in the “fairway ” where of
course she should have been. She was as a matter of fact
a considerable distance off her course which could have
been averted by good seamanship and ordinary care. The

Master of the Shanalian knew that off the fairway, espe-
71355—434a
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1938 cially to the west thereof, was a fishing ground, frequented

CameW. by many small fishing boats. Those boats, of which the
HmMESTAL 1)aintif's was one, were entitled to be there and it is
TreSmr the duty of other ships to take greater precautions when

S . . :
HANALIAN passing over such a fishing ground, so as to keep clear of

Qemoll fishing boats.” Marsden on Collisions, 9th ed., p. 449.
——  The plaintiff’s boat was not in the fairway and had the
defendant ship been in her proper place in the fairway,
the collision would not have happened. I do not intend
discussing the reasons for her being off her course other
than to say that it was probably caused by the master

not taking into account the tides running that morning.

As already indicated there was a very dense fog that
morning when the defendant ship left her moorings and
the fog continued so thick that I am of opinion that she
should have remained at anchor and not have attempted
to make port especially by a route known to the Master
to be alive with small fishing craft. The Lancashire (1);
The Otter (2).

In the first mentioned case it was said (pp. 201, 202):

The question arises in this case, whether it was proper and right in
this ferry-boat to go deliberately across the river in & fog of such a dense
nature ag here described, and with the knowledge of these vessels lying
in ber track . . . . I have no doubt fhat it is very much for the
convenience of the public that the ferry-boat should go in all weathers
and at all times, but at the same iime, I cannot myself think it right
to set the convenience of the public in competition with the possibility,
or rather the probability, of injuring human life and greatly damaging
property . . . . But one thing appears to me quite clear—that if this
ferry steamer thinks herself justified in going across the river in such a
dense fog as this, she takes upon herself all the responsibility incident to
such a course. She has the advantage if she goes over safely, and she
must have the disadvantage if she injures life or property in the course
of the passage.

I will express no opinion as to whether the Shanalian
was properly manoeuvred after sighting the small boat as
I am of opinion that for the two reasons mentioned—being
out of her course and running in such a dense fog—the
Shanalian was wholly and entirely to blame for the col-
lision and that it was her megligence alone which caused
the damage to the Number 64, and I assess the damages as
follows:— ‘

(1) (1874) LR. 4 Ad. & Ecc. (2) (1874) LR. 4 Ad. & Ecc.
198. ' 203.

A
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To the plaintiff Caleb Hirtle:
N 53 A “.. $120 00
EDEINE « et eeenenneaneeeaneeneeneeanen 115 00
Three Nets ..ovveereennnneianeeneannnnn. 60 00
$295 00

To the plaintiff Norman Hirtle:

Coat, hat and lines .................... 6 65
To the plaintiff Walter Bush:

Net with moorings and grapple ......... 20 00

The plaintiffs are entitled to only one bill of costs.

Judgment accordingly.

Nova ScoTta ApMIRALTY DISTRICT

BETWEEN:
WESTERN NOVA SCOTIA BAITI PLAINTIFP-
FREEZERS LIMITED .......... j ’
AND
THE SHIP SHAMROCK ................ DEFENDANT.

Shipping — Foreign vessel — Necessaries — Charter-party — Authority of
master—Liability of owner—Vessel sailed under the “ quarter lay?”
or sharing system.

The action was brought by the plaintiff against a foreign vessel for
necessaries supplied on her account at a Canadian port. The vessel
‘was engaged in the fishing business and at the time the necessaries
were supplied she was operated on what is known as the “quarter
lay.” The owners appointed the Master who hired the crew and
after certain deductions from the gross proceeds of a voyage the
‘balance was distributed between the owners, the master and the
crew, The plaintiff supplied bait and ice to the ship on the order
of the master and the credit of the ship and owners.

Held: That considering the nature of the business defendant ship was
engaged in, the bait and ice were necessaries.

2. That upon the true inference to be drawn from the facts as proved,
there was no demise or bailment of the ship to the master; that he
managed and sailed the ship for the joint benefit of himself and the
owners whose servant or agent he wa.s, and that the ship was liable
for the amount claimed,

ACTION in rem by plaintiff to recover from defendant
ship the value of necessaries supplied to it at a Canadian
ort.

F The action was tried before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Carroll D.J.A., Nova Scotia Admiralty District, at Halifax.
W. C. MacDonald, K.C. and D. J. Fraser for plaintiff.
F. D. Smith, K.C. and C. R. Coughlan for defendant.
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The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the

Western reasons for judgment.

Nova Scoria

FREEZERS

TaE Sae
SHAMROCK.

Barr

LaMrrep
V.

Carroll
DJA.

Carrorr. D.J.A. now (January 28, 1938) delivered the
following judgment:—

This is an action against the American ship Shamrock
for the price of ice and bait supplied on board said ship
at the request of the Captain while ship and captain were
in a Nova Scotia port. The supplies were delivered about
the 1st of May, 1936. The ship was seized to respond to
this claim. Evidence was taken at Boston by virtue of a
commission granted.

The Shamrock is a vessel of American registry and was
engaged in the fishing business. She was operated on what
is known as the “ quarter lay.” The owners appointed the
captain, who, I think, hires his own crew. The proceeds
of a voyage were distributed between the owners, master
and crew. There is deducted after a voyage, from the gross
proceeds, wharfage and scaleage at the pier, oil, $10 for
engineer, $3 per night.for watchman, something extra for
the cook, and one-half of one per cent for the Boston Fish
Exchange. As to the cost of ice there is some contra-
diction in the evidence but I think it is not deducted from
the gross proceeds. One-quarter of the balance was taken
by the owners. The remaining three-quarters went to the
captain, out of which he paid most of the expenses of the
voyage except fuel, which is supplied by the owners. The
vessel is completely outfitted, so far as fishing gear is
concerned, by the owners. The crew are paid on “shares”
from this three-quarters. The owners are responsible for
repairing of sails and such like and have control of that,
but for fishing tackle, such as trawls lost or broken, the
captain and crew are responsible. In addition to this share
of the three-quarters the captain or master receives five

per cent of the gross.

There are two defences set up to the action, the first
that the goods supplied were not ‘“necessaries” within
the meaning of that word as interpreted by Courts of
Admiralty, and in any event there is no proof that the
bait and ice were necessary at the time of delivery. This
vessel was engaged in the fishing business and it is shown
by the evidence that ice and bait are essential for the

AN
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prosecution of that industry as carried on by the Shamrock.
I think, too, that without any evidence of the situation
here one having knowledge of the business in which this
vessel was engaged is bound to reach the conclusion that
bait and ice were necessary for the proper prosecution of
that business because “necessaries’” has been judicially
interpreted as “ whatever is fit and proper for the service
in which the vessel is engaged; whatever the owner of that
vessel as a prudent man would order if present at the
time ”’: Abbott C.J., in Webster v. Seekamp (1).

Then, too, the evidence of Captain Wilson of the Sham-
rock indicates, in fact the only reasonable inference to be
made from it, is that the ice was necessary at the time
it was placed aboard, necessary for that voyage or “imme-
diately necessary.”

Speaking to the time the purchase was made he was
agked the question: “They had to have bait, didn’t they?”
And he answered “Yes.”

The most serious defence offered however is that the
Shamrock was under charter, and such a charter as amount-
ed to a demise of the ship; that the owner had parted with
possession of her, and exercised or could exercise absolutely
no control over the ship or captain. I am not just clear
whether the contention is that she was chartered to the
captain alone or to the captain and crew.

Many authorities were cited to me on the argument, and
I have read many additional ones dealing with. this ques-
tion.

It was decided in Frazer v. March (2) that a registered
owner divests himself by a charter-party of all control and
possession of a vessel for the time being in favour of an-
other who has all the use and benefit of it is not liable
for stores furnished to the vessel by order of the captain
while such charter-party is effective. In this case the
owner could not appoint a captain, and did not appoint
him and the relationship between the owner and captain
was not that of servant or agent. Practically the same
proposition was held sound by the House of Lords in
Baumwoll Manufactur von Carl Scheibler v. Furness (3),

(1) (1821) 4 B. & E. Ald. 352; 106 E.R. 966.
(2) (1811) 13 East 238; 104 E.R, 362,
(3) (1893) AC. 8.
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which was an action for the price of goods by the shipper
against the owner. The vessel was under charter and the
charterers appointed the captain and crew, and the owners
divested themselves of all control and possession of the
vessel. It was held that the captain was not the agent
of the owners and could not bind them by contract with-
out express authority. The Court also held that the fact
that the shippers had no notice of the charter-party made
no difference. In our Courts we have the case of The Barge
David Wallace v. Bain (1) which is authority for what it
decides on the subject. Then there are the cases cited
which dealt with compensation to members of the crew of
ships injured or killed while engaged in their occupations
aboard ship. The chief is Boon v. Quance (2) and also
Jones v. Owners of the Ship Alice & Eliza in the same
volume of Butterworth at page 495, which seem to extend
the principle enunciated in the above two cases. I shall
refer to such cases as I proceed. There of course may be
cases where the vessel is under charter without actual
demise of the ship—where the owner retains some measure
of control over her—and the owners and ship are respon-
sible for necessaries supplied (3) In this case Lushington
J. said at p. 276:—

For prima facie the master is the agent of the owner . . . I
cannot think it is consistent with justice, or according to ordmary
mercantile practice, that a shipper of goods on board & ship . .
should lose his right to sue the owner for damage, on account of a
charter of this description,

The same principle was adopted in Sandeman v. Seurr

(4) and in Manchester Trust v. Furness (5). In the last

mentioned case the Court after discussing and distinguish-

ing the case of Baumwoll Manufactur von Carl Scheibler
v. Furness (supra) and Colvin v. Newberry (6), indicated
that if there is any reservation that the ship is not given

- up entirely, then the owners are liable.

There is further the authority of Associated Portland
Cement Manufacturers Ltd. v. Ashton (7) where it was
held that upon the true inference to be drawn from the
facts as proved there was no demise of the ship to the

(1) (1903) 8 Ex. C.R. 205. _ () (1866) L.R. 2 Q.B. 88.
(2) (1909) 3 Butterworth’s Comp. (5) (1895) 2 Q.B.D. 539.

Cas. 106; 102 L.TR. 443. (6) (1832) 1 Cl. & Fin. 283.
(3) The St. Cloud (1863) 167 (1832) 6 ER. 923.

ER. 269, (7) (1915) 2 KB.D. 1.
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master. The barge was being worked on the system of
« thirds ” under which the master took two-thirds of the
gross freights paying thereout the mate, erew, cost of pro-
visions and expenses of the voyage and handing over one-
third of the gross freights, less harbour and towage dues,
to the owner. At page 18 the Court adopted the reasoning
in Steel v. Lester (1) and quotéd with approval the
language of Lindley J. in that case:—

What is the true substance and result of that arrangement? We
are asked to say that it amounted and was equivalent to a demise of
the ship by the owner to the master, throwing the whole responsibility

of the management on the master and taking it off the shoulders of the

owner. 1 do not think such an arrangement amounted to a demise or
anything of the kind. I look on it either as a mere mode of paying
Lilee (the master) for his services—the owner paying him a share of
profits instead of fixed wages and retaining control over the master, but
leaving the master to choose his ports and men.

In the Portland Cement case (supra) some of the United
States decisions and authorities cited to me were cited to
that Court but in the reports that I have read of the case
no notice-was taken of them. It is in this case, too, that
cases under the Workmen’s Compensation Act were dis-
cussed. On this question Lord Cozens-Hardy M.R. said
at p. 11:—

Moreover, the question under the Workmen’s Compensation Aect is
whether the relationship of master and servant exists, and an answer to
that question in the negative would be in no way decisive upon the
question whether the owner of a vessel is answerable for the contracts
made by the master. As was pointed out in Steel v. Lester, the question
is whether the master was agent of the owner for the management of the
vessel. Cases under the Workmen’s Compensation Act are of little assist-
ance,

The Tolla (2) was cited as an authority but I am not
founding my opinion on the judgment in that case.

Here it seems to me to be a question of fact whether
the owners had to a certain extent the direction of the
master~—whether they retained some measure of control—
whether the master could use the vessel as and how he
liked. See The Great Eastern (3). If there were some
measure of control, there is no demise of the ship.

I take it to be a joint venture where the owners say:
“You go as master of this vessel on a particular venture
and hire your men and take a certain proportion of the
catch as your pay.” There is no doubt the master could

(1) (1877) 3C.PD. 121, (2) (1921) P. 22.
(3) (1868) 2 Adm. & Ece. 88.
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1988 have been dismissed at any time—he was dismissed after
Nﬁséﬁﬁﬁm four or five years’ service. He was told he could sell the
Barr  catch elsewhere if O’Hara’s had a full supply.
{‘I’ﬁﬁﬁs The master said he did not hire the boat and while the
T Sam evidence of the master is more or less pontra,dictory on
Smamrock. the matter there is no doubt in my mind he had some
Carroll responsibility to the owners, shore captain or manager.
DJA. The owners notified people in Nova Scotia to give the
boat nothing—they paid a previous account of the claim-
ants. \
The claimants will therefore have judgment for the
amount claimed with costs.

Judgment accordingly.

1938
—~~ BETWEEN:
Oct. 27.
Do 10 CANADIAN SHREDDED WHEAT P -
g CO. LTD. oo, BTTTIONER;
AND
KELLOGG COMPANY OF CAN-I OBIBCTING PARTY
ADALTD. ..., f B

Trade mark—Unfair Competition Act, 22-23 Geo. V, c. 38, s. 29, s. 26 (1)
and s. 14 (1)—Petition for registration of mark—Issues raised in peti-
tion res judicata—Petitioner not entitled to relief provided for in
5. 29 of Act in case of mark already registered.

Petitioner seeks a declaration of the Court, pursuant to s. 29 of the
Unfair Competition Act, 22-23 Geo. V, ¢. 38, that the words
“8hredded Wheat” may be registered as a trade mark, on the
grounds, tnier alia, that on March 20, 1928, the petitioner registered
under the Trade Mark and Design Act, the words Shredded Wheat
ag a specific mark for use in association with the sale of biscuits
and crackers, and also registered, on- April 3, 1929, the said words
for use in connection with the sale of cereal foods, and that on
May 5, 1938, the petitioner filed an application for registration
under the Unfair Competition Act, of the words Shredded Wheat
for use as a trade mark in connection with cereal foods, which
application was accompanied by a request for cancellation of the
aforesald registrations, to take effect upon the re-registration of the
said words as a trade mark.

Notice of the filing of such petition was given in the Canada Gazette
pursuant to Rule 35 of the Rules of the Exchequer Court. The
Objecting Party filed a statement of objections, and, on order of
the Court, certain points of law raised therein were set down for
hearing.

PRV
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In June, 1934, the petitioner herein commenced an action in the Supreme
Court of Ontario against the objecting party herein and another,
for an injunction to restrain infringement of the petitioner’s regis-
tered trade mark “Shredded Wheat.” That action was dismissed
and an appeal therefrom to the Ontario Court of Appeals was
digmissed. A further appeal to the Judicial Committee of the Privy
Council was also dismissed. The Judicial Committee found against
the validity of the mark, that it was descriptive of the goods sold,
and that it had not acquired a secondary meaning in respect to
petitioner’s goods.

Held: That the issues raised in the petition are res judicata, the judg-
ment of the Judicial Committee being conclusive of the matter.

2. That the existence upon the Register of petitioner’s mark is a bar
to the petition.

3. That the declaration provided for in s. 29 of the Unfair Competition
Act is not to be made in the case of a registered mark.

4. That the relief provided for by s. 29 of the Unfair Competition Act
may be the subject of a petition to the Court

ARGUMENT on points of law raised by the objecting
party in its statement of objections, in answer to a peti-
tion filed in the Exchequer Court of Canada by the

above named petitioner for registration of the trade mark
Shredded Wheat.

The argument was heard before the Honourable Mr. Jus-
tice Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

A. H. Elder, K.C. and E. G. Gowling for petitioner.

0. M. Biggar, K.C. and R. S. Smart, K.C. for-objecting
party.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

TaE PresipENT, now (December 10, 1938) delivered the
following judgment:

The immediate matter before me arises by reason of an
Order made, upon consent of counsel, that certain points
of law raised by the Objecting Party, in paragraphs 7, 19,
20 and 21 of its Statement of Objections, in answer to a
petition filed in this Court by the Canadian Shredded
Wheat Company Ld., should be set down for hearing and
disposition. The principal points of law raised are (1) that
by virtue of a decision of the Judicial Committee of the
Privy Council, in a certain action hereafter to be men-
tioned, the issues raised in this petition are res judicata,
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and (2) that the existence upon the register of the regis-
trations referred to in paragraph 6 of the petition form a
bar to the petition.

The Petitioner’s proceeding here was taken under s. 29
of the Unfair Competition Act, which reads as follows:

29. (1) Notwithstanding that a trade mark is not registrable under
any other provision of this Act it may be registered if, in any action or
proceeding in the Exchequer Court of Canada, the court by its judg-
ment declares that it has been proved to its satisfaction that the mark
hag been so used by any person as to have become generally recognized
by dealers in and/or users of the class of wares in association with which
it has been used, as indicating that such person assumes responsibility
for their character or quality, for the conditions under which or the class
of person by whom they have been produced or for their place of origin.

(2) Any such declaration shall define the class of wares with respect
to which proof has been adduced as aforesaid and shall specify whether,
having regard to the evidence adduced, the registration shauld extend to
the whole of Canada or should be limited to a defined territorial area
in Canada. )

(3) No declaration under this section shall authorize the registration
pursuant thereto of any mark identical with or similar to a mark already
registered for use in association with similar wares by any person who
was not a party to the action or proceeding in which the declaration
was made.

Under that provision of the Act the petitioner seeks a
declaration that the words “Shredded Wheat” may be
registered as a trade mark on the grounds that since it
commenced business, namely, the manufacture and sale of
cereal foods, in Canada, and particularly during the past
ten years, it has expended large sums of money in adver-
tising its products in association with the trade mark
Shredded Wheat; that the words Shredded Wheat have
become adapted to distinguish its goods from other goods
falling within the same category and were and are used
to indicate to dealers and users that such goods are manu-
factured and sold by the petitioner; that it registered, on
March 20, 1928, under the Trade Mark and Design Act,
the words Shredded Wheat as a specific trade mark for use
in association with the sale of biscuits and crackers, and
also registered, on April 3, 1929, the said words for use in
connection with sale of cereal foods, cooked or prepared
for consumption; and that on May 5, 1938, the petitioner
filed an application for registration, under the Unfair Com-
petition Act, which superseded the Trade Mark and Design
Act, of the words Shredded Wheat for use as a trade mark

in connection with cereal foods, which application was
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accompanied by a request for cancellation of the aforesaid
registrations, to take effect upon the re-registration of the
said words as a trade mark. Notice of the filing of the
petition herein was published, as required by Rule 35, in
the Canada Gazette, and the Kellogg Company of Canada
Ld., herein designated as the Objecting Party, intervened.

In May, 1896; it appears, that one, Perky, obtained a
grant of Canadian Letters Patent No. 52,428, covering a
new product, a cereal food, which he had invented, and a
process and a machine by means of which the new product
was prepared or produced, which product could be used
in its then condition or could be further cooked by being
baked into particular shapes. In August, 1901, the said
Perky obtained a grant of Canadian Letters Patent No.
72,695, for “ Improvements In and Relating to Machines
for Making Biscuits and other Articles,” which patent
covered the machine which was used and has since been
used by the petitioner for the production of biscuit shapes
composed of the new product, the subject of patent No.
52,428. This new product was called and was known by
the name of “Shredded Wheat,” presenting in itself the
appearance of having been shredded, and the process in
the said patent No. 72,605 was referred to as “shredding
the grain.”

The patent No. 52,428 expired in the year 1914, and
down to that time no one had sold or could lawfully sell
in Canada the product known as ““ Shredded Wheat,” ex-
cept the petitioner and its predecessors in title. The patent
No. 72,695 expired in 1919. Upon the expiration of the
aforesaid patents, the petitioner’s legal monopoly there-
under ceased, and thereafter any manufacturer of the
product in Canada could use the apparatus covered by the
patents and would be entitled to sell in Canada the prod-
ucts so produced as “Shredded Wheat” or “Shredded
Wheat Biscuits,” providing he did not infringe any other
person’s trade mark or pass off his goods as being the
manufacture of some other person.

In June, 1934, the petitioner brought action in the
Supreme Court of Ontario against Kellogg Company of
Canada Ld., the Objecting Party, and another, for an in-
junction to restrain infringement of the petitioner’s regis-
tered trade mark, “ Shredded Wheat,” and at the trial of
such action evidence was heard from a large number of
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1938 witnesses, representative of consumers, retail grocers and

Ny

Canvapax Wholesale grocers, throughout Canada, for the purpose of
SERIDID o ctablishing that a secondary meaning had been acquired
Co.Lm. for the words Shredded Wheat, to distinguish the goods

Kénllfioc;e of the petitioner.
CanaaLm.  The action in the Supreme Court of Ontario came on for

Maclean . trial before Mr. Justice McTague who dismissed the action,
— in a judgment delivered in March, 1936. Upon appeal
being taken to the Court of Appeals for Ontario, that
Appellate Court dismissed the appeal in a judgment de-
livered in November, 1936. A further appeal was then
taken by the petitioner to the Judicial Committee of the
Privy Council, and in February, 1938, judgment was de-
livered by the Judicial Committee dismissing the appeal,
holding that the registered trade mark Shredded Wheat
was invalid, was descriptive of the goods and of the
material of which it was composed and was the name of
the biscuit or product, and that no secondary meaning
had been acquired by those words in respect of the peti-
tioner’'s goods. That judgment refers to the petitioner’s
trade mark registrations in 1928 and 1929 as an attempt
to prolong or retain the monopoly it had under the patent
covering the product. The judgment of the Judicial Com-
mittee is reported at page 127 of Volume 55 of the Reports
of Patent, Design and Trade Mark Cases. That judgment,
is a lengthy and exhaustive one and I do not propose dis-
cussing the reasons advanced for the conclusion there
reached, and which are available to any one interested
in the issues which arise here. I content myself with
saying that their Lordships found in clear and unmistak-
able language against the validity 'of the mark Shredded
Wheat, against the contention that the mark was not de-
scriptive, and against the contention that it had acquired
a secondary meaning in respect of the petitioner’s goods.
Recently, in November last, the Supreme Court of the
United States reached the same conclusion, in respect of
the same subject-matter, in the case of Kellogg Company
v. National Biscuit.

In view of the judgment of the Judicial Committee in
the infringement action taken by the petitioner, the
Objecting Party here having been one of the defendants
therein, I feel impelled to the conclusion that the issues
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- raised in the petition are res judicata. That judgment l’f*f
holds that the words “Shredded Wheat” always consti- Canapmax
tuted the name of, and were descriptive of Perky’s invented ng“;’]’;ﬁ”
produet, and had been used only in that sense, and that Co.Lm.

such words never acquired any secondary meaning as being ngbee :
distinetive of goods manufactured exclusively by the peti- 5, S%F It
tioner, or indicative of the origin of such goods; essentially = — o
this means that the petitioner, or its predecessors in title, Maclean J.
had been using the mark Shredded Wheat for over twenty E'
years as being the name of the goods. It was argued that .
while the mark in question might not have acquired a
secondary meaning up to 1928, or 1929, the dates of the
registration of the marks now on the Register, that it might
have done so in the last nine or ten years. I must say I
utterly fail to appreciate the relevancy of that contention,
in the state of facts here. It would seem to me that to
allow the petition to proceed further would be an abuse
of the machinery of the courts, and would offend against
the rule that there must be a finality in litigation. I do
not think the efforts of the petitioner to register the mark
in question on the ground of anything occurring since 1928
can be sound or meritorious. I think that the judgment
of the Judicial Committee is conclusive of the matter.
There is, I think, another obstacle in the path of the
petitioner. It is to be remembered that it has the mark
Shredded Wheat already registered, and it requests its can-
cellation only when the application for re-registration of
the same mark is granted by the declaration prayed for
in its petition. Does s. 29 of the Unfair Competition Act i
permit a person to come before the court and ask for a
declaration that a mark already registered has acquired '
the significance and character contemplated by s. 297 1 ng
think not. It seems to me that this section contemplates '
the case where a mark is in use but not registrable because
it cannot meet the requirements of sec. 26 (1), or because
it would offend the provisions of s. 14 (1), but in any event
an unregistered mark. Sec. 29 gives jurisdiction to the f“
Exchequer Court to entertain a proceeding asking for a ’
declaration that notwithstanding a mark in use is not ;
registrable under any other provision of the Act, that '
Court may declare, if upon the facts disclosed it seems fit
to do so, that such mark has been so used as to indicate
a class of goods which were the manufacture of the appli-
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cant or petitioner, and therefore may be registered. I am
not using the exact words of the section. I cannot think
that the proceeding before me is of that kind. The mark
Shredded Wheat is still registered even though it has been
held to be invalid, in an action brought by the petitioner
for infringement of that registered mark. This proceeding
seems to be but another attempt to prolong a monopoly
the petitioner, or its predecessors in title, had under the
patent covering the product known as Shredded Wheat.
The fact of the petitioner’s mark being registered is, it
seems to me, a bar to the petition. I do not think that
s. 29 was intended to meet a case of this kind and I am
of the opinion that the point of law raised in the State-
ment of Objections, and there numbered 21, namely, that
the existence upon the Register of the marks referred to
forms a bar to the petition, must prevail. I should remark
that the Courts of Ontario, and other Provincial Courts,
while having jurisdiction in actions for infringement of
trade marks, are without judisdiction in such an action to
direct that the trade mark in question be expunged, and
therefore no relief to that effect was claimed or made in
the litigation to which I have referred.

Another law point raised by the Objecting Party is that
8. 29 is only applicable in an action or proceeding already
pending in the Exchequer Court, and was not available to
a party by filing a petition. It is possible, I think, that
in an action for infringement pending in the Exchequer
Court a party thereto might in the alternative ask for
the declaration contemplated by s. 29, but unless there
be reasons which I do not now perceive, or to which my
attention has not been directed, I see no reason why any
party seeking the relief provided for by s. 29 might not
proceed by way of petition. If that is not so, then it
seems to me the section had better be repealed altogether.

In view of what I have already said I do not think it
necessary to discuss paragraph 20 of the Statement of
Objections, one of the law points mentioned in the Order,
but if counsel think it desirable that I should pronounce
an opinion upon it I shall do so on the settlement of the
minutes of judgment. Otherwise there will be judgment
according to the conclusions which I have herein expressed,
and the Objecting Party will have its costs of the hearing

upon the points of law raised. Judgment accordingly.
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BETWEEN
AIR REDUCTION COMPANY, IN-) APPELLANT:
CORPORATED .................... { : ’

‘ AND
THE COMMISSIONER OF PATENTS.. .RESPONDENT.

Patents—Practice—Patent Act Rules—Notice to applicant of official
action taken by Patent Office—Applicant required to.proceed within
stz months after notification of official action by Patent Office.

Held: That every official action taken in the Patent Office must be
communicated to the applicant for a patent, and if the applicant
takes no further action within six months after being notified of
such official action his application shall be held to be abandoned.

2. That the judgment of the Exchequer Court deciding upon the claims
in a conflict action is not to be construed as official action taken by
the Patent Office.

APPEAL from the decision of the Commissioner of
Patents.

The appeal was heard before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

E. Q. Gowling and Gordon F. Henderson for appellant.

W. L. Scott, K.C. for respondent.

TaE PrESIDENT, now (December 14, 1938) delivered the
following” judgment:

This is an appeal from the decision of the Commissioner
of Patents holding that an application for a patent for an
invention, made by one Joshua and others in January,
1932, later assigned to The Distillers Company Ld., here-
after to be referred to as “ Distillers Company,” had been
abandoned. The grounds for the appeal are that Dis-
tillers Company had not taken further time in the prose-
cution of the application assigned to it, than was permitted
by the Patent Act, Chap. 32, Statutes of Canada, 1932, and
the Rules, Regulations and Forms provided under the said
Act. The point in issue is entirely one relating to Patent
Office procedure.

In January, 1932, Joshua et al. filed an application for
a patent of an invention alleged to have been made by
them, which invention was given the title “ Conversion of
Olefines into Alcohols.” This application, as already stated,
was assigned to Distillers Company. In June, 1932, an
application for letters patent of invention was filed by one
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1988 Metzger, which alleged invention was given the title of
Rmﬁ?}x o “Manufacture of Alcohols,” and which apparently had
Co.Inc, Close relation to the subject-matter in the application of
Conmssrs- Joshua. The application of Metzger was later assigned to
siovee  Air Reduction Co. Inc., hereafter to be referred to as

or PATENTS & A3n Reduction,” the appellant in this matter.
Macleand.  The filing of affidavits of the record of the respective

inventions claimed by those two applicants, as provided

by the Patent Act, was required by the Commissioner, for
the reason that the claims seemed to him to be in conflict.
In August, 1934, the Commissioner informed the applicants,
that upon a consideration of the facts appearing in the
affidavits which were in due course filed, he would allow
the claims in conflict to Metzger, unless within two months
proceedings be commenced in the Exchequer Court as pro-
vided by the Patent Act, which proceedings, after several
extensions of the period named, were duly instituted in the
Exchequer Court, in February, 1935. In such conflict pro-
ceedings Distillers Company appeared upon the record as
plaintiff, and Air Reduction as defendant.

On October 30, 1936, on motion for judgment made on
behalf of Air Reduction, and upon the written consent of
counsel for both parties, it was ordered that Air Reduction
was entitled to the claims in conflict, the claims of Dis-
tillers Company then being five in number. The important
clauses of the Order for Judgment are as follows:

This Court Doth Order and Adjudge that as between the parties
hereto, the defendant is entitled to the issue of a patent on its appli-
cation, serial number 390,541, containing claims directed to the subject-
matter of the invention therein described.

This Court Doth Furiher Order and Adjudge that the plaintiff is
not entitled to the issue of a patent on its application, serial number
385,527, containing claims directed to the subject-matter in conflict with
the subject-matter claimed in defendant’s application for patent serial
number 390,541,

The last quoted paragraph of this Order for Judgment is
inaptly expressed because it is open to the construetion that
in no circumstance was Distillers Company entitled to a
patent, or even to file new claims, and I think the Patent
Office s0 construed the Order. What the Order really does
say is that Distillers Company was not entitled to a patent
for invention based on the claims contained in its appli-
cation, or as existing at the time of the conflict proceed-
ings, and that Air Reduction was entitled to a patent
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on its claims as then appearing. It does not mean that }f’ff

the application of Distillers Company was to be entirely Am

dismissed or ignored because its claims were all disallowed. R‘_’f;‘g"
In due course a copy of the Order for Judgment in this v,

Court was transmitted to and filed in the Patent Office, oo
and thereafter a patent issued to Air Reduction, but no OF PATENTS.
further official action was taken by the Patent Office upon MacleanJ.
the application of Distillers Company, that is to say, no =~
notice was given this applicant that all its claims had

been disallowed by the Exchequer Court, and it was not

officially informed that it should take further steps in the
matter. It now appears that Distillers Company had
assigned its invention to Air Reduction before, or about
the time, the Order for Judgment was made in the Ex-
chequer Court, but the Patent Office was not aware of
this until July, 1938.

On July 13, 1938, Air Reduction forwarded the assign-
ment made to it by Distillers Company to the Patent
Office for registration, and concurrently it forwarded to
the Patent Office certain new claims applicable to the
application of Digtillers Company, at the same time re-
questing that the outstanding claims, which had been
awarded to Air Reduction in the conflict proceedings, be
cancelled. Evidently, Air Reduction, now the assignee of
any invention claimed in the application of Joshua, was
of the opinion, whether rightly or wrongly we need not
pause to consider, that the specification of that application
contained disclosures for which valid claims to invention
might be made, and which were not embodied in the claims
which were disallowed in the conflict proceedings. The
new claim was refused by the Commissioner on the ground
that the original application by Joshua had been aban-
doned. The Commissioner in his letter &f August 6, 1938,

states:

The Judgment of the Exchequer Court . . . ordered and ad-
judged that the plaintiff, The Distillers Company Limited, was not
entitled to the issue of a patent in its application Serial No. 385,527

. As all the claims were found in conflict there remained no claims
of record in the. present case, and the applicants in application Serial
No. 385,527 did not present any amendment following the Judgment
which was made of record in the case of the 25th of November, 1936.

In a later communication the Commissioner wrote the
appellant’s counsel:
" The Judgment of the Court confirmed the award of the Office which

was communicated to the then attorney of record on the 23rd of August,
73097112,
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1934, and the judgment becomes, therefore, equivalent to an action by
the Office. The Office holds that action may be taken in such case
at any time within six months from the date of the Order of the Court
and that application Serial No. 385,527 became abandoned at the end
of six months from the 30th of October, 1936, that is on the 30th of
April, 1937, and absolutely abandoned at the expiry of one year from
that date. As the conflicting application matured to patent on the 16th
of March, 1937, your clients had ample time after knowledge of the
issued patent was open to the public to file an amendment in the above
application.

The Commissioner evidently took the position that the
Order for Judgment of the Exchequer Court was tanta-
mount to official action by the Patent Office, and the appli-
cation of Distillers Company was held to be abandoned
because it did not file any amended claims, or take any
step or action within six months following that judgment.
The applicant, Joshua, or his assignee, had no official notice
that the judgment had been made of record in his appli-
cation. Air Reduection, the appellant, and the assignee of
Distillers Company, now claims that after the judgment
rendered in the confliet proceedings, its assignor should
have been notified of the status of the application in
question in the light of that judgment, and that until
default after such notification the application must be
considered as being still in good standing.

Under certain provisions of the Patent Act as in force
in 1932, and presently, there seems to run the principle
that whenever, by official action of the Patent Office, an
application for a patent is refused, the applicant must have
notice of the same, and he is given the right of appeal
from any decision. of the Commissioner at any time within
six months after such notification. The Rules under the
Patent Act provide that if an applicant fails to prosecute
his application for a patent within six months “from a
report of an examiner or other subsequent official action
of which notice has been duly given to the applicant, such
application shall be held to be abandoned.” That means
that every official action taken in the Patent Office must
be communicated to the applicant, and if the applicant
takes no further action within six months after being noti-
fied of such official action his application shall be held to
be abandoned. Now, all that was decided in the conflict
proceedings by the Court was that the claims of Distillers
Company were refused and those of Air Reduction were
allowed. The application of Distillers Company was not
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disallowed or voided, and conceivably its specification might
contain such disclosures as would warrant the grant of
claims to invention which had not been hitherto claimed,
and which might be distinguishable from the claims award-
ed to Metzger in the conflict proceedings. The conflict
proceedings took the applications out of the Patent Office
temporarily, for the Court to decide to whom belonged the
claims said to be in conflict. They were then remitted back
to the Patent Office for action in accordance with the
Order of the Court. And the Commissioner was advised
of the judgment rendered in the Exchequer Court. It
appears to me that Distillers Company was entitled to
notification of the effect of the judgment of the Court in
the conflict proceedings, and until that notice was received
the six months could not commence to run against that
applicant. It may be that Distillers Company became
aware of the result of the conflict proceedings, and it may
be that the recent filing of new claimg by Distillers Com-
pany was purely an afterthought, yet, I think, I must dis-
regard these possibilities and adhere to a strict construction
of the statute and the rules, and in so doing I have con-
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cluded that the appeal must be allowed. It would, I think,

be desirable practice that the Patent Office notify appli-
cants of the result of the judgment of the Court in con-
flict proceedings, in patent cases. In most instances I have
no doubt this is done because it does not always happen
that all the claims of one applicant are awarded to a rival
applicant, or that the Order for Judgment in such cases
is so unhappily expressed as it was here. I have no doubt
the Patent Office was misled by the unfortunate language
of the Order for Judgment referred to. I cannot think that
the judgment of a Court can be construed as official action
taken by the Patent Office.

I am, of course, deciding only the question of practice
‘which has arisen here. Whether valid claims may yet be
made by the assignee of the application made by Joshua,
having in mind the patent issued to the assignee of the
application of Metzger, is a matter for the decision of the
Patent Office. The appeal is therefore allowed but there
will be no order as to costs.

Judgment accordingly.
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1938 .
BeTwERN

Mey 1011 WHITIN MACHINE WORKS ..........PLAINTIFF;
J1§§9 AND
.17 FERNANDO CASABLANCAS ..........DEFENDANT.

Patents — I'mpeachment action — Patent invalid — Lack of invention —
Subject-matter.

The action is one to impeach claims numbered 1 and 2 of Canadian
Patent no. 255,629 granted to defendant on November 24, 1925. The
patent relates to improvements in drawing apparatus for textile
rovings. Plaintiff contends that claims 1 and 2 of the patent dis-
close no invention and therefore are invalid and void. Plaintiff
also contends that any invention or inventions covered by claims
1 and 2 of the patent in suit had been already deseribed and
patented in and under United States Patents nos. 1,240,670 and
1,297,794 granted to defendant in September, 1917, and in March,
1919, respectively, and one British Patent, no. 9,692, granted to
defendant in February, 1919. The Court found that the belts de-
scribed in United States Patent no. 1,240,670, and in the patent in
suit, are described by the patentee as performing the same function
in the same manner; and that the drawing mechanism described in
the patent in suit performs the same function as that referred to
in the United States Patent no. 1,297,794.

Held: That there is no subject-matter in claims 1 and 2 of Canadian
Patent no. 255,629.

2. That the introduction of “slack” or “loose” belts, as described in
the patent in suit, does not add such a new and useful element
to the known mechanism as to constitute a new combination posses-
sing that degree of novelty and utility to justify ascribing to it the
quality of invention.

ACTION to impeach claims-1 and 2 of Canadian Patent
for Invention no. 255,629,

The action was tried before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

R. 8. Smart, K.C. for plaintiff.

H. Gerin-Lajoie, K.C. for defendant.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Tar PrRESIDENT, now (January 17, 1939) delivered the
following judgment:

This is an action wherein the plaintif company, which
carries on business at Whittinsville in the State of Massa-
chusetts, U.S.A,, claims a declaration that claims 1 and 2
of a patent of invention, no. 255,629, granted to the
defendant in November, 1925, are invalid and void.
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It is contended on behalf of the plaintiff that when
this patent was applied for, on October 22, 1924, the
invention or inventions covered by the said claims had
already been patented more than two years before the
date of the said application, under two United States
patents, nos. 1,240,670 and 1,297,794, granted to the de~
fendant Fernando Casablancas, in September, 1917, and
March, 1919, respectively, and also under a British patent,
no. 9,692, granted to the said Casablancas in February,
1916. The plaintiff was the exclusive licensee of the
defendant in the United States, under the United States
patents just mentioned, for mechanisms for drawing fibres
with endless belts, and which the plaintiff there manufaec-
tured under such licence or licences; the said licence or
licences terminated on the expiration of such United States
patents, some few years ago. Certain textile mills in
Canada were threatened with actions for infringement of
the patent in suit if they continued to purchase from the
plaintiff the-drawing mechanisms manufactured by it, and
thereupon this action was instituted. It is claimed by the
plaintiff that the first time two claims of the patent in ques-
ion here disclose no invention, and are therefore invalid
and void.

The patented invention here is said to relate to a draw-
ing apparatus for textile rovings by means of which a large
draft of the roving can be obtained in a highly favour-
able condition. The similar mechanism is referred to in
other patents as a “ spinning frame.” Cotton,—the textile
material always spoken of at the trial—as received by a
mill is a mass of tangled fibres in bale form, mixed with
foreign matter, and the ultimate object is to convert the
raw fibres into cotton yarn. After being cleaned the cotton
reaches the stage when it is subjected to carding, and from
the carding the cotton fibres come in the form of strands
or ropes, known in the industry as “sliver” or “roving.”
As the patent in question always speaks of “roving” or
“rovings,” I shall adhere to that terminology. This roving
has to go through what is called a drawing operation
before it is a finished yarn. In a roving, the fibres, long
and short, are held together loosely, and with just enough
twist to prevent them falling apart of their own weight.
“Drawing ” means the drawing out of cotton fibres from
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a given sized roving into another one of greater length
and correspondingly smaller section, the object being to
spread out the fibres into a longer and thinner form, mak-
ing a fair distribution of the short and long fibres, until
in the end it approximates the size and form of any desired
cotton thread or yarn. It is one of the last steps in the
process of making cotton yarns. '

The mechanism in question is made up of three pairs
of rollers. First, there is a pair of feed rollers, between
which the roving is fed. Then follows a pair of inter-
mediate rollers, each carrying an endless belt or band,
which run at a peripheral speed much higher than the
feed rollers, and between them is held the roving which is
carried by the belts up to a point near the last pair of
rollers, called the drawing rollers. The drawing rollers run
at a peripheral speed much higher than the intermediate
rollers, so that between each set of rollers a drawing or
lengthening of the roving is progressively effected, but par-
ticularly by the drawing rollers. We need not discuss
what occurs after the roving has passed through the draw-
ing rollers. ’

I had better refer to two paragraphs of the specification
which will more accurately explain the alleged invention
than I can do. These two paragraphs are as follows:

My invention relates to a drawing apparatus for textile rovings by
means of which a large draft of the roving can be obtained in highly
favourable conditions.

This apparatus is made up of three pairs of rollers moving at increas-
ing peripheral velocities, of which, the intermediate pair of rollers are
provided with two endless bands which by surrounding these rollers exert
pressure one against the other and between them hold the roving and
bring it up to a point quite near the last pair of rollers or drawing rollers.
These endless bands are guided by a small frame-work resting on the
intermediate rollers, and formed by two plates which laterally guide the
bands preventing them from shifting towards one side or the other and
by rods or other devices which join these plates together and which at the
same time serve as a guide to the bands so as to make sure that these
adopt the correct position. These endless bands follow the movement of
the intermediate rollers, and they therefore seize the roving between them,
hold it gently and lead it up to a point very near the drawing rollers.

The first pair of rollers or feeding rollers adopt the arrangement usual
in already known drawing devices, the second pair of rollers, or inter-
mediate rollers, which carry the endless bands, run at a peripheral speed
higher than that of the feeding rollers, so that between the feeding rollers
and the intermediate rollers a first draft of the roving is effected the object
of which, principally, is to cause the twist of the roving to disappear and
leave it in good condition to undergo the definite drawing. The third
pair of rollers or drawing rollers run, on the other hand, at a peripheral
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speed much higher than the intermediate rollers and higher, therefore,
thap the bands driven by the latter, so that, between the bands and the
drawing rollers a very vigorous draft of the roving is effected. The bands
have a special arrangement which causes them to hold the roving tightly
at the point corresponding to the line of contact of the two rollers which
drive the bands, but, on the other hand, in all the-rest of that part in
which the roving is imprisoned between the bands the pressure which
these latter exert upon the roving is a very gentle pressure. This alight
pressure makes it easy for the fibres held by the drawing rollers to slip
from between the other fibres of the roving. On the other hand, this
pressure is sufficiently firm to prevent these fibres dragged along by the
drawing rollers from dragging in their movement the neighbouring fibres,
which are thus obliged to follow the normal speed of the bands up to
the moment in which they are caught between the drawing rollers. In
order to bring this about, the two endless bands are slack and fthe same
frame-work which guides them compels them to impinge one against the
other with a gentle and elastic pressure.

Claims 1 and 2 are as follows:

1. A drawing apparatus for textile rovings having in combination
three pairs of rollers positively driven with increasing peripheral speeds,
a pair of loose endless bands which run round the rollers of the inter-
mediate pair and are driven by them and a frame-work supported by
the same rollers of the intermediate pair and which laterally guides thege
bands, the roving which is being drawn thus passing between the two
rollers of the first pair and of the last pair and between the two bands
of the intermediate pair, which accompany the roving up to quite close
to the last pdir of rollers or drawing rollers.

2. In a drawing apparatus for textile rovings, a pair of feeding rollers,
a pair of intermediate rollers which revolve at a peripheral speed greater
than the feeding rollers, a pair of drawing rollers which revolve at a
peripheral speed greater than the intermediate rollers, a pair of loose
endless bands which run round the intermediate rollers and are driven
by them and a frame-work which guides the bands laterally and obliges
them to adopt such a form that they seize the roving and lead it gently
up to quite near the drawing rollers.

It will be seen that the belts or bands surrounding the
intermediate rollers are described as being “slack,” and
in claims 1 and 2 they are referred to as “a pair of loose
endless bands.” The whole mechanism, broadly speaking,
is undoubtedly old and the only suggestion of patentable
novelty or utility is that the combination of “slack” or
“loose ” belts on the intermediate rollers, together with
all the other elements of the mechanism, afford subject-
matter for a valid combination patent. There is no defined
measure of the degree of slackness or looseness of the belts
requisite for the most effective functioning of the belts,

in carrying the rovings to the drawing rollers. The issue

therefore narrows down to the point as to whether or not’

the introduction of “slack” or “loose” belts constitute
invention, or whether it adds such a new and useful ele-
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ment to the known mechanism as to constitute a new com-
bination possessing that degree of novelty and utility as
would justify ascribing to it the quality of invention.
Therein rests the essence of the issue to be determined.

The claim to invention seems to rest in the fact that
the belts, except at the point corresponding to the line of
contact of the rollers which drive the belts, exert but a
very gentle pressure on the roving, and this gentle pres-
sure, it is said, makes it easy for the fibres held by the
drawing rollers to slip from between other fibres of the
roving. But, the specification states, the pressure exerted
by the belts upon the roving is sufficiently firm to prevent
fibres dragged along by the drawing rollers from dragging
in their movement the neighbouring fibres, which are
obliged to follow the normal speed of the belts until they
are caught between the drawing rollers. To bring this
about the specification states thé two endless belts must
be slack yet they must impinge one against the other with
a gentle and elastic pressure. All this amounts to saying
that the belts should be slack but not too slack, loose but
not too loose, and that they should impinge upon one
another with “a gentle and elastic pressure,” but the
pressure must not be too slight. That seems to be the
sole ground for a claim to monopoly here, and that because
the described belts give a new quality or character to the
combined elements of the mechanism.

The plaintiff’s particulars of objection refer to the two
United States patents already mentioned, nos. 1,240,670
and 1,297,794, granted to the defendant Casablancas in
1917 and 1919 respectively, and also to Britigsh patent no.
9,692, granted to Casablancas in 1916, and it is claimed
by the plaintiff that any invention or inventions covered
by eclaims 1 and 2 of the patent in suit had been already
described and patented in and under those three patents,
and which issued much more than two years before Casa-
blancas applied for the Canadian patent in question. The
first mentioned United States patent does not in terms
refer to slack or loose belts, but it does state that the belts
come into contact one against the other, and that the belts
convey the roving to the drawing rollers. The specification
states that the roving passes beween the belts to the draw-
ing rollers and the belts “retain the fibres which have not
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peen caught by the drawing rollers so as to avoid such
fibres being picked off and dragged along by the fibres
which have already been drawn by the drawing rollers.”
The quoted words in the last sentence above express the
game thing as is to be found towards the end of the last
paragraph which I earlier quoted from the specification in
question, that is to say, the pressure must not prevent
fibres caught by the drawing rollers to slip away from other
fibres in the roving, but there must be sufficient pressure
to prevent fibres being dragged along by the drawing rollers
from dragging neighbouring fibres of the roving along with
them. Therefore the belts in this United States patent,
and in the patent in question, are described by the patentee
as performing the same function in the same manner, so
therefore the belts in each case must be much the same
order in respect of tension and pressure. The belt arrange-
ment in this United States patent is somewhat different
from that in the patent in suit, but I do not think that
the belts in the former can be described as “tight” or
“slack,” or that they exerted undue pressure on the rov-
ing. The idea no doubt was that there had to be sufficient
pressure to carry the roving to the drawing rollers in
orderly fashion, but the pressure had to be of that degree
which would permit of the release from the roving of any
fibres caught by the drawing rollers without dragging neigh-
bouring fibres from the roving. They were expected to
perform the same function as the belts described in the
patent in suit, which are to be “slack” but yet they
must impinge one against the other with some pressure.
The second mentioned United States patent refers to the
endless belts receiving the roving, grasping it practically
throughout its length and delivering it to the drawing
rollers “in a well understood manner,” and that is just
what the drawing mechanism in question here does. It is
not necessary to refer to the British patent to Casablancas.

One cannot learn from the patent in suit just what is the
requisite degree of pressure to be applied when the belts
impinge one against the other, or under what tension the
belts should function. I have no doubt that in the early
use of the Casablancas mechanism it was at times found
that the belts were sometimes too tight and other times
too slack, or that the pressure of the one against the other

Maclean J.
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was too great or too little. The operator of the mechanism,
or some one, would have to ascertain the suitable degree
of tension and pressure by experiment, by trial and error,
as I have no doubt was done, and probably has, in many
cases, yet to be done. And probably that was the reason
why Casablancas in hig earlier patents did not in terms
speak of a slack belt, or of any particular pressure between
the belts; it was only after the expiry of his main patents
that he does this, and then ineffectually, because he speaks
of it only in general terms.

The fibres of the roving are delivered to the drawing
rollers by the belts for the purpose of accomplishing the
drawing. If the belts are too tight, or if the pressure
between them is too great, it seems obvious that they
could not deliver the roving to the drawing rollers in a
satisfactory way. If the belts were too slack or too loose,
or if the pressure of the one against the other were too
light, that would also be unsatisfactory. It is obvious
that the belts should not be too tight, or impinge one
against the other with too much pressure, but on the
other hand there must be some tension and some pressure.
The proper degree of tension, or pressure, or both, can
only be determined by trial and error, and the specifica-
tion would not assist anyone in determining this. Anybody
interested in Casablancas’ drawing mechanism would know
and expect this, as no doubt did Casablancas himself, but
this would present, at the date of Casablancas’ application
for the patent in question, no real difficulty to people con-

- versant with the subject-matter and admits of no sufficient

ingenuity to support a patent. In earlier days women,
by the touch of the finger determined how much pressure
should be applied to the carded wool in feeding it to the
spinning wheel, and it is the same thing here, except that
the art has been mechanized. I do not think thdt any
invention can possibly be attributed to the claims in Casa-
blancas which are here attacked, and the combination
therein deseribed.

The plaintiff is therefore entitled to the declaration
claimed, and to its costs of the proceeding.

Judgment accordingly.
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BETWEEN : .1.933
WILLIAM JOHN SYKES............... SUPPLIANT; Mar-_2_9&30- ’
"~ AND 1938
HIS MAJESTY THE KING........... RESPONDENT. Dec. 30.

Crown—Government Annuities Act, RS.C., 1927, ¢. 7—Crown bound by
doctrine of watver—Mistake of fact—Unilateral mistake—Loss to be
borne by party making the mistake—Specific performance decreed
against the Crown—Exchequer Court Act, RS.C., 1927, c. 84, s. 18
and 8. 36—Rule 2, Exchequer Court Rules.

Suppliant, on December 20, 1934, applied to the Government of Canada
for the purchase of a deferred annuity of $1,200 per annum, payable
in quarterly instalments, the first payment to be made on December
20, 1936. The suppliant agreed to pay for this annuity at the monthly
rate of $260.20 or $3,122.40 yearly. The application contained a clause
reading “. . . reserving, however, the right to complete the con-
tract by periodical payments and lump sums; or by paying lump
sums of varying amounts and at regular intervals; or by a single
payment; or by such other plan as may be authorized and approved
by the Government; and with the understanding that such an
annuity will in any event be granted to me as the total amount
_paid in by me improved at four per cent compounded yearly will
purchase at the rates in effect at the date of this application, the
same not to exceed $1,200; and with the further understanding that
in case the payments made by me are not sufficient to purchase an
annuity of $10 the payments I make will be returned to me or to
my legal representatives with compound interest at four per cent.”

Pursuant to the Government Annuities Act, R.S.C., 1927, c. 7, a contract,
duly signed by the proper officers of the Government, was issued to
suppliant. It provided for payments by the suppliant at the rate of
$26020 on the 20th day of each month, commencing on December
20, 1934, for a period of two years; for the payment to suppliant of
$1,200 per annum in quarterly instalments, the first instalment to be
payable on December 20, 1936, if the suppliant be then living, and
an instalment of $300 every three months thereafter, the contract to
end with the last payment prior to the annuitant’s death. 'The
contract contained a clause reading: “ This contract witnesseth further
that in consideration of payments made in any other manner than
in the manner above indicated, such an annuity shall be paid at the
date fixed for the commencement of the annuity as the total pay-
ments made (increased at 4 per cent compounded yearly), will purchase
at the rate in effect at the date of this contract.”

Payments made by the suppliant were made irregularly and not in strict
compliance with the terms of the application and the contract. He
did pay the full amount called for by the contract, within the two
years, the last payment of $444.80 being made on October 2, 1936.

Prior to making the last payment, suppliant was advised by the Super-
intendent of Annuities that the yearly premium of $3,12240 quoted
to him was due to “an error in computing the rate” and that the
annual premium for such an annuity contract as that issued to
suppliant was $3,834.24. Suppliant was advised that after crediting
the last payment made by him the balance necessary to be paid
was $1,783.18.
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1938 Suppliant by his petition of right asks specific performance of the con-

W " tract by His Majesty, or in the alternative, damages for non-fulfil-

TLLIAM .

JoEN SYREs ment of the contract.

T v. Held: That the Crown is bound by the doctrine of waiver as related to
e Kivg conditions or forfeitures in contracts to which the Crown is a party,

Maﬁn I and by accepting payment of instalments subsequent to the dates
_— stipulated in the contract the officers of the Government waived any
right arising on behalf of the Crown to rescind or vary the contract
by reason of suppliant’s defaults.
2. That the error in computing the proper rate for payment of the
annuity in question was a mistake of fact.

3. That the mistake was a unilateral one, made by the officers of the
Government, and of which the suppliant could not be cognizant, nor
did he silently acquiesce in the making of the mistake.

4. That any loss ensuing from the error in question should be borne by
the respondent.

5. That the Court has jurisdiction to deeree specific performance of the
contract by the Crown.

PETITION OF RIGHT by suppliant herein asking
specific performance by His Majesty of a contract entered
into between suppliant and the Government of Canada
pursuant to the Government Annuities Act, R.S.C. 1927,
¢. 7, or in the alternative, damages for non-fulfilment of the
contract. '

The action was tried before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

Charles Morse, K.C. and H. A. Aylen, K.C. for suppliant.
S. M. Clark, K.C. and Alastair MacDonald for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reagsons for judgment.

TaE PresmENT, now (December 30, 1938) delivered the
following judgment:

By his petition of right herein the suppliant seeks a
declaration of the Court directing performance by His
Majesty of a contract entered into by the suppliant for
the purchase of an annuity from the Government of
Canada, under the Government Annuities Act, R.S.C,
1927, c. 7, or, in the alternative, that the suppliant may
be declared entitled to damages in the sum mentioned
in his petition.

The suppliant, on December 20, 1934, then Librarian at
the Ottawa Public Library, and aged 69 years, made written
application to the Government of Canada for the purchase
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of a deferred annuity of $1,200 per annum, payable in equal
quarterly instalments, the first payment to be made two
years from the date of the first payment of the purchase
money, that is, on December 20, 1936. The annuity was
one sold under what was called Plan B, for which the
suppliant agreed to pay at the monthly rate of $260.20,
or $3,122.40 yearly, making a total payment of $6,244.80
in two years. The annuity was purchased through a Mr,
Hall who is a special agent of the Department of Labour,
in Ottawa, appointed by the Minister on a commission
basis, and who has been with the Department for several
years, in that capacity. The application contained this
clause: . . . “reserving, however, the right to complete
the contract by periodical payments and lump sums; or
by paying lump sums of varying amounts and at regular
intervals; or by a single payment; or by such other plan
as may be authorized and approved by the Government;
and with the understanding that such an annuity will in
any event bé granted to me as the total amount paid in
by me improved at four per cent compounded yearly will
purchase at the rates in effect at the date of this applica-
tion, the same not to exceed $1,200; and with the further
understanding that in case the payments made by me are
not sufficient to purchase an annuity of $10 the payments
I make will be returned to me or to my legal representa-
tives with compound interest at four per cent.”

On January 14, 1935, a contract entitled * Plan ‘B’—
Deferred Annuity Contract,” signed by W. M. Dickson,
Deputy Minister of Labour, and E. G. Blackadar, Super-
intendent of Annuities, was received by the suppliant
together with a pass-book, in which to record the pay-
ments made. The contract provided for payments by the
suppliant at the rate of $260.20 on the 20th day of each
month, commencing on December 20, 1934, until pay-
ments for two years shall have been made; for the pay-
ment to the suppliant of $1,200 per annum in quarterly
instalments, the first to become due and payable on
December 20, 1936, if the annuitant be then living, and
an instalment of $300 every three months thereafter, the
contract to end with the last payment prior to the annui-
tant’s death. The following clauses are included in the
contract:

If the annuitant should die before the date fixed for the first instal-
ment of annuity to be paid, the purchaser or his or her legal representa-
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tives shall not be entitled to claim any part of the amount paid as
purchase money.

This contract witnesseth further that in consideration of payments
made in an¥y other manner than in the manner above indicated, such
an annuity shall be paid at the date fixed for the commencement of
the annuity as the total payments made (increased at 4 per cent com-
pound yearly), will purchase at the rate in effect at the date of this

contract.

Those two clauses are, I think, self explanatory. Some
contention was advanced on behalf of the Crown, based
on the last of those two clauses, but I am not disposed to
attach any importance to it.

The suppliant testified that at the time he applied for
the annuity he explained to Hall that he would be obliged
to sell securities which he owned to make the stipulated
purchase payments, and that he would sell the same as
and when the market appeared favourable, and that it was
understood between Hall and himself that as long as the
total purchase money was paid, with interest on any de-
ferred payments, it would be satisfactory. The suppliant
made his payments through Hall. When ready to do so
he would make out a cheque payable to the Receiver-
General, hand the cheque and pass-book to Hall, and later
he would receive back by mail the pass-book with the
entry of payment made therein. Payments by the sup-
pliant were made irregularly and not in strict compliance
with the terms of the application and the contract. He
did, however, pay in full the purchase money called for,
namely, $6,244.80 within the two years, the last payment
of $444.80 being made on October 2, 1936.

Prior to making the last payment the suppliant was
advised by letter dated September 3, 1936, written by
Hall, that an additional sum of $2,215.59 would be re-
quired to be paid on September 20, 1936, in order to
complete the purchase of an annuity of $1,200. The sup-
pliant had at the date of this letter paid $5,800 on account
of the purchase price. A number of letters then passed
between the suppliant and the Superintendent of Annui-
ties. In one of these letters, dated October 2, 1936, written
by Mr. Blackadar, the Superintendent, the suppliant was
informed that the yearly premium of $3,122.40 quoted him
at the time he applied for the contract, was due to “an
error in computing the rate,” and that the annual premium
for such an annuity contract as was issued to suppliant
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was $3,824.24. After crediting the payinent of $444.80, 1938

made on October 2, 1936, the balance necessary to be paid Wittaan
was stated to be $1,783.18. Joriy Srxces
A duplicate of the contract in question was later tendered Tan Kove.
the suppliant but with the endorsement thereon that the MacleanJ.
annuity to be paid the suppliant was to be in the sum ¢f =
. $944.47, and payment of this amount has since been
accepted by the suppliant, without prejudice, it is agreed,
to his rights under the contract.
The issues joined between the parties, and the relevant
points of law that here arise, may be discussed in the
following order: (1) The validity of the contract in respect
of form, parties, and mutuality, under the provisions of the
Government Annuities Act, (2) the effect of the waiver,
by officers of the Department of Labour, of the suppliant’s
obligation to make punctual payment of the purchase in-
stalments as they matured on the dates mentioned in the
contract, (3) the effect on the contract of a mistake on
the part of officers of the Crown in fixing the rate appli-
cable to the purchase price of an annuity such as applied
for by the suppliant, and (4) the jurisdiction of the Court
to make a declaratory order as to the suppliant’s right to
performance of the contract in question, by the Crown.
No serious doubt, I think, arises as to the validity of
the contract in respect of form, parties and mutuality
under the provisions of the Government Annuities Act.
The contract both in substance and form, appears to be
in accordance with the requirements of that Act. The sup-
pliant was eligible to purchase an annuity at the date of
the contract, and the contract itself declares that it was
entered into in pursuance of the Government Annuities
Act. The contract was signed by the Deputy Minister of
Labour, and the Minister of Labour is charged with the
administration of the Government Annuities Act. By sec.
31 (1) of the Interpretation Act, words directing or em-
powering a Minister of the Crown to do any act or thing,
include his deputy lawfully appointed.

Turning now to the second point, and that is, whether
the conduct of the officers of the Department of Labour in
accepting from the suppliant payment of the instalments
of the purchase price subsequent to the dates prescribed

by the contract, constitutes a waiver in law of any right
73097—2a
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- arising to the Crown to make the suppliant’s delay in

making such payments a ground for rescinding or reform-
ing the contract. Waiver is implied when the person en-
titled to anything does or acquiesces in something incon-
sistent with that to which he was entitled, and I think it
is clearly established by the authorities that the Crown is
bound by the doctrine of waiver as related to conditions
or forfeitures in contracts to which he is a party. Time
was not here made “ of the essence of the contract.” Fry
on Specific Performance, 6th Ed., page 520, states the prin-
ciple of waiver, whether or not time was originally of the
essence of the contract, as follows: “ Objections grounded
on the lapse of time are waived by a course of conduct
inconsistent with the intention of insisting on such an
objection; and in this respect it is immaterial whether
time was originally of the essence or was subsequently
engrafted on the contract.” And at page 522 he further
states: “The mere extension or giving of time, where
time is of the essence of the contract, is only a waiver
to the extent of substituting the extended time for the
original time, and not an utter destruction of the essen-
tiality of the time.” This principle will be found enun-
ciated in all the standard text books on contract, and is
supported by such cases as Davenport v. The Queen (1);
A.-G. of Victoria v. Etterbank (2); Dominion Corporation
v. The King (3); and Peterson v. The Queen (4). I
think it is well settled law that the Crown is bound by the
doctrine of waiver as related to conditions or forfeitures
in contracts to which he is a party, and I think that by
accepting payment of instalments subsequent to the dates
stipulated in the contract the officers of the Department
of Labour waived any right arising on behalf of the Crown
to rescind or vary the contract by reason of the suppliant’s
defaults. .

I come now to the question of the effect upon the con-
tract of the mistake on the part of the officers of the Crown
in fixing the purchase price of annuities of the kind here
in question. The Attorney-General pleads that the rate
given the suppliant for the annuity in question was one
determined erroneously by an official or officials of the

(1) (1877) 3 AC. 115, (3) (1933) AC. 533.
(2) (1875) LR. 6 P.C. 354. (4) (1889) 2 Ex. CR. 67.
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Annuities Branch of the Department of Labour, and in a
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manner contrary to and unauthorized by the provisions Wi

of the Government Annuities Act, and particularly sec. 4 J°HNvSYKEs
thereof, or by any regulations made thereunder. Sec. 4 of TrzKiva.
the Act authorizes the Minister to contract with any person Maclean J.

for the sale of annuities, according to one of several plans.
Sec. 13 empowers the Governor in Council to make regu-
lations as to the rate of interest to be allowed in the
computation of the values of annuities, and as to the
preparation and use of tables for determining the value of
annuities, and the revocation of such tables and the prep-
aration and use of other tables, and certain regulations
were accordingly made thereunder.

In connection with Canadian Government Annuities
there was published, pursuant to s. 13 a manual contain-
ing the rates for determining the value of annuities at
different ages, and upon plans therein indicated, and which
rates are referred to by the Crown as “ authorized ” rates,
because they were approved of by the Governor in Coun-
cil. This approved manual of rates, it appears, makes no
provision for the case of an applicant for a deferred annuity,
according to plan B, whose age was the same as that of the
suppliant, upon the date of his application. For such and
some other cases a special table of rates was prepared by
hand, on one sheet of paper, by actuarial assistants to the
Superintendent of Annuities; and this table of rates had
been in use, in effect, and available to authorized agents,
in the Annuities Branch, I understand, for several years,
and it was resorted to by any authorized person when
quoting to applicants the cost of an annuity similar to
that applied for by the suppliant. This table of rates,
referred to as “office rates” by the Superintendent, it
is claimed by the Crown, was “unauthorized” because
the same was-never approved by the Governor in Council.
One of the regulations made under the provisions of s. 13
of the Act states that in the case of an application for
a contract where the rate to be charged is not obtainable
from the authorized tables, the said rate shall be the rate
“which the Actuary of the Department or Branch holding
office under the Act at the time being shall determine ”
in accordance with the provisions of s. 4 of the Act. I
have no doubt that it was under this regulation that the

Annuities Branch acted in eompiling what is called the
73007— 232
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“unauthorized ” rates, the source of the mistake here
alleged. It was just before the suppliant made his last
payment that the error in this table of values or rates was
discovered and it was accordingly amended no doubt, by
the actuarial officers of the Annuities Branch. It does not
appear that the amended rate was approved by the Gover-
nor in Counecil, and the Annuities Branch no doubt acted
under the regulation, in making the amended rate. The
amended rate had the effect of increasing very consider-
ably the cost of an annuity on the plan selected by the
suppliant, and for one at his age, and for which nearly
two years he believed was to give him $1,200 per year;
or, to state it in another way, the sum of money paid by
the suppliant, according to the amended rate, would pro-
vide an annuity of $944.47 instead of $1,200, a serious
reduction no doubt in the mind of the.suppliant. The
amended or new rate is now sought to be applied to the
suppliant’s contract which would, of course, vary the terms
of the contract. However, the rate quoted the suppliant
at the date of his application, was “the rate in effect
at the date of this contract,” to use the words of the
contract itself. It was a rate which had been in effect
for several years.

The Crown, it will be seen, relies upon an error made
by some actuarial officer or officers of the Annuities Branch
of the Department of Labour in fixing the value or cost of
an annuity contract of the type applied for by the sup-
pliant, and applicable to his age at the date of his appli-
cation, and which value or cost appeared in the table
prepared by the actuaries of the Annuities Branch. The
mistake relied on by the Crown to relieve him from his
obligation under the contract is therefore a unilateral one,
and not a bilateral one. This is not a case where both
parties have been in error as to some fact lying at the
root of the contract. Here, one party only, the Crown,
complains that he entered into the contract under a mis-
take of fact; and it was a mistake, it is claimed on behalf

"of the suppliant, to which he was not a party, or of

which he could be cognizant. It was a contract of sale
and purchase, the price or cost of the thing sold being
fixed by the seller, the Crown, who was authorized by the
Government Annuities Act to sell the thing, and to fix
the price or cost in the manner I have indicated.
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Mistake in the law of contract is usually a difficult
subject. The mistake alleged in this case is, I think, one
of fact, and not of law, and therefore we need not enquire
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as to what constitutes a legal mistake, probably the most TzeKNa.

troublesome branch of the law of mistake, a satisfactory
definition of which has not yet been found, according to
some text-writers. The authorities seem to be in agrce-
ment in making a distinetion between cases of mutual
mistake, and those of unilateral mistake; the former usual®
falls into two main divisions, (1) cases in which both
parties have contracted in the mistaken belief that some
fact which lies at the root of the contract is true, and
(2) cases where there has been no consensus ad idem, while
in cases of unilateral mistake only one party was in error,
or the victim of a mistake. That there should be a dis-
tinetion would seem reasonable and logical. One cannot
say that there appears to be any fixed rule of law appli-
cable to mutual mistakes, or to unilateral mistakes, because
of the numerous exceptions to be found in the case law.
Very many persuasive criticisms have been made of the
doctrine which permits of the rescission of a contract on
account of a unilateral mistake, and yet relief of that nature
has been granted. However, the courts, it would appear from
the decided cases, are not so willing to grant relief where
one party only has contracted under a mistake concerning
the true facts as where both have erred. I was referred
to a work on Mistake In The Law of Contract, by Champ-
ness, and in the author’s chapter on Unilateral Mistake, he
observes that it was obvious that the law of contract would
become a farce if a party could, after agreement, shed his
obligations by simply pleading that he had been mistaken
over some matter concerned with the contract, and yet
this author concedes that the courts will under certain
circumstances, and in accordance with certain principles,
evolved from time to time, relieve a party who has entered
into a contract under a mistaken belief, even though the
other contracting party was himself under no misappre-
hension as to the true facts. But generally, where a party
seeking to enforce a contract which he has entered into
in good faith, and unaware of a mistake of a fact made
by the other party, such lack of knowledge will as a rule
operate to make the contract enforceable, notwithstanding
the unilateral mistake. And the question here is whether

Ma,clea.n J.
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this case falls within this general rule, or whether it fallg

Woinam  within some exceptions to that rule. It was said by James
JomN BYZIS [ 5. in Tamplin v. James (1): “If a man will not take
T=r Kive. reagonable care to ascertain what he is contracting about
MacleanJ, he must take the consequences,” and in Halsbury, 2nd

Ed,, Vol. 23, page 14, I find this remark: “But the Court
will not interfere in favour of a man . . . who com-
mits a mistake without exercising the due diligence which
the law would expect of a reasonable and ecareful person,
nor will relief be granted when the ignorance was due to
the negligence of the party’s legal adviser.” In the case of
Scriviner v. Pask (2), where a builder took a contract for
some work to be completed for a certain sum relying upon
an erroneous statement of quantities taken out by an
architect, the other party not knowing of it or being in
any way responsible for the mistake, it was held the con-
tractor must perform the contract. And much the same
case is Islington Union v. Brentnall and Cleland (3),
where the defendants, in answer to the plaintiffs’ advertise-
ments tendered for the supply of coal for one year, which -
tender was duly accepted by the plaintiffs. The defendants
then sought to withdraw their tender on the ground that
the price quoted was a mistake, and the plaintiffs there-
upon bought elsewhere and sued the defendants for the
difference in price. It was held that the defendants were
not entitled to withdraw their tender once it had been
accepted by the plaintiff, and that in the absence of any
evidence of mala fides, the plaintiffs were held to be en-
titled to succeed in their action. The last two mentioned
cases are in effect very similar to the one under discussion.
Here the Crown was invited to make an offer for the sale
of a certain type of annuity contract, and an offer being
made it was accepted, and a contract entered into.

Now what are the facts in this case? The parties
assented to the same thing, at the same time, and there
was no reason on the part of either to suspect the possi-
bility of any mistake, and particularly would this be true
of the suppliant. The one was willing to sell an annuity
contract of a type for a stated amount, at a rate which
was in effect at the time, upon certain terms as to pay-

(1) (1880) 15 Ch. D. 215 at 221. (2) (1866) L.R.1 C.P. 715.
(3) (1907) 71 J.P. 407.
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ment, and the other party was willing to buy that annuity,
upon such terms, and each being in agreement as to the
vital elements in the transaction they entered into a con-
tract, which accurately expressed their minds. In contem-
plation of carrying out his obligation, as to payments under
the contract, covering a period of two years, the suppliant
was obliged to sell and did sell, from time to time, certain
assets which he possessed, from the proceeds of which he
was to make the instalment payments required by the
contract. And apparently he resigned his position in the
Ottawa Public Library to become effective shortly before
the first quarterly instalment would be paid him under the
contract, and before the mistake in question was dis-
covered. His position had therefore altered, and could not
be restored. The error in question was accessible only to
the Crown, and could not possibly be known or accessible
to the suppliant. The suppliant did not silently acquiesce
in a mistake of which he was cognizant. There was noth-
ing which the suppliant knew about annuity rates which
he could communicate to the officers or agents of the Crown,
in order to assist them in discovering an error made several
years earlier, in making up a table of rates. There was
nothing that would suggest to the suppliant that the actu-
aries of the Annuities Branch had made a mistake many
years back, or had acted carelessly or negligently. The
Annuities Branch had for years been willing to sell the
same annuity contract, at the same rate, to any other
applicant, and it is possible that they did so. The rate
quoted the suppliant was the rate in effect at the time,
and no mistake was made in quoting that rate. I doubt
if it can be said that any mistake was made by the Crown
when the annuity was sold to the suppliant. The mistake
made was referable to something else than the contract.
The discovery that the purchase price of the annuity con-
tract was unsound from an actuarial standpoint is not, in
my opinion, a sufficient ground for seeking to avoid the
obligations of the contract. If any loss ensues from the
error in question it should be borne by those who sold the
annuity.

Now as to the remaining point for discussion. I do not
think there can be any serious doubt as to the jurisdiction
of the Court to make a declaratory order as to the sup-
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pliant’s right to performance by the Crown of the contract

Jg?élégm ) in question. Sec. 36 of the Exchequer Court Act provides

. that in cases not provided for by that Act, or by rules
TreKive. made thereunder, the practice and procedure of the High
MacleanJ, Court of Justice in England shall regulate the practice

and procedure of the Exchequer Court. As the Exchequer
Court Rules do not contain any provision in respect of a
declaratory order, the English Rule is brought into force
by the provisions of Rule 2 of the Exchequer Court Prac-
tice. Order 25, rule 5, of the English Rules of the Supreme
Court of Judicature provides that: “ No action or proceed-
ing shall be open to objection on the ground that a merely
declaratory judgment or order is sought thereby, and the
Court may make binding declarations of right whether any
consequential relief is or could be claimed, or not.” In
the case of Dominion Building Corporation Ld. v. The
King, a Canadian case (1), Lord Tomlin, discussing the
competency of the Court to make a declaratory judgment
or order, said:

It is no doubt true that an operative order for specific performance
cannot be made against the Crown. In fact, no order can be made
against the Crown in the sense in which it can be made against the
subject, but under the Petition of Right Act, R.S. Can., 1906, c. 142, s. 8,
there is jurisdiction in respect of claims of the subject against the Crown
to consider and determine what is right to be done and, as their Lord-
ships do not doubt, to make a declaration as to the right of the subject
to specific performance if the circumstances justify it. It is, in their
Lordships’ opinion, too narrow a view to treat the applicability of the
rule as limited by reason of the status of the Crown. In the present
case their Lordships think that the circumstances are such as would have
justified an order for specific performance by a court of equity, had the
contest been one between two subjects.

In the same connection I might refer to Qu’Appelle Long
Lake Ry. Company v. The Queen (2), and the well known
case of Dyson v. The Attorney-General (3). Further, s. 18
of the Exchequer Court Act provides that the Court shall
have “exclusive original jurisdiction in all cases in which
demand is made or relief sought in respect of any matter
which might, in England, be subject of a suit or action
against the Crown,” and “in all cases in which the lands,
goods or money of the subject are in possession of the
Crown, or in which the claim arises out of a contract

entered into by or on behalf of the Crown.”

(1) (1933) A.C. 533 at 548. (2) (1901) 7 Ex. CR. 105.
(3) (1911) 1 KB.D. 410.
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I am of the opinion therefore that the suppliant is
entitled to a declaration to the effect that the Crown
should perform the terms of the contract, subject to a slight
qualification. I should have pointed out earlier that the
Crown does not seek here a rescission or reformation of the
contract. As already stated the suppliant made his pay-
ments under the contract irregularly, and it is conceded
that some amount would be due the Crown by way of
interest, which the suppliant stated he offered to pay, and
is still willing to pay. Mr. Blackadar, at my request, filed
of record a memorandum to the effect that assuming the
monthly premium payments of $260.20, quoted to the
suppliant and as set out in the annuity contract, to be
the correct rate to purchase an annuity of $1,200, the total
annuity to which the suppliant would be entitled would
be $1,159.78, by reason of his having made his payments
under the contract irregularly. I am assuming that this
figure is correct, and the declaration will be accordingly,
unless the parties agree otherwise in respect of any amount
justly due the Crown in respect of interest, in which event
the contract, of course, should be performed in its entirety.
The suppliant will have the costs of his petition.

Judgment accordingly.

ON AprPEAL FROM THE ONTARIO ADMIRALTY
DistricT

BeTwEEN: .
THE TUG CHAMPLAIN (DEreND- |
J ) f
AND

CANADA STEAMSHIP LINES LIM- R
ITED (PLAINTIFF) ........oeov.... ESPONDENT.

APPELLANT;

Shipping—Tug and tow—Tow damaged by coming in contact with a
hidden obstruction unknown to exist to either party—No negligence
on part of tug or tts officers—Duty of tug—Canada Evidence Act,
RS8.C., 1922, c. 69, s. 85 & s. 7—Canada Evidence Act determines
number of erpert witnesses that may be called in proceedings over
which Parliament of Canada has legislative jurisdiction — Appeal
allowed.

Respondent’s ss. Hamonic had laid in her winter moorings up a narrow
and uncharted channel leading from the St. Clair river. Appellant
tug was engaged by the captain of the Hamonic to tow her from
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1939 her winter berth to another berth in the Port of Sarnia, Ontario.
y During the towing operations the Hamonic encountered a submerged

C'rI;‘,,l;En;I;ﬂgn and unknown obstruction and sustained damage to her rudder.

v. Respondent brought action against the appellant. Judgment at trial
ST(IJEAA;ASDéIP was rendered in favour of respondent. On appeal the Court found
Lines Lo, that appellant tug was a “named” tug; that neither the appellant

—_ nor those in charge of her were negligent and that the accident was
MacleanJ. not due to any default of the tug.

- Held: That the obligation to carry out a towage contract requires only
that degree of caution and skill which prudent navigators usually
employ in such services.

2. That it was the appellant that was hired and any complaint alleged
against her must relate entirely to the question of the performance
of her duty under the towage contract.”

3. That the restriction of the number of expert witnesses that may be
called in proceedings over which the Parliament of Canada has legis-
lative jurisdiction is controlled by the Canada Evidence Act, RS.C,
1927, c. 59, and s. 35 of that Act is applicable here.

APPEAL from the judgment of the District Judge in
Admiralty for the Ontario Admiralty District allowing
plaintiff’s action.

The appeal was heard before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa.

Francis King, K.C. for appellant.

F. Wilkinson, K.C. for respondent.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

TaE PrESIDENT, now (January 14, 1939) delivered the
following judgment:

This is an appeal from a decision of His Honour Judge
Field, District Judge in Admiralty for the Ontario Admir-
alty District, in an action for damages for alleged negli-
gence on the part of the tug Champlain in towing, on April
10, 1933, the steamship Hamonic from her winter berth
to another berth in the Port of Sarnia, Ontario, during
which towing an injury occurred to the Hamonic. The
trial judge found for the owners of the Hamonic, Canada
Steamship Lines Ld., and the tug Champlain here appeals
therefrom. The judgment of the learned trial judge is to
be found in 1938 D.L.R., Vol. I, page 197. On the hear-
ing of the appeal I was a,smsted by Capt. J. W Kerr as
nautical assessor.

The writ in this action did not issue until March, 1934,
nearly one year after the cause of action arose. The state-
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ment of claim was not delivered till January 29, 1937, near-
ly three years after the issuance of the writ. In the mean-
time Captain Bolton Reid, the master of the tug Cham-
plain, had died, and other witnesses who might have testi-
fied on behalf of the Champlain had scattered and were not
available to her owners. Mr. King urged, as he did at the
trial, that because of the laches of the plaintiff in bringing
the action to trial the court should give the appellant the
benefit of every presumption which might be fairly in its
favour, and he referred to the cases of The Kong Magnus
(1), and The Mellona .(2). 1 agree fully with the sub-
mission of Mr. King in respect of this point, although I
do not quite understand why he did not move, long before
the trial, for the dismissal of the action. However, in my
view of the case the point is not one of great importance.
During the winter of 1922-23, the passenger ship
Hamonic lay in her winter moorings up a narrow and un-
charted channel leading from the St. Clair river, in the
Port of Sarnia. She was moored on the northwesterly side
of the dock belonging to the Dominion Salt Company,
locally known as the Salt Dock. The Hamonic was head-
ing in a northerly direction with her starboard side to the
dock, and was made fast fore and aft to the dock and she
also had her starboard anchor down. Tied upon her port
side was the ss. Huronic, another passenger ship, also owned
by the Canada Steamship Lines. The length of the
Hamonic was 349 feet, her breadth 50 feet, and her depth
34 feet, her registered tonnage being 3,295 tons. The length
of the Huronic was 321 feet, her breadth 43 feet, her depth
23 feet, her registered tonnage being 2,211 tons. The length
of the tug Champlain was 120 feet, her breadth 30 feet,
her depth 17 feet, and her registered tonnage 235 tons.
On or about April 8 1933, the master of the Hamonic,
Captain Johnston, acting on behalf of the Canada Steam-
ship Lines, employed the tug Champlain, through its
master, to shift the Hamonic from her winter berth to, I
assume, the berth usually occupied by her in the shipping
season in the Port of Sarnia. There appears to have been
no contract, express or implied in regard to the liability of
the tug for any damage that might be sustained to the
Hamonic in towing her out from her winter berth. Abreast

(1) (1891) P. 223 at 230. (2) (1847) 3 W. Rob. 7 at 10.
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the Salt Dock, which appears to be at the end of the navig-
able channel, the channel is from 90 to 100 feet wide,
and a very short distance down, where the accident here
occurred the channel is about 75 feet wide, or something
of that order, and there is a bend or jog in the channel,
extending outwardly and westerly between the Salt Dock
and the point where the aceident occurred to the Hamonic.
Both the master of the Hamonic and the master of the
Champlain were familiar with the channel, and its hazards,
the nature of which will later appear. It seems to be
agreed that the western boundary of the channel, beyond
which shoal water exists, is not clearly defined. A series
of piles are visible above the water but it is not definitely
established that these piles mark the top of the bank
where shoal water exists, or the edge of the bank where
deep water begins, or the edge of the channel shown on a
plan made by the Department of Public Works of Canada
in contemplation of dredging operations, and which appears
as an exhibit in the proceedings. It was admitted that
submerged piles were known to exist, or to have existed,
on the western side of the channel but doubt existed as
to how far these piles might be found off the bank of the
western side of the channel. It seems to have been ad-
mitted that when ships, with drafts which would allow
very little water under the keel in this channel, moved
their engines, there was a possibility of stirring up sunken
logs or piles which presumably would lay on the bottom
in a water-logged condition.

At the time appointed the tug Champlain approached
the dock where the Huronic and Hamonic were moored
but on aceount of the confined waters of the channel, and
the inability of the tug to turn, on account of her length,
in the vicinity of that dock, this manoeuvre was performed
at a distance off to allow the tug to back astern up to
the Huronic on which a tow line was made fast. The
Huronic was also to be towed out from her winter berth
on the same occasion by the Champlain, and being on the
outside of the Hamonic she was the first to be towed, and
both stern first. No trouble was encountered in towing
the Huronic out of the channel to her new berth. Lying,
as she was, on the port side of the Hamonic the Huronic
would from the start of the tow be in mid-channel or be
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west of mid-channel, and her course from the start would
be rather a straight one while proceeding down the chan-
nel, and the bend or jog in the channel would not ordinarily
be embarrassing to the tow or tug. The fact that no diffi-
culty or accident occurred in the towing of the Huronic,
does not in my opinion raise any presumption of negligence
against the tug in the towing of the Hamonic, when an
accident did occur. The towing of the Hamonic, starting
from the dock on the east side of mid-channel with the
outward bend or jog-in the channel just a short distance
down the channel, and the existence of another factor yet
to be mentioned, would present some possible difficulty.

The tug then returned to the Salt Dock for the Hamonic,
when the tow line was made fast. The starboard anchor
of the Hamonic which had been down all winter remained
there, and the chain cable which had been flaked on the
dock, was moved aboard until about 12 fathoms remained
out. It was decided to use the anchor as a drag to assist
in controlling the bow of the Hamonic, and in addition
it was decided to keep a head line ashore to check the
bow if necessary. It would appear from the evidence
that no strain came on this bow line from the time the
Hamonie left her berth until she struck some unknown
object in the channel, which resulted in this litigation.

There appears to be no definite record of the draft of
the Hamonic but it was agreed on both sides that it was
about 16 feet aft. This is of some importance because
on examining the depths of the channel as shown on the
plan of the Department of Public Works—which draft
should be reduced by -8 to 1-0 feet as indicated on the
plan—it will be seen that a ship drawing 16 feet might
touch bottom in certain parts of the channel. The fact
that the Huronic made the passage without mishap might
be partially explained by the fact that her draft was ad-
mitted to be less than the Hamonic, though the precise
draft was not clearly established.

When, upon an agreed signal the tow began, the
Hamonic moved astern, but there appears to be a diver-
gence of opinion whether she moved her engines astern,
or whether she kept them going slow or dead slow ahead
until her stern came close to the Sarnia Yacht Club Dock
when it was seen that the stern would have to be pulled
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1939 over to the westward to clear a pile driver moored a very
TanTve short distance to the south. The tug then pulled the stern
Champlain ot the Hamonic to the westward which was the proper
Canaps thing to do, but as the stern came down towards the pile
Lixes Lo, driver it was seen that the swing to the westward was -
Maclean . 20ing too far. The tug thereupon endeavoured to haul the
——  Hamonic towards the eastern side of the channel but on
account of the length of the tug, 120 feet, and the con-

fined waters in which she had to operate, the angle of

pull, my assessor advises me, which she could exert to

the eastward of a line drawn from the stem to the stern

of the Hamonic would not have the same effect as if she

had been able to get wide off on the quarter and pull at right

angles to the Hamonic’'s keel. This view of my assessor

seems reasonable and I endorse it without hesitation. This

is & matter of considerable importance.

When the stern of the Hamonic was about abreast of
the pile driver a submerged and unknown obstruction was
encountered which brought her to a stop, and she thereby
sustained rudder damage. It was suggested that the ob-
struction was on the bank of the western edge of the
channel but the evidence would indicate, I think, that the
obstruction was encountered somewhere between the mid-
channel line and the western bank of the channel, at least
it does not appear that the stern of the Hamonic touched
the western boundary of the navigable channel and that was
the view of the learned trial judge. Referring to the con-
duct of the master and crew of the Hamonic, he said:

But I find they were alert and did, by engine and rudder operations,
endeavour to prevent the steamer contacting the westerly shore. In that
endeavour their efforts were successful but a submerged pile was encoun-
tered with the disastrous results giving rise to this litigation.

The respondent’s statement of claim alleges that the stern
of the Hamonic was brought into contact with a submerged
pile or object. After the accident the Hamonic moved over
against some exposed upright piling and rested against
them, which would indicate that at that particular point
there was sufficient water to float the Hamonic on the
extreme western edge of the channel, and that the hidden
obstruction which the Hamonic struck was east of the edge
of the western bank of the channel. It must therefore be
accepted as a fact that the Hamonic did not strike the
western edge of the channel, while under tow, and that
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the injury to the Hamonic was caused by striking an un-
known obstruction in the navigable channel. It is sur-
mised that it was a submerged pile she struck, but it may
have been the ground as the master of the Hamonic him-
self suggested as a possibility, or a rock, or something else.
What it was she struck can never be definitely determined.

The obligation to carry out a towage contract requires
nothing more than that degree of caution and skill which
prudent navigators usually employ in such services. The
occurrence of an accident raises no presumption against
the tug, and the burden is on the complaining party to
prove & lack of ordinary care. A tug is not an insurer,
and this is particularly true of a “named” tug, and I
think the Champlain was a “named” tug, and though
the question is not, I think, of any great significance here,
yet I might briefly refer to the point because it is one
that was raised at the trial and on the appeal. Counsel for
the Hamonic, in his written argument following the trial,
admitted that there was only one tug available at Sarnia,
and the evidence supports this statement. There can be
no doubt that it was the services of the Champlain that
were hired by the master of the Hamonic; it could have
been no other tug, and I see no room for debate upon this
point. If the contract is for the hire of a “named” tug,
or a tug selected by the tow, there is no implied obligation
as to the fitness of the tug to perform the services required.

-In point of fact the tug here was one well equipped for

towing and that is not questioned, but it might be said
that ‘she was not the most suitable sort of tug for the
particular services here to be performed, on account of her
length. The Champlain was longer than the width of the
channel, and as I have already pointed out she could not
pull the Hamonic at right angles to her keel in coming
down the channel, if any situation developed which made
such an operation desirable. Some witness, I think, de-
seribed the Champlain as having been seen at right angles
to the Hamonic at one stage, but it is obvious that this
was not possible. The approximate length of the tug was
known no doubt to the master of the Hamonic when hired,
and if the Champlain were in this respect unsuitable for
the purposes for which she was hired, that cannot now be
made a ground of complaint against her. The respondent,
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having selected the Champlain for the tow, it cannot now
be heard to say that the accident was due to the length
of the Champlain and her inability to give a pull at right
angles to the Hamonic’s keel, when her stern came close
to the western side of the channel. Otherwise it matters
little, so far as I now see, whether the Champlain was a
“named ” tug or not. It was the Champlain that was
hired and any complaint now alleged against her must
relate entirely to the question of the performance of her
duty under the towage contract.

In the American case of The Margaret (1), the Supreme
Court of the United States, in the course of its judgment,
said:

The tug was not a common carrier, and the law of that relation has
no application here. She was not an insurer. The highest possible degree
of skill and care were not required of her. She was bound to bring to
the performance of the duty she assumed reasonable skill and care, and to

exercise them in every thing relating to the work until it was accom-
plished.

The same view of the law was expressed by the Supreme
Court of Canada, in the case of Sewell v. British Columbia
Towing and Transportation Company (2). In that case
Strong J., in reviewing the authorities, said:

In the face of the decisions in the cases of the Julia, 14 Moo. P.C. 210,
and in that of Spaight v. Tedcastle, 6 A.C. 217, it is difficult to see how
there can be any doubt as to the duties of a tug under circumstances
like those in evidence here. In the former case Lord Kingsdown lays it
down that:

“The law implies an engagement that each vessel would perform
its duty in completing the contract, that proper skill and diligence would
be used on board of each, and that neither vessel by neglect or mis-
conduct would create unnecessary risk to the other, or increase any risk
which would be incidental to the service undertaken.”

In Spaight v. Tedcastle, Lord Blackburn refers to this case of the
Julia with approval, saying that “it accurately and clearly states the
law.”

The judgment of the Supreme Court of the United States in the
case of the steamer Webb states the law as applicable to American waters
in the same terms; it says:

“The contract requires no more than that he who undertakes to
tow shall carry out his undertaking with that degree of caution and skill
which prudent navigators usually employ in similar services.”

Now, did the tug exercise that degree of caution and
skill reasonably to be expected of her? Neither the tug
nor the tow had knowledge of the submerged pile, or what-
ever was the obstruction that caused the accident. Infor-

(1) (1877) 94 US. 494, at 496. (2) (1883) 9 S.C.R. 527 at 543.
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mation as to this hidden hazard was not accessible to the .E;’f
master of the tug, and he was under no obligation to TmeTuve
ascertain before the tow began what water-logged piles, Chaﬁ}_pl“m
or obstructions, there were on the bottom of the channel; _Cavapa
. . SreEAMSHIP

he was not an insurer against unknown hazards of that Iiwes L.
nature. The towage would have been carried out without ppoicany.
any injury to the tow had it not been for this hidden —
obstruction. I do not think it can be said that a tug is
responsible for an accident to a tow which strikes an
unknown and submerged obstruetion, not appearing on any
chart, and where the depth of the water was known by
its master, the hirer of the tug, to leave but a narrow
margin of safety, and where it was known that water-
logged piles might unexpectedly be encountered. I know
of no principle which would sustain that proposition, and
I find no authority for it. The master of the Hamonic
gave as a reason for not putting his engines full speed
ahead, when it appeared that the swing of her stern to
the western edge of the channel was excessive, the possi-
bility of stirring up submerged piles. He understood that
this might happen at any time but neither he, nor the
master of the tug, could inform himself as to whether any
water-logged piles were located at any particular spot in
the channel, or when or where they might be encountered.
The master of a tug would probably render his tug liable
for damages sustained by a tow on account of striking
upon obstructions, or rocks, in a channel which ought to
have been known to him, as one experienced in its navi-
gation, but not for those which are unknown to him.

Further, here, the channel was only about 75 feet wide
where the accident oceurred and this would leave but little
water on either the port or starboard side of the Hamonic,
and I cannot think there was any obligation on the part of
the tug to keep the tow at all times precisely in mid-
channel to avoid the possibility of unknown obstructions
on the western side of mid-channel. The bend in the
channel, and the presence of the pile driver, made the
operation a very difficult one. I know of no principle upon
which the tug Champlain should be held liable because
of the fact that the Hamonic struck some unknown obstruc-
tion while in the navigable channel down which she was

being towed, and during which time she did not come in
74868—1a
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contact with the western limit of that channel. Nor do
I think the master of the tug was in any way negligent,
or failed to show that degree of caution or skill that
should be expected of him. In all the circumstances here,
I do not think that any negligence can be attached to the
tug on account of the fact that at one stage the stern of
the Hamonic got close to the western bank. The tug
promptly proceeded to correct that situation and between
her and the tow, the learned trial judge states, they suc-
ceeded. The Hamonic did rest against exposed piling on
the western bank for a short time, but that was subse-
quent to the accident. The towage would have been
performed without accident had it not been for the hidden
obstruction of which the tug had no knowledge. I do not
think that the tug, or those in charge of her, can be said
to have been negligent, or that the accident was due to
the default of the tug, and I do not think she should be
held liable for the injury caused the Hamonic. Upon this
ground I am of the opinion that the appeal should be
allowed. )

It was argued by Mr. King that if the tug were in fault
in any way, there was contributory negligence on the part
of the Hamonic in (1) having her starboard anchor down
close to the dock at the starting of the tow, instead of
having her port anchor down, and (2) in not putting her
engines full speed ahead in order to bring her to a full
stop, when it appeared that her stern was getting too close
to the western side of the channel; and it was contended
that this would be a bar to the respondent’s suczess having
regard to the law as it stood at the time of the accident,
1933, and in respect of the waters wherein it occurred. In
view of the conclusion which I have already expressed
regarding the liability of the Champlain it is not now
necessary to discuss the two points just mentioned.

There is just one further point upon which I feel I
should express briefly my opinion. At the trial, the appel-
lant called a fourth expert witness when the objection
was raised by counsel for the respondent that it was the
law of Ontario which applied in determining the number
of expert witnesses which might be called, and which law
limited the number to three. This objection was sustained
by the learned trial judge. Sec. 35 of the Canada Evi-

[
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-dence Act, R.S.C,, 1927, ¢. 59, provides that in all pro-

ceedings over which the Parliament of Canada has legis-
lative authority, the laws of evidence in force in the
province in which such proceedings are taken shall, subject
to the provisions of the Canada Evidence Act, and other
Acts of the Parliament of Canada, apply to such proceed-
ings, and s. 7 of the Act limits the number of expert wit-
nesses which may be called by either party to five. Neither
the Exchequer Court Act, nor the Admiralty Act of 1934,
make any provision in respect of the number of expert
witnesses that may be called by either of the parties. The
restriction of the number of expert witnesses that may be
called in proceedings over which the Parliament of Canada
has legislative jurisdiction is, I think, a matter controlled
by s. 35 of the Canada Evidence Act, and it was applicable
here. I think therefore that the appellant was entitled at
the trial to call and examine five expert witnesses, with-
out leave of the court. In my view of the case this point
is not now of importance, and it becomes unnecessary to
direct that the evidence-of the one or two expert witnesses
which the appellant proposed to call, should still be heard.

With great respect therefore I must disagree with the
conclusion reached by the learned trial judge, and I allow
the appeal with costs, both here and below.

Appeal allowed.

BeTwEEN:

MONTECATINI SOCIETA GENER-)
ALE PER L’ INDUSTRIA MIN-{ APPELLANT;
ERARIA ED AGRICOLA ........ J

AND
COMMISSIONER OF PATENTS...... RESPONDENT.

Patent—Appeal from Commissioner of Patents—Article 4 of the Union
Convention of Paris for the Protection of Industrial Property—Patent
Act, 26-26 Geo. V, c. 82, s. 27 (1), s. 81—PFiling date of patent—Filing
of assignment of patent—Appeal allowed.

Article 4 of the Union Convention of Paris for the Protection of Indus-
trial Property, ratified by the Dominion of Canada, provides: “(a) Any
person who has duly deposited an application for a patent . . . .
in one of the contracting countries . . . . shall enjoy, for the pur-
poses of deposit in the other countries . . . . a right of priority
during the periods hereinafter stated. (b) Consequently, a subsequent
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deposit in any of the other countries of the Union before the expira-
tion of these periods shall not be invalidated through any acts accom-
plished in the interval, either, for instance, by another deposit
. (¢) The above-mentioned periods of priority shall be twelve
months for Patents . . . . These periods start from the date of
deposit of the first application in a country of the Union, the day
of deposit is not included in the period.”

The Patent Act, 2526 Geo. V, c. 32, s. 27 (1) provides: “An applica~
tion for a Patent for an invention filed in Canada by any person
entitled to protection under the terms of any treaty or convention
relating to patents to which Canada is a party who has .
previously regularly filed an application for a patent for the same
invention in any other country: which by treaty, convention or law
affords similar privilege to citizens of Canada, shall have the same
force and effect as the same application would have if filed in
Canada on the date on which the application for patent for the
same invention was first filed in such other country, provided the
application in this country is filed within twelve months from the
earliest date on which any such application was filed in such other
country” . . . .

Held: That where an application for a patent was filed in Ttaly on
December 31, 1936, and another application for a patent for the
same invention was filed in Canada by the same applicant on
December 29, 1937, the applicant for such patent is entitled to a
filing date in Canada of December 29, 1937, and to the benefit of
the filing date in Italy of December 31, 1936.

2, That the filing with the Commissioner of Patents of an assignment of
a patent within the delay prescribed by s. 31 of the Patent Act for
completion of an application for a patent, is sufficient and valid.

APPEAL from the decision of the Commissioner of
Patents rejecting appellant’s application for Letters Patent
and refusing appellant’s request for the benefit of a certain
filing date.

The appeal was heard before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Angers, at Ottawa.

R. 8. Smart, K.C. and G. H. Riches for appellant.
W. P. J. OMeara, K.C. for respondent.
The facts are stated in the reasons for judgment.

ANcERrs, J., now (January 5, 1939) delivered the follow-
ing judgment:

Appeal from the decision of the Commissioner of Patents
dated February 28, 1938, rejecting the application of Mon-
tecatini Societa Generale per I'Industria Mineraria ed Agri-
cola, of Milan, Italy, for letters patent for an invention
concerning “a process for the simultaneous manufacture
of calcium nitrate and carbon dioxide,” and from the de-
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cision of said Commissioner dated January 14, 1938, refus-
ing appellant’s request for the benefit of a date of filing
based on appellant’s application for the same invention
filed in Italy on December 31, 1936, the said appeal dis-
missed by judgment of August 24, 1938, and coming up
for re-hearing following ‘an order of October 14, 1938,
rescinding the judgment of the 24th of August, 1938, and
adjudging that the appeal be re-argued.

In an affidavit filed in support of the appellant’s appli-
cation for leave to re-open the appeal for argument, the

affiant alleges (inter alia):

(2) That I am advised by the Commissioner of Patents, and do
verily believe that since the coming into force of the Patent Act, 1935,
Section 26 of that Act has been interpreted by him and by the persons
practising before the Canadian Patent Office, as meaning that an appli-
cant for patent may obtain a valid patent in Canada provided that his
application is filed either before his first foreign patent issues, or alter-
natively, before one year from the date of the filing of his first foreign
application has expired, with the consequence that a very large propor-
tion, probably well over 50%, of the patents granted under the Patent
Act, 1935, have been granted on applications which were filed in the
Canadian Patent Office more than one year after the filing of the first
foreign application, but prior to the issuance of the first foreign patent,
or alternatively, which have been filed within the Convention year but
after the first foreign patent has issued.

3. That the question determined by the judgment herein is accord-
ingly one of very great public importance and I am informed, and do
verily believe, that the point was not argued on the hearing of the
appeal from the decision of the Commissioner, but believe that the cnly
point which was argued was as to whether or not it was necessary that
an assignment be filed before a filing date might be given by the
Commissioner of Patents to an application for patent filed by an assignee
of the inventor. B

(4) That under the provisions of the International Convention for
the Protection of Industrial Property, to which Canada is an adberent,
and of section 27 of the Patent Act, 1935, an application for a Canadian
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The petition made in the name of and signed by Monte-
catini Societa Generale per 'Industria Mineraria ed Agri-
cola, through its attorneys, contains, among others, the
following statements:

(1) That Gerlando Marullo, of Milan, Italy, made the invention
entitled “ A Process for the Simultancous Manufacture of Caleium
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Nitrate and Carbon Dioxide ” which is described and deﬁned in the
attached specification.

(3) Your petitioner requests that this application be treated as
entitled to priority as follows, having regard to the following applica-
tions for patent heretofore made in other countries:

ITALY, Serial No. 347,231, filed on Dec. 31st, 1936.
The petition makes no mention of the assignment by the
patentee, Gerlando Marullo, of his right, title and interest
in and to the said invention.

This petition was sent to the Commissioner of Patents in
Ottawa by the applicant’s solicitors in a letter dated
December 28, 1937, reading in part as follows:

We are now enclosing herewith the necessary papers for filing an
application for Canadian Letters Patent in the name of “ Montecatini”
Societa Generale per l'Industria Mineraria ed Agricols, as assignee of
the inventor, Gerlando Marullo, for the invention “ A Process for the
Simultaneous Manufacture of Calcium Nitrate and Carbon Dioxide.”

It will be noted that the applicant is claiming the priority date of
the corresponding Italian application Serial No. 847,231, filed Dec. 31st,
1936. A certified copy of the supporting document will be filed in due
course.

We would advise you that the application has been assigned to
applicant company and we have been advised that the assignment has
been mailed to us. In view of the fact that the convention date expires
December 381st, we are filing the application immediately in order to
obtain the Convention date. The assignment will be forwarded as soon
as it is received.

Accompanying the application is the prescribed Government Filing
Fee of FIFTEEN DOLLARS ($15.00)

As may be noted, the letter states that the application
has been assigned to the applicant company.

On December 30, 1937, the Commissioner of Patents sent
to the applicant’s solicitors the following telegram:

Cannot enter Marullo application until assignment received as your
power from assignee.

On December 31, 1937, the applicant’s solicitors w:Lred
to the Comm1ss1oner as follows:

Re your telegram re Gerlando Marullo application assighment received
today executed December 16 establishing our power of attorney (Stop)
Application entitled to receive filing date under rule 12 (Stop) Advise
immediately by wire if given todays filing date (Stop) Assignment in
mail to you.

On the same day the applicant’s solicitors wrote to the
Commissioner the following letter:

Further to our telegram of December 3lst, copy of which is enclosed
herewith, we are enclosing herewith assignment in duplicate together
with the preseribed Government Fee for registering the same.
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We are also enclosing herewith the Oath of Inventorship which hag
been duly executed by the inventor and we would ask you to file these
documents with the app]icatipn. .

On January 3, 1938, the Commissioner wired to appli-
cant’s solicitors as follows:

Assignment Marullo application received today filing date January
third.

In a letter dated January 11, 1938, the Commlssmner
confirmed his telegram.

On January 14, 1938, the Commissioner wrote to appli-
cant’s solicitors; his letter reads in part as follows:

I beg to advise that the apphcatlon_ was entered and given a filing
date and serial number on the 3rd insts ht. The request for the benefit

of a date of filing in Ttaly on the 3lst of December, 1936, may not be
granted.

On February 21, 1938, the applicant’s solicitors wrote to
the Commissioner the following letter:

At a personal interview which we had with the Commissioner rela-
tive to the above entitled application, we again requested that this
application be given a filing date as of the 30th day of December, 1937,
_ the day upon which this application was received in the Patent Office.
The request was again refused.

The Italian Patent referred to in the application and which corre-
sponds to the invention described and claimed in the application was
granted on April 2nd, 1987 as No. 347,231. As explained to the Com-
missioner we are desirous of taking an appeal to the Exchequer Court
to have this question decided, we request an early action by the Examiner.

At the interview, we pointed out to the Commissioner that the oath
required by the-Act had not been filed and that we could not file it in
proper form until this question has been determined. The Commissioner
gtated that the requested action could be given without the oath being
filed.

On February 28, 1938, the Commissioner rendered the
following decision:

This application, bearing a filing date of January 38, 1938, corresponds
to an Italian application filed December 31, 1936, which matured into
patent April 2, 1937. This is contrary to Section 26 (2) of the Act. The
case i3 consequently rejected under the provisions of this section.

On March 11, 1938, the Commissioner wrote to appli-
cant’s solicitors in part as follows:

In reply to the question contained in the last paragraph of your
letter you are advised that your letter of the 28th of December with the
accompanying papers reached the Office on the 29th of December, 1937,
and your further letter of the 31st of December with the required assign-
ment on the 3rd of January, 1938.

A copy of the Italian letters patent for invention and
a translation thereof were sent to the Commissioner and
form part of the file of the Patent Office; they show that
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the application for the letters patent in Italy, made in
the name of the present appellant, was filed on December
31, 1936, and that the letters patent were issued on April
2, 1937.

The decision of the Commissioner is based on subsection
(2) of section 26 which, in my opinion, has no application
to the present case; in view of the Union Convention for
the Protection of Industrial Property hereinafter referred
to, the question at issue is governed by subsection (1) of
section 27,

At the re-hearing counsel for appellant relied on sub-
section (1) of section 27 of the Patent Act and on clauses
(a), (b) and (¢) and paragraph 4 of clause (d) of Article
4 of the Union Convention of Paris of the 20th of March,
1883, for the Protection of Industrial Property, revised at
Brussels on December 14, 1900, at Washington on June 2,
1911, and at The Hague on November 6, 1925, the ratifica-
tion whereof by Canada was deposited at The Hague on
May 1, 1928.

Clauses (a), (b) and (c¢) of said Article 4 (English
translation) read as follows:

(@) Any person who has duly deposited an application for a patent,
or for the registration of a utility model, industrial design or model, or
trade mark in one of the contracting countries, or his legal representative
or assignee, shall enjoy, for the purposes of deposit in the other countries,
and reserving the rights of third parties, a right of priority during the
periods hereinafter stated. )

(b) Consequently, a subsequent deposit in any of the other countries
of the Union before the expiration of these periods shall not be invali- -
dated through any acts accomplished in the interval, either, for instance,
by another deposit, by publication or exploitation of the invention, by
the putting on sale of copies of the design or model, or by use of the
mark.

(¢) The above-mentioned periods of priority shall be twelve months
for patents and utility models, and six months for industrial designs and
models and trade marks.

These periods start from the date of deposit of the first application
in a country of the Union; the day of deposit is not included in the
period.

If the last day of the period is a dies non in the country where pro-
tection is claimed, the period shall be extended until the first follow-
ing working day.

The fourth paragraph of clause (d) of Article 4 has no
materiality herein.

Subsection (1) of section 27 of the Patent Act reads
thus:

27. (1) An application for a patent for an invention filed in Canada
by any person entitled to protection under the terms of any treaty or
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convention relating to patents to which Canada is a party who has, or
whose agent or other legal representative has, previously regularly filed
an application for a patent for the same invention in any other country
which by treaty, convention or law affords similar privilege to citizens
of Canada, shall have the same force and effect as the same application
would have if filed in Canada on the date on which the application for
patent for the same invention was first filed in such other country,
provided ‘the application in this country is filed within twelve months
from the earliest date on which any such application was filed in such
other country or from the thirteenth day of June, 1923,

The period of priority in the present instance com-
menced on the 1st of January, 1937, the day of deposit
of the application in Italy not being included in the period;
it extended to December 31, 1937, inclusive.

Counsel for appellant urged that his client was entitled
to a filing date as of the 29th of December, 1937, which
is the date on which the application was received by the
Commissioner; together with the filing fee of $15, and that
the deposit of the assignment with the application was
not necessary.

According to subsection (1) of section 26 of the Patent
Act the application for a patent must set forth the facts,
which I assume to mean all the essential facts. The right,
title and interest in and to the invention is, in my opinion,
an essential fact; if the same is derived from an assign-
ment, I think that the assignment must be alleged in the
petition. There is no provision to that effect in the Patent
Act; there is none either in the rules. Rule 5, however,
states that forms of proceedings will be found in the
appendix to the rules; it adds that in proceedings for
which no form is provided any form conformable to the
letter and the spirit of the law will be accepted.

There is in the appendix a form of petition for a patent
for invention, namely, form I. It contains the following
allegation: :

(2) That the right to obtain a patent on such invention has been
assigned or transmitted to Your Petitioner as appears from the document
submitted herewith.

A marginal note says:

Omit this paragraph if the application is made by the inventor.

I may point out incidentally that, under section 12 of
the Act, the Governor in Council on the recommendation
of the Minister may make, amend or repeal such rules and

105
1039

A
MonTECA-
TINI
V.
Commis-~
SIONER

OF

PaTENTS. -

AngersJ.



106 EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA . [1939

1939 regulations and prescribe such forms as may be deemed

N ot .
Montrca expedient:
TINT (a) For carrying into effect the objects of this Aect, or for ensuring

Con?iuls« the due administration thereof by the Commissioner and other officers
stoner and employees of the Patent Office; and
PAT(I');;TS ®) . .....
’ (¢) In particular with respect to the following matters:
Angers J. (i) the form and contents of applications for patents.

The petition, as previously noted, makes no mention of
the assignment; the letter accompanying it, however,
signed by the attorneys who signed the petition on behalf
of the applicant, states that the “application” has been
assigned to the applicant and that the assignment has
been mailed to them. Notwithstanding the fact that the
petition is not entirely in compliance with form I of the
Appendix to the Rules and lacks a declaration concerning
the assignment, I feel inclined to overlook this omission
in view of the statement relating to the assignment con-
tained in the letter and of the fact that the Commissioner
raised no objection against the form of the petition. Indeed
the Commissioner, on receipt of the petition, wired the
applicant’s attorneys as follows: “ Cannot enter Marullo
application until assignment received as your power from
assignee.” Had the Commissioner objected to enter the
application because it did not mention the assignment from
Marullo to the applicant, the latter could have amended
the petition and added thereto an-allegation' referring to
the agsignment. In view of these particular circumstances,
I do not think that the omission aforesaid, likely due to the
haste in which the petition was drawn, should deprive the
applicant of its right to a patent, assuming of course that
he has fulfilled the requirements of the law.

If the petition, as a general rule, must mention the
assighment, I do not think that the assignment need be
filed with the petition.

Rule 12 of the Rules, Regulations and Forms under the
Patent Act approved by Order in Council of the 26th of
September, 1935, stipulates that:

Applications transmitted to the Office shall be regarded as incom-
plete unless they contain a petition, specifications in duplicate, triplicate
copies of claims, drawings in duplicate and one set on bristol board if
such are required by the specification, power of attorney if given and
appointment of representative if required, all accompanied by the pre-
seribed filing fee.
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No mention is made in this rule of the assignment.

Section 31 of the Act enacts that each application for
a patent shall be completed and prepared for examination
within twelve months after the filing of the application;
it adds that in default thereof or upon failure of the appli-
cant to prosecute the same within six months after any
action thereon of which notice shall have been given to
the applicant, such application shall be deemed to have
been abandoned. I believe that the filing of the assign-
ment with the Commissioner within the delay prescribed
in section 31 would be sufficient and valid.

The appellant’s application was filed within the period
prescribed by clause (c¢) of Article 4 of the Union Con-
vention for the Protection of Industrial Property and sub-
section (1) of section 27 of the Patent Act, 1935, ie.,
within twelve months from and exclusive of the 31st of
December, 1936 (the date of deposit of the application in
Ttaly), namely, on the 29th of December, 1937; the appel-
lant’s application is accordingly entitled to a filing date
of the 29th of December, 1937; it is also entitled to the
benefit of the filing date in Italy on the 31st of December,
1936.

The decisions of the Commissioner of Patents of the
14th of January and the 28th of February, 1938, are con-
trary to the terms of the Union Convention for the Pro-
tection of Industrial Property and subsection (1) of section
27 of the Patent Act and they are accordingly reversed and
set aside.

There will be no order as to costs.

Appeal allowed.
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1938  BrRTWEEN:
e

Nov.23&4 MAGAZINE REPEATING RAZOR
1939 CO. OF CANADA LIMITED, AwnD

Feb.7. MAGAZINE REPEATING RAZOR( 1 VAINTIFFS;
COMPANY oo |

AND ‘

SCHICK SHAVER LTD. ............. DEFENDANT.

Trade mark—Infringement—Licence to use name as trade mark—Obliga-
tion on part of licensee to surrender any rights acquired under the
licence upon termination thereof—Acquiescence in wuse of mark—
Amendment of registered trade mark.

The action is for infringement of a trade mark, consisting of the word

“Schick,” registered by the Magazine Repeating Razor Company, in

August, 1927, to apply to safety razors of all kinds, razor blades

“ghaving machines” . . . and other articles. The defend-

ant by counter-claim, asks that the trade mark registration be

modified so as to exclude therefrom any reference to “shaving
machines.” -

Plaintiffs’ razors are sold under the name of “Schick Injector Razor
and “Schick Repeating Razor”; the defendant uses the word
“Schick ” in connection with what it calls “shaving machines” an
electrically operated dry shaving apparatus which is sold under
the name of “Schick Shaver.”

By certain agreements made in March, 1925, and in May, 1927, one,
Jacob Schick, agreed to transfer to the plaintiff, Magazine Repeating
Razor Company, or its predecessor, Sharp Manufacturing Company,
a patent owned by him and several pending patent applications, and

' the exclusive right to manufacture and sell throughout the world
the safety razors and blades covered by the patent and patent
applications, and also certain inventions and discoveries he had
made in connection with razors or blades, or machinery or processes
for manufacturing the same, Schick agreed that the Corporation
might use the word “Schick ” in conuection with the razors, blades
and other articles and that such razors, blades or other articles
might be marked or associated with the name of “Schick.” He
also agreed, by paragraph XI of the agreement of May, 1927, thab .
if, during the life of that agreement, he should “make any inven-
tion or discovery relating to the art of shaving, other than inven-
tions or discoveries relating to razors or blades or machinery or
process for the manufacture thereof,” he would disclose the same
to the company and make application for letters patent thereon
and assign the same to the company.

By an agreement entered into on January 1, 1929, the company released
Schick from his obligations under paragraph XI of the 1927 agree-
ment in so far as that paragraph applied to ‘“shaving machines.”
By a licence agreement dated January 1, 1929, Schick, then the
owner of letters patent relating to “shaving machines” which had
been named “ Sechick Dry Shavers,” licensed the company to manu-
facture and sell in the United States, and foreign countries, under
the name “Schick,” the shaving machines described and disclosed



Ex. CR.] EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA

in his patents or patent applications relative to the same. The
licensee agreed that all shaving machines which it or its agents
might manufacture, would be marked with the name “Schick,” and
would be advertised, offered for sale, and sold, under the name
“Schick.” The company later terminated the licensing argeement
effective as of July 1, 1930, by an agreement entered into in May,
1930; certain mutual releases were agreed upon, and the company
agreed that “all rights relative to Schick Dry Shavers and Shav-
ing Machines . . . heretofore granted to it by Schick under said
agreement dated January 1, 1929, is now terminated and at an end.”
Schick then organized a company in the United States, known as
Schick Dry Shavers Inc. to manufacture the shaving machine and
gell it in the TUnited States and other countries, which article
" became widely known and was widely advertised as  Schick
Shaver.” The Magazine Repeating Razor Company continued to
sell and advertise its safety razor under the name of “Schick
Injector. Razor ” and “ Schick Repeating Razor.” The Ragzor Com-
pany, in 1938, brought this action against defendant company.

Held: That by the agreement of May, 1927, the Magazine Repeating
Razor Company was to have the right to use the name of Schick
only in connection with the safety razors and blades covered by
the Schick patents and patent applications referred to in that agree-
ment.

2. That the compulsory use of the name “Schick” in connection with
dry shavers, in the licensing agreement of January 1, 1929, was a
condition imposed by Schick, and the acceptance of that condition
was an admission that Schick had a right to use his own name, on
his dry shaver, if he chose so to do.

8. That if the owner of a patent licenses another to make his inven-
tion, and requires as a term of the licence that the inventor’s
name be marked on the article invented, which condition the licensee
accepts, and the licensee later terminates the licence and surrenders
back to the licensor all' rights acquired under the licence, then
the licensor is free to make and sell his invention with his name
marked thereon. :

4. That the Magazine Repeating Razor Company had not the right to
register or maintain on the register the trade mark “Schick” in
connection with “shaving machinery.”

5. That the plaintiffs acquiesced in the use of the word mark “Schick”
by the defendant in connection with its dry shavers.

6. That any confusion resulting from the use of the name * Schick”
is a consequence of the agreement and understanding of the parties
and the plaintiffs must accept any inconvenience resulting from a
gituation which they helped to create.

ACTION by plaintiffs asking for an injunction restrain-
ing defendant from infringing plaintiffs’ trade mark rights.

The action was tried before the Honourable Mr. Justice
Maclean, President of the Court, at Ottawa. )

R. 8. Smart, K.C. and M. B. Gordon for plaintiffs.

J. D. Kearney, K.C., E. G. Gowling and R. de W.
MacKay for defendant.
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The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

THr PresmeNT, now (February 7, 1939) delivered the
following judgment:

This action is one for infringement of a trade mark,
consisting of the word “ Schick,” registered by the second-
named plaintiff, in August, 1927, pursuant to the terms
of the Trade Mark and Design Act which was then in
force, as applied to the sale of razors of all kinds, safety
razors of all kinds, razor blades and blade holders, and
many other articles, including “shaving machines,” the
latter of which enters largely into the debate here. The
plaintiffs’ razors are sold under the name of Schick In-
jector Razor, and Schick Repeating Razor, and perhaps
under another name. The defendant uses the word
““Schick” in connection with what it calls ‘“shaying
machines,” otherwise an electrically operated dry shaving
apparatus, and which frequently will be referred to as a
“dry shaver,” and sometimes as “Schick Dry Shaver.”
It is sold under the name of “Schick Shaver,” the first
word being the name of its inventor, but, so far as I
know, those words are not registered in Canada, as a
trade mark.

The first named plaintiff is a Canadian corporation hav-
ing its principal office at Niagara Falls, Ontario, the other
plaintiff being a corporation incorporated in the United
States, and which owns or controls the Canadian cor-
poration. The defendant is a company incorporated under
the Companies Act of the Bahamas Islands, its head office
being in Nassau, Bahama Islands, and it is licensed to do
business in the Province of Quebec, its principal place of
business in such province being at St. Johns. One, Jacob
Schick, was the founder of this company, and any of its
Canadian predecessors, and of a United States company,
Schick Dry Shaver Inc., the shares of the latter being
now wholly owned by the defendant company here, and
it is his name that figures so prominently in this case.
Schick is now deceased, and his interest in such companies
is now owned by his widow, with the exception of qualify-
ing shares. The facts of this case are, in many respects,
somewhat unusual, and I shall at once endeavour to state
the most prominent of them. '
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About 1920 Schick directed his mind towards the in-
vention of safety razors, and blades for use therein, for
which he or his assignees later obtained letters patent.
There came a time when a syndicate was organized for
the purpose of exploiting such inventions as Schick had
then made, and later, doubtless for the same purpose,
there was incorporated in the United States a company
under the name of Sharp Manufacturing Corporation, the
name of which corporation was subsequently changed to
Magazine Repeating Razor Company, the second named
plaintiff in this proceeding, hereafter to be referred to as
“the Razor Company.” By 1925 Schick had become the
owner of one United States patent, and had pending in
the United States Patent Office several applications for
other patents of invention, all relating to a certain safety
razor and blades to be used therein, and that year saw
the beginning of transactions between Schick and the
Razor Company, the latter being still known as Sharp
Manufacturing Corporation, which ultimately gave rise
to this litigation, and to that I now turn.

In March, 1925, an agreement was entered into between
Schick and Sharp Manufacturing Corporation wherein
Schick agreed to transfer to Sharp Manufacturing Cor-
poration the patent which he then owned, and his several
pending patent applications, the consideration being the
payment of stated sums of money and certain royalties.
The Sharp Manufacturing Corporation was to have the
exclusive right to manufacture and sell throughout the
world the safety razors and blades covered by the said
patent and patent applications. By this agreement Schick
also granted to Sharp Manufacturing Corporation all
“ trade marks, trade names and all other privileges relating
to said safety razors and blades.” In point of fact, Schick
does not appear to have had at this time any registered
or unregistered trade marks, or trade names, and it is
unlikely that he, or any one on his behalf, was manu-
facturing or selling any safety razor, but that in any
event is not of importance. In the event of default by
the Sharp Manufacturing Corporation in respect of the
conditions of the agreement that corporation was to con-
vey and deliver back to Schick any patents and patent
applications, and any and all rights, which it had acquired
in virtue of this agreement.
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In May, 1927, a second agreement, supplemental to
that of 1925, was entered into between Schick and the
Razor Company, formerly Sharp Manufacturing Corpora-
tion, wherein Schick agreed to transfer to the Razor Com-
pany further applications for patents of inventions which
he had made since the date of the first agreement, and
which related to safety razors and their blades, and also
certain inventions and discoveries he had made in connec-
tion with razors or blades, or machinery or processes for
manufacturing the same, and for which he had not yet
filed applications for letters patent in the United States.

One important term of that agreement was the following:

Schick agrees that the Corporation may use the name “Schick”
in connection with the razors, blades and other articles, on the sale
of which royalties are payable under the provisions of this paragraph IV,
and that such razors, blades or other articles may be marked or asso-
ciated with the name of “Schick.”

The agreement also provided that in the event of any
default in the payment of royalties or of any deficiency
under paragraphs IV or V of the agreement, Schick had
the right, upon giving a written notice of such default,
and if the default continued for a stated period, to ter-
minate the agreement, in which event the Razor Company
obligated itself, inter alia, to assign and transfer back to
Schick all letters patent and applications for letters patent,
acquired from Schick under this agreement and the agree-
ment of 1925, “ and also the right to use the name ‘Schick’
in connection with the manufacture and sale of razors,
blades and other articles.”

Schick also agreed, in paragraph XI of the agreement,
that if, during the life of the argeement, he should “make
any invention or discovery relating to the art of shaving,
other than inventions or discoveries relating to razors or
blades or machinery or process for the manufacture there-
of,” he would disclose the same to the Razor Company,
and make and file applications for letters patent thereon
in the United States and such foreign countries as he
deemed advisable, and would assign such applications for
letters patent to the Razor Company, upon terms to be
reached in the manner provided by the agreement. This
provision probably was inserted in the agreement because
Schick was then engaged in developing his shaving '
machine, reducing it to practice as they say in the United
States, and which the plaintiffs claim is the offending
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instrument in this cause. The next agreement to which
I am about to refer rather affirms this.

On January 1, 1929, two agreements were entered into
between Schick and the Razor Company, in one of which
the Razor Company released Schick from his obligations
under paragraph XI of the agreement of 1927, the para-
graph to which I have just above referred, in so far as
that parargaph applied to “shaving machines,” which
term for the first time appears in the argeements. Shav-
ing machines, as there used, had reference to Schick’s dry
shaver, and both parties seemed to be in agreement that
“shaving machines” properly described this invention of
Schick, and that they were to be distinguished from the
safety razors, the earlier of Schick’s inventions. The other
agreement of the same date is designated as a “licence
agreement.” At this time Schick was the owner of the
letters patent relating to “shaving machines,” and he
had also applications for patents pending, covering the
same subject-matter. This shaving machine had been
given the name of “Schick Dry Shavers,” and the licen-
sing agreement states that the expression, “Schick Dry
Shavers,” was used to designate “shaving machines,”
and a brief description is given of such a shaving machine.
Schick licensed the Razor Company to manufacture and
sell, in the United States, and foreign countries, under
the name of “ Schick,” the shaving machines disclosed in
his patents or patent applications relative to the same.
The licensee, the Razor Company, agreed that all shaving
machines which it or its agents might manufacture, would
be marked with the name of “Schick,” and they were
to be advertised, offered for sale, and sold, under the name
of “Schick,” and this is a very important point in the
dispute here. It was an obligation imposed upon the
licensee by Schick, the licensor. If the Razor Company
defaulted in its covenants under the licensing agreement,
Schick might terminate the licence, after notice of such
default as prescribed by the licensing agreement, and the
Razor Company on written notice might also terminate
the licensing agreement at either of several dates therein
specified. If the licensee terminated the licensing agree-
ment, the Razor Company obligated itself to transfer and
deliver back to Schick the entire business or businesses

of manufacturing and selling shaving machines then con-
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ducted by it, or any of its agents, the good will thereof,
and all “trade marks and trade names used exclusively
in connection therewith, the exclusive right to use the
name of ‘Schick’ upon or in connection with shaving
machines . . .’

The Razor Company embarked upon the manufacture
of Schick’s Dry Shavers, experimentally only, and for
reasons which I need not pause to state, it terminated
the licensing agreement effective as of July 1, 1930. In
May, 1930, another agreement was entered into between
the same parties, whereby certain mutual releases were
agreed upon, and it is therein stated that the Razor
Company agrees that any and “all rights relative to
Schick Dry Shavers and shaving machines, . . . here-
tofore granted to it by Schick under said agreement dated
January 1, 1929, is now terminated and at an end.”

A few words might conveniently here be said in refer-
ence to the trade mark here said to be infringed. In
March, 1927, the Razor Company applied for the regis-
tration of the word “ Schick,” in Canada, under the Trade
Mark and Design Act then in force, as a specific trade
mark. The mark was to apply to safety razors of all
kinds, razor blades, . . . ‘“shaving machines” and a
wide range of other articles such as shaving brushes, phar-
maceutical products, toilet preparations and perfumery.
At the time of this registration the Razor Company was
not manufacturing or selling shaving machines, in Canada
or elsewhere, and in fact none had ever yet been made
by -anybody so far as I know, but Schick was no doubt

then developing and perfecting his shaving machine, or

dry shaver, and probably this had been disclosed to the
Razor Company. By the licensing agreement of 1929, to
which I have already referred, it will be remembered that
Schick licensed the Razor Company to manufacture and
sell hig shaving machine, but the licensee shortly after-
wards terminated the licence and never in fact manufac-
tured, unless experimentally, what was then known as a
shaving machine, or as Schick Dry Shaver. By way of
counter-claim the defendant asks that the trade mark
registration of the Razor Company be modified so as to
exclude therefrom any reference to “shaving machines.”
It does not appear whether Schick in his lifetime was
informed of the Canadian registration of the mark in
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question, but apparently the defendant company became
aware of that reigstration only in 1938, the year in which
this action was launched.

When the Razor Company terminated its licence to
manufacture and sell the Schick dry shaver, or shaving
machine, Schick proceeded to organize a company in the
United States, known as Schick Dry Shavers Ine., to
manufacture this article for sale in the United States and
other countries, and the article in the course of time
‘became widely known, and was widely advertised, as
“Schick Shaver.” In the meanwhile the Razor Company
was selling and advertising its safety razor under the name
of “Schick Injector Razor” and “Schick Repeating Razor.”
This all resulted in leaving the impression among a number
of people in Canada and the United States that both the
electric dry shaver and the safety razor were manufac-
tured by the Razor Company. At one stage the Razor
Company was in receipt of many inquiries addressed to
it respecting Schick’s dry shaver. These communications
at one time were quite mumerous and may have caused
some inconvenience to the Razor Company, but as both
concerns were then in friendly relations, the Razor Com-
pany would at once forward the same to Schick’s own
company. Schick and his company appear to have been
willing and anxious to do everything possible to abate this
inconvenience or confusion, which, I am satisfied, has
gradually diminished and is of small proportions to-day.
From time to time complaint would be made by the Razor
Company over the form which certain advertising of
Schick’s Dry Shaver Inc. was taking—possibly, at times
with some cause—and which it was claimed was calcu-
lated to cause confusion in the public mind as to the
origin of the respective articles. But it would seem that
any differences arising from such or other causes would
be composed quickly, and for a long time friendly relations
between the two companies continued; in fact some persons
were shareholders in both companies, and all concerned
seemed anxious that any confusion arising from the use
of the word “Schick” by both companies should be -avoid-
ed or reduced to a minimum. It is fairly clear that when
Schick’s dry shaver came on the market neither party
suspected that any confusion could or would arise by
reason of the use of the word ‘“Schick,” each having in
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1939 mind no doubt the dissimilarity between the two articles

Ayt

Macazine In question. It was not till June, 1937, that a definite
RurmatNG hreach occurred and then Schick Dry Shaver Inc. was
?TSA;:A:: advised that its use of the word “ Schick” was a direct
».  infringement of the Razor Company’s trade mark, and
s ScEICR  that it would take such steps as were deemed necessary
HAVER Lo, o s T .
— _ to protect its rights under such mark, culminating in this
MacleanJ. ,.t50n in Canada, and, I understand, a corresponding action
in the United States. These observations have reference
largely to the situation as it developed in the United
States, and that, for our purposes here, reflects the Cana-
dian situation, and any particular facts distinguishing the

one from the other I need not pause to relate.

Closely related to what I have just stated is some docu-
mentary evidence which might be referred to here even
though this might more appropriately be done elsewhere.
In a letter from the solicitor of the Razor Company to
the solicitor of Schick, while the question of ‘‘confusion ”
was more or less active, it was stated that the use of the
name Schick by the Razor Company was on the solicita-
tion and with the approval of Schick. It was with his
approval certainly, but whether it was on his solicitation is
apparently in dispute. There is in evidence a letter from
Schick to the solicitor of the Razor Company which might
be quoted because it, in my opinion, affords an accurate
explanation of what occurred, in connection with the dry
shaver at least. This letter is dated February 5, 1932, and
apparently was occasioned by some opposition on the part
of the Razor Company to the registration in the United
States of some mark which Schick had applied for, pre-
sumably in connection with his dry shaver, and in it Schick
gives his view of the cause of any confusion that had
arisen, and he explains why, in the licensing agreement,
he required the use of the name Schick in connection with
the licence to manufacture and sell his dry shaver. The
letter reads as follows:

While you state that confusion in the trade has become very
evident and is constantly increasing because of the use of the name
Schick by the Magazine Repeating Razor Company and by Schick Dry
Shaver, Inc., this is not very apparent to us, at least not to cause
any practical difficulty. Whatever confusion there may be is due to
the fact that the Magazine Company had the right to manufacture the
dry shaver for a period of one year, during which time articles appeared
in various publications that the company planned to market an electric
shaver. As time goes on however, I believe it will become more evident
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that the dry shaver will be associated only with Schick Dry Shaver,
Inc. As a matter of fact, in our national advertising we are specifically
calling attention that the shaver has no connection with the Magazine
Company.

The use of the name Schick by the Razor Company was not of my
solicitation, but rather on the earnest solicitation of the Company for a
period of three or more months, and my aversion to its use was only
finally overcome by representation that the name would lend a personal
story for advertising purposes.

My intention from the outset, upon taking over the development
and manufacture of the dry shaver, was to associate my name with the
product, and we intend to continue such use of it. In contracting with
the Magazine Company I was especially solicitous in being assured, as
you may recall, that the use of the name Schick went with the right
to sell and manufacture the dry shaver. This was done. While docu-
mentary evidence can therefore be presented to the patent office for
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the registration of the trade mark to Schick Dry Shaver, Inc, I never-

theless asked Mr. Summer to ask the Magazine Company to consent to
this registration, in order to expedite matters and make it unnecessary
to send an attorney to Washington. I sincerely hope that upon further

consideration, you will advise the Magazine Company to grant such
consent.

Earlier I made an extended reference to the several
agreements because, in my opinion, they, in themselves,
furnish a ground upon which this case may be disposed
of, though there are other grounds to be considered. Now
what emerges from these agreements? It is perfectly
clear that throughout the parties concerned were in agree-
ment that a distinction was to be drawn between the
Schick “safety razor ” and the Schick “ shaving machine,”
between a safety razor and an electrically operated dry
shaver, that the one did not comprise or mean the other,
and consequently they were the subject of separate agree-
ments. It was agreed that the expression “Schick’s Dry
Shaver ” was used to designate shaving machines. The
licensing agreement makes it clear that a “shaving
machine,” in the minds of both parties, had reference
to Schick’s dry shaver. Schick authorized the use of his
name in connection with the safety razors and blades, and
the 1927 agreement states that the name “ may be marked
or associated with the name of ‘Schick’” It is not
lightly to be assumed that Schick, in 1927, contemplated
anything else than that the Razor Company might mark
its safety razors and blades, and nothing else, with his
name. It is hardly believable that he then intended to
surrender the use of his name as a mark, for his dry
shaver, when he had fully developed it, and if it came
upon the market. It is impossible to read into the 1927



118

1939
Aot
MAGAZINE
REePEATING
Razor Co.
or CANADA
Lp. ET AL.
V.
ScHICK

Sm=aver Lirp.

Maclean J.

EXCHEQUER COURT OF CANADA (1939

agreement anything more than that the Razor Company
was to have the right to use the name of Schick in con-
nection with the safety razors and blades covered by the
Schick patents and patent applications referred to in that
agreement, and so long as the Razor Company made and
sold the same under the terms of that agreement. How-
ever, the Razor Company later acquired outright Schick’s
patents and patent applications covering such safety
razors and blades, and the right to use the name “Schick”
thereon is no longer in question, and in fact that right
is conceded by the defendant.

When it came to the licensing of Schick’s patented dry
shaver in 1929, Schick granted a licence to the Razor Com-
pany to manufacture and sell that invention on the con-
dition that it be marked with his name, a proper precaution
for a licensor to take in many instances. The compulsory

_use of the name “ Schick ”’ in connection with dry shavers

was & condition imposed by Schick, and the acceptance
of that condition was an admission, and virtually an agree-
ment, that Schick had a right to use his own name, on his
dry shaver, if he so chose to do. If the licence were

" terminated by the licensee, as it was, the Razor Company

agreed to surrender back to Schick any rights it acquired
under the licence, and this it did. Now if the owner of
a patent licenses another to make his invention, and re-
quires as a term of the licence that the inventor’s name
be marked on the article invented, and which condition
the licensee accepts, and the licensee later terminates the
licence and surrenders back to the licensor all rights ac-
quired under the licence, surely the licensor is free to
make and sell his invention, with his name marked there-
on. How could it be said that the licensor, in that state
of facts, would be infringing any mark of the licensee?

I think the agreements are to be construed as meaning
that Schick gave the Razor Company the right to use
his name only in connection with the safety razors and
blades covered by the agreement of 1927, and that he
licensed the Razor Company to manufacture and sell his
dry shaver upon terms, one of which was that the dry
shaver should carry the mark of his name, so long as the
same was manufactured and sold by that licensee. But
the licence was terminated by the Razor Company, and
accordingly its obligation or right to use the name of
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Schick in connection with shaving machines concurrently
terminated, and the licensor’s right to use his own name
thereon was restored to him. The Razor Company had
not, in my opinion, the right to register, or maintain on
the register, the trade mark “ Schick ” in connection with
“shaving machinery.”

Further, it is the contention of the defendant that the
plamtlﬁs, for several years, had knowledge of Schick’s
use of his name as a mark for his dry shaver, and that
this affords a defence to this action because it constitutes
acquiescence in the infringement, if any. From the date
of the termination of the licensing agreement, July 1, 1930,
and for a period of six or seven years thereafter, the
plaintiffs were aware that the Schick dry shaver was
being manufactured, sold and advertised, by some author-
ized company or companies, in Canada and the United
States, under the name of Schick Dry Shaver or Schick
Shaver, without seriously asserting infringement. This
conduet is the more fatal because in all that time the
word “ Schick ” was registered in Canada, as a trade mark
in connection with “shaving machinery,” and yet the
plaintiffs stood by and permitted Schick, or the corpora-
tions which he controlled, to build up an extensive business
in the manufacture and sale of the Schick dry shavers,
which involved very substantial capital expenditures. In
all the circumstances here I do not think the plaintiffs
should be permitted to stand by and allow Schick to put
his article on the market, under his own mame, in a large
way, at great expense, and to acquire a wide reputation
for his dry shaver, and now come in and successfully assert
infringement, and restrain the defendant from using the
word mark ““Schick” on its dry shavers, or as part of
its corporate name. I doubt if the plaintiffs seriously
considered, for several years at least, that Schick, or any
one of his companies, was infringing their trade mark.
The idea of infringement probably had its birth in other
causes. This acquiescence in itself is, T think, a complete
defence to this action, and this, together with the agree-
ments, seem t0 me to make an unanswerable defence for
the defendant company. I do not think it necessary in
this case to refer to any authorities relating to the doc-
trine of estoppel.
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Moreover, I doubt if it has been established that the
mark “ Schlck ” ig liable to cause confusion, in the legal
sense, as between the goods of the defendant and those
of the plaintiffs. There is no evidence of any one selling
or buying the goods of one as that of the other, and there
is no evidence of deception or unfair dealing in this con-
nection, on the part of any person. It is difficult to under-
stand how any person could be so deceived as to purchase
or accept Schick’s dry shaver if intending to purchase a
Schick safety razor. ‘Their appearance, cost and mode of
operation, are so in contrast that I cannot think it possible
that one of the parties here would lose sales at the expense.
of the other. There may have been caused inconvenience
and annoyance, and conceivably momentary confusion; but
this would be a consequence of the agreement and under-
standing of the parties that each might use the word
‘“ Schick,” and they will have to put up with what ensues
from the use of the word “ Schick ” by each of them. If
any confusion is liable to occur it will have been brought
about by the action of the parties themselves, and, in
my opinion, the complainants here must accept whatever
inconvenience or confusion emerges from & situation which
they assisted in creating.

My conclusion is, therefore, that the action of the plain- -
tiffs must be dismissed, and that the registered trade mark
of the first named plaintiff should be amended by striking
out from the registration any words having reference to
“ shaving machines,” as claimed by the defendant. I am
in doubt as to whether I have power to direct that the
defendant’s mark be modified, because it is not a registered
mark. While I am of the opinion that there is no infringe-
ment here, yet I think that the defendant’s mark as now
used, should be altered in some way. As I am in doubt
as to my power to make any direction in this connection
I reserve any definite expression of opinion upon the
matter until the settlement of the minutes of judgment,
when I shall hear counsel upon the point. If, after hear-
ing counsel, I conclude that I have power to make any
direction in the matter I shall do so, and this will be
notice to counsel of my intention so to act.

Subject to what I have just said the action is dismissed
and with costs to the defendant.

Judgment accordingly.
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BETWEEN
. SMIT & SONS INC ............... PLAINTIFF;
AND ‘
RICHARD- S. McCLINTOCK........... DEFENDANT.

Patent—Infringement—Subject-matter—Equivalency—Invention.

Defendant’s - patent, no. 368,042, relates to a Method and Mold for
getting diamond-cutters in core bits, tools and devices as in rotary
drill-bits for earth boring.

Plaintiff is engaged in the business of selling diamonds for industrial pur-
poses, and in connection therewith manufactures a machine for cast-
ing diamond core bits.

Plaintiff seeks a declaration that the machine, manufactured by it, and
the sale and use thereof in Canada, do not constitute an infringe-
ment of defendant’s patent. The validity of defendant’s patent is
not questioned.

The Court found that the structure of the plaintiff and that of the
defendant perform the same functions and are governed by substan-
tially the same structural law; that that of the plaintiff is a mere
equivalent and did not require an inventive step.

Held: That the plaintiff has taken the substance of defendant’s inven-
tion and any difference in the arrangement of parts, the material
employed, or the order of the different steps in the manufacture,
are diversities of form and not diversities of substance,

2. That the taking of two steps to accomplish what patentee does in
one step doe¢ not void an invention, unless the former represents
an entirely differens conception of means and method for securing
the same end. .

ACTION by plaintifis seeking a declaration that a
machine manufactured and sold by it does not infringe

defendant’s Canadian Patent no. 368,042.

The action was tried before the Honourable Mr. Justice

Maclean,; President of the Court, at Ottawa.
R. 8. Smart, K.C. for plaintiff. ‘
E. G. Gowling and J. C. Osborne for defendant.

The facts and questions of law raised are stated in the
reasons for judgment.

Ture PrESIDENT, now (February 25, 1939) delivered the
following judgment:

The defendant is the owner of Letters Patent no. 368,042,
granted in August, 1937, on the application of one Richard
S. McClintock, and which relates to a Method and Mold
for setting diamond-cutters in core bits, tools and devices,
as for instance in rotary drill-bits for earth boring. A core
bit is a hollow cylindrical boring bit for eutting out a core
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and in connection therewith manufactures a machine for
casting diamond core bits. The plaintiff alleges that it has
Imported into Canada certain of its machines, and it wishes
to import others for sale to diamond drill contractors who
may wish to use the same for the purpose of setting
diamonds in the core bits of diamond drills, and this action
is brought for the purpose of securing a declaration that
the plaintiff’s machine, and its sale and use in Canada,
does not constitute an infringement of the defendant’s
patent. The wvalidity of the defendant’s patent is not
attacked.

The defendant pleads that the plaintiff’s machine, and its
use in the manner described in an exhibit accompanying
the plaintiff’s statement of claim, would constitute an in-
fringement of claims 1 and 4 of his patent. Claims 1 and

4 are as follows:

(1) The method of setting diamonds in a molded casting which con-
sists in seating the diamonds to be set in a pattern holder, supporting the
diamond holder in the mold and applying suction of air to the diamonds
while in their seats before and during the process of molding the casting.

(4) The method of setting diamonds in a tool which consists in seating
the diamonds in a mold, applying air suection to the diamonds to hold
them in situ, and pouring molten metal in the mold to envelop portions
of the diamonds.

Three paragraphs of the specification of the defendant’s
patent will reveal in broad terms the invention that is there
claimed and its object. They are the following:

My present invention relates to an improved METHOD AND MOLD
FOR SETTING DIAMONDS which while applicable for use in a variety
of industries, is especially designed for setting diamond-eutters in tools
and deviees, as for instance in rotary drill-bits for earth .boring. Here-
tofore the common practice for setting diamonds, as cutters in industrial
tools, has centred around the comparatively difficult, tedious, and therefore
extremely expensive methad of first drilling depressions in the face of the
tool and then setting diamonds in the depressions and forming facets from
the surrounding material by means of punches and mauls, to retain the
diamonds. This old method of hand setting permits the selection of desired
faces to be exposed, after the diamonds are set, but it is expensive and
inefficient and necessitates the use of comparatively large and more expen-
give stones.

Various other methods bave been employed for setting the diamonds
in the tools, which use plastics for temporarily holding the diamonds in
proper position in a mold, and then, through the application of heat and
pressure upon a powdered metal confined within the limits of the mold,
a cutting tool is produced. An obvious disadvantage of this method is
that the diamonds are not firmly held in their seats, and therefore a high
percentage in loss of diamonds occurs when the -bit is used.
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In carrying out my invention, I employ a pattern-holder for the
diamonds in which they are initially seated, and after the pattern-holder
has been located in the mold, I utilize a vacuum chamber in the mold
and air-suction to retain the diamonds in their respective seats in the
holder during the process of arranging the diamonds in the best chosen
pattern and during the pouring of the molten metal for the formation of
the tool. In this manner the diamonds are retained in their proper
positions against dislodgment during arranging period and against “float-

: L2

ing” and they are set with accuracy and firmly retained against loss
during subsequent use.

MecClintock’s “Method and Mold” for setting diamond-
cutters in a drilling tool I shall now attempt to describe
briefly, but avoiding reference so far as possible to the
combinations and arrangements of parts of the structure
which he describes in his specification, and which are
exemplified in the accompanying drawings. He starts with
what he calls a pattern plate, a mica disk with a round
central aperture, in which a predetermined number of small
holes have been made, around the circumference and in-
wards towards the central aperture. Diamonds are manu-
ally placed in these holes, and they protrude slightly through
the mica on the other side, and that side eventually becomes
the cutting end of the core bit. The pattern plate is then
set on top of a perforated die plate which is located in the
bottom of the mold in which the core bit is to be cast, and
below which is a vacuum chamber. Air-suction is then
applied upon the diamonds in the pattern plate through the
vacuum chamber and the perforated die plate, which air-
suction holds the diamonds in their respective seats in the
pattern plate, and avoids what is called “ floating ”’ during
the operation of pouring the molten metal into the mold
and around the diamonds, in casting the core bit or cutting
tool. The molten metal is poured into the mold from a
vertical chamber above the pattern plate, and by gravity
it falls around and over the pattern plate, enveloping a
portion of the diamonds which become embedded in the
metal; the remaining portion of the diamonds which pro-
trude therefrom forms the cutting end of the tool. When
sufficient of the molten metal has reached the diamonds to
hold them in place the air-suction is discontinued, and
when the required amount of metal has flown down to
form the desired length of the core bit the same is then
completed, except for some machining operations which
need not be explained. The mica disappears owing to the
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J.K.8mir& cation of air-suction, for the purpose of retaining the

Soxns Inc.

v,
RicHarp B.

McCrin-
TOCK.

Maclean J.

diamonds in place in the pattern plate until the molten
metal effectively holds the diamonds in place, is the sub-
stance of the invention of McClintock. And he does this
in the one combination or arrangement of parts which con-
stitute his complete mechanism. _
The plaintiff’s machine, which I shall endeavour to de-
scribe, is primarily designed for the casting of diamond
core bits, that is to say, core bits in which the cutting stones
or commercial diamonds are embedded in a cast metal
matrix. The plaintiff divides its operation of casting
diamond core bits into two separate steps. In the first
step it employs what is called a “suction cup,” in prin-
ciple the same as the vacuum chamber and air-suction
means found in McClintock; they may be regarded as being
one and the same thing, designed and intended for the same
purpose, namely, the temporary retention of the diamonds
by air-suction in the holes wherein they were placed. On
the top of this suction cup is placed a die plate having,
as in McClintock, many small perforations wherein are
placed the diamonds. The diamonds being in place the air-
suction means is called into play to hold the diamonds in
place in the die plate. In the meanwhile a thin coating of
some adhesive material, such as collodion, is sprayed over
the die plate and diamonds to hold the latter in place, and
after the adhesive has firmly set the air-suction is dis-
continued. We now have the diamonds fixed in the die
plate, with the danger of * floating” probably eliminated,
when the casting of the core bit takes place. The die plate
is then removed and located in the outer end of a mold
cavity in the casting apparatus or machine, and then the
second step or operation, the casting of molten metal info
the mold to form the core bit and envelop portions of the
diamonds, is commenced. The molten metal is poured into
a pouring tube, and, by a centrifugal force caused by the
rotation of a turn-table on which the pouring tube is
attached, is forced around and against the die plate holding
the diamonds, and when that operation is fully completed
we have in the rough a core bit with the diamonds partially
embedded therein; some machine work must be done upon
the core bit, but it is not necessary to describe that. The
heat of the molten metal burns up the adhesive that tem-
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porarily kept the diamonds in place, and passes off in the 1939
form of a gas. J.K.SmMT&

It will thus be seen that the plaintiff places its diamonds S"Ns Inc.
in a die plate, and retains them in place by air-suction until Rrceim .
the adhesive has set and the diamonds are fixed securely SECLKIN'
in the die plate, after which the air-suction is discontinued.
The die plate is then removed and located in the outer end
of a mold in the casting mechanism, and the casting of the
core bit is begun. The plaintiff injects the molten metal
into the mold, by a centrifugal force, whereas MecClintock
allows the metal to flow vertically by gravity into the mold.
The fact that in the plaintiff’s casting ar